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Friday, 25 November 2011 

The PRESIDENT (Senator the Hon. 

John Hogg) took the chair at 09:30, read 

prayers and made an acknowledgement of 

country. 

COMMITTEES  

Economics Legislation Committee 

Meeting 

Senator McEWEN:  by leaveðAt the 

request of the Chair of the Economics 

Legislation Committee, Senator Bishop, I 

seek leave to move a motion to enable the 

committee to meet during the sitting of the 

Senate today. 

Leave granted. 

Senator McEWEN:   I move: 

That the Economics Legislation Committee be 

authorised to hold a private meeting otherwise 

than in accordance with standing order 33(1) 

during the sitting of the Senate today, from 10.30 

am. 

Question agreed to.  

BUSINESS 

Leave of Absence 

Senator McEWEN:  by leaveðI move: 

That leave of absence be granted to Senators 

Carr, Farrell and Wong today, on account of 

ministerial duties. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT:  The 

question is that that motion be agreed to. 

Senator Bob Brown:  Mr Deputy 

President, I ask if the senator who has moved 

this motion would go beyond just saying 

'ministerial duties'. This is a sitting of the 

Senate. We have important matters before 

us. It is about to be followed by a motion 

requesting leave of absence for an equal 

number of members of the opposition. I 

believe the Senate is owed an explanation 

that is explicit about the need to put the 

Senate sitting second to the activities of the 

seven senators we are about to be asked to 

give leave to. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT:   Senator 

Brown, there is a motion before the chair. 

The Senate will decide. The question is that 

that motion moved by Senator McEwen be 

agreed to. 

Senator Ian Macdonald:  On a point of 

order, Mr Deputy President: is there no 

opportunity to discuss this motion? 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT:  No. The 

motion has been taken as formal. Permission 

was given by the Senate for the motion to be 

taken as formal. I have now put the motion. 

So you are debating the point but there is no 

further discussion. 

Question agreed to. 

Leave of Absence 

Senator KROGER:  by leaveðI move: 

That leave of absence be granted to the 

following senators: 

(a) Senator Cormann for today, on account of 

parliamentary business; 

(b) Senator Payne for today, for personal 

reasons; and 

(c) Senator Heffernan for today, for personal 

reasons. 

Senator BOB BROWN (Tasmaniað

Leader of the Australian Greens) (09:34):  

We have got a request for Senator Cormann 

to be absent from this sitting of the Senate, 

for parliamentaryð 

Senator Ian Macdonald:  Mr Deputy 

President, on a point of orderð 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT:  Just a 

moment, Senator Macdonald. Do you have a 

point of order, Senator Brown? 

Senator BOB BROWN:  No, I am 

speaking to that motion. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT:  You are 

speaking to the motion? 
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Senator BOB BROWN:  I am; that is 

correct. 

Senator Ian Macdonald:  Mr Deputy 

President, on a point of order: leave was 

granted for it to be a formal motion. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT:  We are 

not in formal business but leave was granted 

for the motion to be moved. Senator Brown 

is now debating the motion. Is that correct, 

Senator Brown? 

Senator BOB BROWN:  Yes, that is 

right. 

Senator Ian Macdonald:  On a point of 

order, Mr Deputy President: it is the exact 

point I made in relation to the previous 

motion, and I was told that it was a formal 

motion, that leave had been given to deal 

with it as a formal motion. I was told I could 

not speak on it. Now we are having the exact 

same motion with a different ruling. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT:  You are 

correct, Senator Macdonald, and it is my 

error for calling that incorrectly to you in the 

first instance. However, it has been the 

tradition of the Senate that when these 

motions are moved they are treated as formal 

motions even though we are not in formal 

business. Leave was sought for a motion to 

be moved, and that is how they have 

normally been dealt with. If Senator Brown 

now wishes to debate the motion, as will be 

your entitlement, he can do so. I have called 

Senator Brown. He has the call. 

Senator BOB BROWN:  Thank you, Mr 

Deputy President. I am pleased to be making 

a precedent here. 

Senator Ian Macdonald:  You've made a 

lot of precedents, Bobð1.6 million of them. 

Senator BOB BROWN:  Yes, I have. 

What we have is seven senators from the 

major parties missing from a Senate sitting 

which is to deal with important mattersð 

Opposition senators interjectingð 

Senator BOB BROWN:  yes, six, as 

somebody has dropped off the listðwithout 

due explanation except it is on parliamentary 

business, personal business or ministerial 

business. 

Honourable senators interjectingð 

Senator Abetz:  He's pre-prepared it and 

he's adjusting his speech to what's actually 

occurred. 

Senator BOB BROWN:  Senator Abetz 

objects, but he has got an opportunity to 

speak here. I think it is more than a courtesy. 

It is a matter of public interest as to why six 

or seven senators from the major parties 

should be missing from this last day of 

sitting of the Senate. They should be here 

unless there is some cogent reasonð 

Senator Fifield:  On a point of order, Mr 

Deputy President, I think that Senator Brown 

is very close to misleading the Senate. This 

is not the last day of the sitting of the Senate. 

The last scheduled sitting day of the Senate 

is Wednesday next week. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT:  There is 

no point of order. 

Senator BOB BROWN:  There is no 

point of order. I can see that Senator Abetz 

has gone Dickensian and I suppose that suits 

him. I am making a very logical and reason-

able point here on behalf of the voters of 

Australia and the importance of the parlia-

ment and, not least, the importance of the 

sittings of the Senate. There is large-scale 

absenteeism of frontbenchers of both sides 

showing up here. This sitting is not sudden; 

we have all known about it for quite some 

time. The voters of Australia deserve to have 

a better explanation. 

Of course, if there is a family illness or a 

major occasion which requires a senator to 

be absent, or a ministerial requirement which 

is beyond that of the requirement for a 

senator to be present in the chamber, or if 
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there is a parliamentary duty which is more 

important than the sitting of the Senate, then 

let us hear what it is.  

Of course Senator Abetz would call this a 

stunt, but I am serious about it and I think the 

Senate is owed a better explanation than a 

one-word adjective to say why a senator is 

away. It is a legion of absenteeism on the last 

day of the sitting of the Senate and the big 

parties should do better than that. 

Senator ABETZ (TasmaniaðLeader of 

the Opposition in the Senate) (09:39):  The 

duplicity dripping out of that Pecksniffian 

pocket of the Senate is just sickening. Here 

we have the Australian Greens combining in 

their alliance with the ALP to shut down this 

parliament three days early. Three days early 

they have combined with the ALP to 

guillotine through 20 bills by the end of the 

day without a single word having been 

spoken on those bills. And the reason for the 

guillotine, the reason for this abuse of 

parliamentary process and the abrogation of 

parliamentary duty by Senator Brown, the 

Australian Greens and the ALP, is that they 

do not want to sit the extra three days that 

have been on the parliamentary calendar 

since day one. Why is that? It is because 

Senator Brown and Senator Milne want to 

scuttle out of this place to go to Durban. 

They are the absentees, and what they are 

now putting up before this place is a ruse to 

suggest that somehow there are absentees 

from both sides to cover up for the fact that 

they have deliberately forced the government 

not to sit next week for those three days so 

that they can scuttle off to Durban and be 

absenteesðthe whole lot of themðfor a full 

three days! 

It has been accepted practiceðand I will 

not delay the Senate much longerðthat 

people are granted leave of absence in 

circumstances where the whips believe it 

appropriate and in circumstances where we 

do not seek to inquire into each other's 

business. 

Senator Bob Brown:  You don't inquire 

into ministerial or parliamentary business? 

Senator ABETZ:  Senator Brown 

foolishly interjects, and of course whenever 

anybody interjects on Senator Brown, what 

does he do? He puts out his hands, Messiah-

like, and says, 'Chair, will you protect me 

from these interjections?' This is the sort of 

Pecksniffian attitude we get from Senator 

Brown day after day after day in this place, 

and we are getting sick and tired of it. 

It is the accepted practice in this place that 

we do not have to divulge matters that may 

be of a personal nature or, indeed, the nature 

of ministerial business. Much as we on the 

opposition would like to know the detail of 

it, we believe that it is inappropriate to make 

those sorts of inquiries of each other. If the 

Greens were ever to be in a position to 

require leave of absenceðand I am sure that 

it has occurred in the pastðwe do not go 

inquiring into that sort of detail. 

But the real reason that Senator Brown is 

now trying to make an issue out of this is 

that he knows that later on today he will be 

voting with the ALP to give himself and the 

Australian Greens not just one day's leave of 

absence, but the whole nine Greens will get 

leave of absence for a full three days. It was 

a good try, Senator Brown, but we have seen 

through the ruse, and now let us get on with 

the business of the Senate. 

Senator LUDWIG (Queenslandð

Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and 

Forestry, Manager of Government Business 

in the Senate and Minister Assisting the 

Attorney-General on Queensland Floods 

Recovery) (09:43):  I did not want to delay 

the opportunity for the opposition to be able 

to debate bills later on this morning. I just 

want to inject a little sense in this debate. 

These are ordinary notices of motions that go 
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through to give senators leave for both 

personal reasons and parliamentary business. 

They are generally not debated. Why? 

Everyone from the opposition, the 

government and the cross-benchers will at 

some point seek the same result; they will 

ask for leave of parliament for private or 

personal business or for parliamentary 

business and it will be granted without 

debate. We all know in this place that there 

are reasons for people to undertake that and 

it is not undertaken lightly. People do have to 

convince their own side that they do have 

work that will take them away. Leave of 

absence is certainly not handed out easily. 

From my perspective, I do not allow senators 

or the whip to go easily out of this place. 

This is where they should be, doing their 

business. However, there are circumstances 

that will warrant that. 

I am not about to set any precedent here. I 

think we should be very careful about that 

because we will not be able to live easily 

with the precedent we set. With those short 

words I would encourage people to draw a 

breath and realise that this is an ordinary 

issue that occurs on many days that the 

Senate sits. 

Senator IAN MACDONALD  
(Queensland) (09:45):  Regrettably, we have 

already passed without discussion the motion 

giving leave to the Leader of the 

Government in the Senateð 

Senator Sherry:  He has not been given 

leave; it was the deputy, not the leader. 

Senator McEwen interjectingð 

Senator IAN MACDONALD:   I can 

only go by the Order of Business. You tell 

me that Senator Evans is here. Therefore we 

have Senator Carr, a very senior minister; 

Senator Wong, a very senior minister; and 

Senator Farrell, who is no doubt somewhere 

organising another leadership coup in the 

Labor Party. Three very senior members of 

the government choose to absent themselves 

on the last day of sittingðI beg my own 

pardon, it is not the last day of sitting. The 

last day of sitting is next Wednesday. 

I want the people of Australia who are 

listening to this debate to understand that for 

almost nine months the Senate has agreed to 

sit next Monday, Tuesday and Wednesday. 

Were we to do that, we would not have 

needed to guillotine through some 20 bills 

without a word being spoken on themðnot a 

word in favour of them nor a word opposed 

to them. I think the people of Australia, and 

there are many who do listen to these 

debates, need to understand that the Greens 

and the Labor Party combined to guillotine 

through in excess of a dozen bills without a 

word being spoken on them. They also 

guillotined through perhaps the most 

complex parcel of bills that this parliament 

has seen in the last decade; they were the 

carbon tax bills, the bills based upon a 

promise by the Prime Minister that she 

would never introduce a carbon tax. She then 

introduced a carbon tax with 18 complex 

bills, which were guillotined through this 

chamber without proper debate. And we are 

already seeing that those bills are suffering 

because they were not subject to parlia-

mentary scrutiny. We are already finding, by 

reports from around the globe, that these 

pieces of legislation on the carbon tax have 

suffered because they were not properly 

considered in this chamber. The whole 

carbon tax issue will become a farce at 

Durban next week when the United States, 

China, Japan, Korea, Russia and India 

indicate that they are not going to have a 

$23-a-tonne tax on their particular emissions 

of carbon dioxide. 

I am very angry about the guillotiningð

about the dealing of these bills without any 

discussion whatsoever, and I think the people 

of Australia expect better than that of this 

parliament, and particularly the Senate, 
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which has a reputation for scrutiny. We have 

a very extensive committee system, and the 

people like that because they understand that 

the Senate does expose difficulties with 

government legislation. 

We have three senior ministers leaving 

this parliament four days before the 

parliamentary year concludes. The Labor 

Party stands condemned and the Greens 

political party, which have made a virtue 

over decades of allowing parliamentary 

scrutiny, of allowing people to have their 

say, even if they disagree with them, have 

joined with the Labor Party in curtailing 

debate on important bills, and particularly 

the carbon tax bills. It is outrageous that 

ministers should be given leave four days 

before the parliamentary year concludes. If 

Senator Abetz has suggestedðI am not 

aware of this; I do not think I have seen it on 

the Order of Businessðthe Greens political 

party are going to agree to the Senate rising 

today so that they can go to Durban, then this 

is an absolute disgrace. It should allow 

GetUp! and all of those other fringe groups 

that support the Greens political party to 

understand what a mob of frauds are those 

who occupy the benches of the Greens 

political party. 

Senator Bob Brown:  Mr Deputy 

President, I ask that that unparliamentary 

remark about a group of senators be 

withdrawn. 

Senator IAN MACDONALD:   I 

withdraw. People like GetUp! and those 

other fringe groups that support the Greens, 

people like Mr Graeme Wood, who donated 

$1.6 million to Senator Bob Brown and then 

had Senator Brown asking questions in the 

parliament that would seem, on face value, to 

relate to different benefits toð 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT:  Senator 

Macdonald, could I just draw your attention 

to the question before the chair. 

Senator Bob Brown interjectingð 

Senator IAN MACDONALD:   Yes. It is 

about leave being given to leave this 

parliament four days early. And I know 

Senator Bob Brown does not like this. I hear 

him interjecting. When anyone else interjects 

he is first on his feet. Again, it shows the 

different standards this man has for himself 

as opposed to anyone else. It is okay for him 

to interject, but if anyone else does it, 'Oh, 

please Mr Deputy President, protect me.' But 

he does not mind it himself. If Senator 

Brown is, as Senator Abetz suggests, going 

to join with the Labor Party and shut this 

chamber down three days early so that he 

can go for a jaunt to South Africa then that 

needs to be condemned. I want to say that 

the people who have in the past supported 

the Greens for what they thought was their 

principled approach to parliament should 

now understand that there is nothing 

principled about the Greens political party. 

They will on the one hand rail against leave 

being given to ministers and, on the other 

hand, vote so that this parliament stops three 

days early so they can go on að 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT:  Order! 

Senator Brown, do you have a point of 

order? 

Senator Bob Brown:  With respect to 

part of this rant: I have no plans for a jaunt to 

South Africað 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT:  That is not 

a point of order. 

Senator Bob Brown:  No, but I have 

made the point. 

Senator Sterle:  Well, you're getting 

blamed for itðyou may as well! 

Senator IAN MACDONALD:   I hear 

Senator Sterle interjecting. Senator Sterle, 

you should be out helping Tony Sheldon get 

rid of your leader; you know, the dead corpse 

thatð 
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The DEPUTY PRESIDENT:  Through 

the chair, Senator Macdonald. 

Senator IAN MACDONALD:   It is one 

thing I agree on with Tony Sheldon! I do not 

want to delay the Senate from the debate 

before it, but it is important that the 

thousands of people listening to or watching 

this debate todayð 

Senator Hanson-Young:  No-one is 

listening to you! 

Senator IAN MACDONALD:   Senator 

Hanson-Young, have a look at your emails 

when you get back. You will find thatð 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT:  Order! 

Senator Macdonald, address your remarks 

through the chair. 

Senator IAN MACDONALD:   Thank 

you, Mr Deputy President. Senator Hanson-

Young will find that people do actually take 

an interest in democracyðand, increasingly, 

the emails coming through to me are saying 

how hypocritical the Greens political party 

are. On the one hand, this morning, they 

were railing against leave being given to go 

away and, on the other hand, voting with the 

Australian Labor Party to shut down this 

parliament three days early so that they can 

go on a jaunt to South Africa. I think that is 

hypocrisy in the extreme on the part of the 

Greens political party. Their retribution will 

come at the next election. If they had any 

principles they would vote with the 

opposition to facilitate an early election so 

the people of Australia can have a view on 

the carbon tax bills and on the Labor Party's 

propensity to ram bills through this 

parliament without debate. 

Question agreed to. 

NOTICES 

Presentation 

Senator RHIANNON:  To move: 

That the Senateð 

(a) notes that: 

 (i) 25 November 2011 commemorates the 

United Nations' International Day for the 

Elimination of Violence Against Women ïWhite 

Ribbon Day, 

 (ii) domestic violence occurs in every 

geographic area and in all socio-economic and 

cultural groups in Australia, in particular in 

regional and rural Australia and Indigenous 

communities, 

 (iii) the prevention and elimination of dom-

estic violence is a goal of the Australian Govern-

ment, and yet the Government has failed to fund 

the continuation of the pilot Bsafe program, 

which successfully operated in regional Victoria 

from 2007 to 2010, providing personal safety 

alarms to women and children at risk of domestic 

violence to prevent further violence and enable 

them to remain in their own homes and 

communities, 

 (iv) the cessation of the pilot Bsafe program, 

which was funded through a 3 year $340 000 

federal grant that ended in December 2010, 

caused distress to the women and children and 

their families and friends who had come to rely 

on it, 

 (v) there is an extraordinary level of support 

for the Bsafe program from the beneficiaries, 

community workers, police, women's groups and 

the broader community across the country, 

 (vi) the Bsafe program won the national 

Australian Crime and Violence Prevention Award 

in 2010, 

 (vii) the Bsafe program was extremely cost 

effective, costing approximately $1 000 for the 

two safety alarms, and provided enormous 

benefits in reducing the risk and breaking the 

cycle of domestic violence, giving assurance to 

vulnerable women and children and allowing 

them to return to participating fully in society, as 

detailed in the Bsafe program evaluation report, 

 (viii) in Victoria the community sector is 

ready and eager to expand this potentially life-

saving resource to women across the state, and 

 (ix) one woman who was a recipient of a 

Bsafe alarm asked 'How much does my life cost'; 

and 
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(b) calls on the Government to: 

 (i) urgently fund the continuation of the 

successful pilot Bsafe program in regional 

Victoria to allow women and children continued 

access to the service, and 

 (ii) fund the extension of the Bsafe program 

to other regions in Victoria and into other states. 

Senator BOB BROWN:  To move: 

That the Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries 

and Forestry, on the next day of sitting, report to 

the Senate on the failure of the Prime Minister 

(Ms Gillard) to uphold the Tasmanian Forests 

Intergovernmental Agreement between the 

Commonwealth of Australia and the State of 

Tasmania, in particular clauses 25 to 27 which 

stipulated immediate protection of 430 000 

hectares of high conservation value forests where 

logging, including clear-felling and burning of 

ancient forests and wildlife habitat, is continuing. 

Senator BOB BROWN:  To move: 

That the President of the Senate report to the 

Senate on the next day of sitting on whether the 

Committee of Privileges is endangered with 

politicisation by 'SLAPP' writ style references, 

such as that of Senator Kroger on 22 November 

2011, which was publicised by the Leader of the 

Opposition in the Senate (Senator Abetz) before 

any adjudication was possible. 

Senator BOB BROWN:  To move: 

That the Senateð 

(a) notes the growing support for a sovereign 

wealth fund (SWF); and 

(b) calls on the Government to reconsider a 

SWF for Australia to be funded with the proceeds 

of an expanded mining tax. 

COMMITTEES  

Selection of Bills Committee 

Report 

Senator McEWEN (South Australiað

Government Whip in the Senate) (09:56):   I 

present the 17th report of 2011 of the 

Selection of Bills Committee and I seek 

leave to have the report incorporated in 

Hansard. 

Leave granted. 

The report read as followsð 

SELECTION OF BILLS COMMITTEE  

REPORT NO. 17 OF 2011 

1. The committee met in private session on 

Thursday, 24 November 2011 at 3.32 pm. 

2. The committee resolved to recommendð

Thatð 

(a) the provisions of the Access to Justice 

(Federal Jurisdiction) Amendment Bill 2011 be 

referred immediately to the Legal and 

Constitutional Affairs Legislation Committee for 

inquiry and report by 22 March 2012 (see 

appendix 1 for a statement of reasons for 

referral); 

(b) the provisions of the Corporations 

Amendment (Further Future of Financial Advice 

Measures) Bill 2011 be referred immediately to 

the Economics Legislation Committee for inquiry 

and report by 14 March 2012 (see appendix 2 for 

a statement of reasons for referral); 

(c) the Crimes Act Amendment (Fairness of 

Minors) Bill 2011 be referred immediately to the 

Legal and Constitutional Affairs Legislation 

Committee for inquiry and report by 22 March 

2012 (see appendix 3 for a statement of reasons 

for referral); 

(d) the Fair Work Amendment (Textile, 

Clothing and Footwear Industry) Bill 2011 be 

referred immediately to the Education, 

Employment and Workplace Relations 

Legislation Committee for inquiry and report by 

27 February 2012(see appendix 4 for a statement 

of reasons for referral); 

(e) the provisions of the Illegal Logging 

Prohibition Bill 2011 be referred immediately to 

the Rural Affairs and Transport Legislation 

Committee for inquiry and report by 8 February 

2012 (see appendix 5 for a statement of reasons 

for referral); 

(f) the provisions of the Personally Controlled 

Electronic Health Records Bill 2011 and the 

provisions of the Personally Controlled Electronic 

Health Records (Consequential Amendments) 

Bill 2011 be referred immediately to the 

Community Affairs Legislation Committee for 

inquiry and report by 29 February 2012 (see 
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appendix 6 for a statement of reasons for 

referral); and 

(g) the provisions of the Social Security 

Legislation Amendment Bill 2011, Stronger 

Futures in the Northern Territory Bill 2011 and 

the Stronger Futures in the Northern Territory 

(Consequential and Transitional Provisions) Bill 

2011 be referred immediately to the Community 

Affairs Legislation Committee for inquiry and 

report by 29 February 2012 (see appendices 7 and 

8 for statements of reason for referral). 

3. The committee resolved to recommendð

That the following bills not be referred to 

committees: 

¶ Antarctic Treaty(Environment Protection) 

Amendment Bill 2011 

¶ Australian Research Council Amendment Bill 

2011 

¶ Broadcasting Services Amendment(Regional 

Commercial Radio) Bill 2011 

¶ Crimes Legislation Amendment(Powers and 

Offences) Bill 2011 

¶ Customs Amendment(Anti-dumping 

Improvements) Bill(No. 2) 2011 

¶ Customs Amendment(Reducing Business 

Compliance Burden) Bill 2011 

¶ Electoral and Referendum 

Amendment(Maintaining Address) Bill 2011 

¶ Excise Amendment(Reducing Business 

Compliance Burden) Bill 2011 

¶ Higher Education Support Amendment(VET 

FEE-HELP and Other Measures) Bill 2011 

¶ Insurance Contracts Amendment Bill 2011 

¶ Nuclear Terrorism Legislation Amendment 

Bill 2011 

¶ Road Safety Remuneration Bill 2011 

¶ Road Safety Remuneration(Consequential 

Amendments and Related Provisions) Bill 

2011 

¶ Tax Laws Amendment (2011 Measures No. 9) 

Bill 2011. 

The committee considered the Safety, 

Rehabilitation and Compensation Amendment 

(Fair Protection for Firefighters) Bill 2011 and, 

noting that the bill had passed the Senate on 24 

November 2011, resolved to recommend that the 

bill not be referred to a committee. 

The committee recommends accordingly. 

4. The committee deferred consideration of the 

following bills to its next meeting: 

¶ Australian Broadcasting Corporation 

Amendment (International Broadcasting 

Services) Bill 2011 

¶ National Health Amendment (Fifth 

Community Pharmacy Agreement Initiatives) 

Bill 2011 

¶ Protecting Children from Junk Food 

Advertising (Broadcasting and 

Telecommunications Amendment) Bill 2011 

¶ Public Accounts and Audit Committee 

Amendment (Ombudsman) Bill 2011 

¶ Telecommunications Amendment (Mobile 

Phone Towers) Bill 2011. 

(Anne McEwen) 

Chair  

25 November 2011 

 

Appendix 1 

SELECTION OF BILLS COMMITTEE  

Proposal to refer a bill to a committee 

Name of bill: 

Access to Justice (Federal Jurisdiction) 

Amendment Bill 2011  

Reasons for referral/principal issues for 

consideration: 

¶ Whether costs orders for discovery will 

enhance access to justice and to ensure that 

any potential for abuse is limited; 

¶ Whether further ALRC recommendations on 

discovery are proposed and likely timing; 

¶ Examination of the provisions relating to 

suppression orders to ensure that principles of 

open justice prevail. 

Possible submissions or evidence from: 

Law Council of Australia 

Family Court 

Federal Court 
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Federal Magistrates Courts Attorney-General's 

Department 

Committee to which bill is to be referred: 

Legal and Constitutional Affairs 

Possible hearing date(s): 

-- 

Possible reporting date: 

-- 

(signed) 

Senator Fifield 

Selection of Bills Committee member 

 

APPENDIX 2 

SELECTION OF BILLS COMMITTEE  

Proposal to refer a bill to a committee 

Name of bill: 

Corporations Amendment (Further Future of 

Financial Advice Measures) Bill 2011 

Reasons for referral/principal issues for 

consideration: 

To consider the impact of the proposed 

changes on consumer and financial advisers. 

Possible submissions or evidence from: 

Financial Services Council; Association of 

Superannuation Funds of Australia; Financial 

Planning Association; Association of Financial 

Advisers; Industry Superannuation Network 

Committee to which bill is to be referred: 

Senate Economics Committee 

Possible hearing date(s): 

To be determined by Committee 

Possible reporting date: 

14 March 2012ðthe reporting date set for the 

inquiry into the related Corporations Amendment 

(Future of Financial Advice) Bill 2011. 

(signed) 

Senator Fifield 

Selection of Bills Committee member 

 

APPENDIX 3 

SELECTION OF BILLS COMMITTEE  

Proposal to refer a bill to a committee 

Name of bill:  

Crimes Act Amendment (Fairness to Minors) 

Bill 2011  

Reasons for referral/principal issues for 

consideration: 

To examine at the medical and forensic value 

of wrist and dental x-rays 

To scrutinise the legal aspects and merits of 

placing children in adult prison or remand 

To examine the sequence of events which lead 

to children being charged, or not charged, with 

people smuggling 

To look at evidentiary aspects of age 

determination process for alleged minors charged 

with people smuggling 

Possible submissions or evidence from: 

Victoria Legal Aid 

Alliance of Australian Lawyers 

Australian Bar Association 

Human Rights Commission 

State and Territory Children's' Commissioners 

Indonesian Consulate 

Department of Immigration 

Australian Federal Police 

Commonwealth Department of Public 

Prosecutions 

Royal Australian College of Physicians, or 

Australasian Paediatric Endocrine Group, or 

Australian and New Zealand Society for 

Paediatric Radiology, or Royal Australian and 

New Zealand College of Radiologists 

Committee to which bill is to be referred: 

Legal and Constitutional Affairs Possible 

hearing date(s): February/March 2012 

Possible reporting date:  

22 March 2012 

(signed) 

Senator Siewert 

Whip/Selection of Bills Committee member 
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APPENDIX 4 

SELECTION OF BILLS COMMITTEE  

Proposal to refer a bill to a committee 

Name of bill: 

Fair Work Amendment (Textile, Clothing and 

Footwear Industry) Bill 2011 

Reasons for referral/principal issues for 

consideration: 

To ensure the Bill would achieve the 

objectives of the Bill and has no unintended 

consequences. 

Possible submissions or evidence from: 

Australian Chamber of Commerce and 

Industry Textiles and Footwear Industry 

Association CCI WA 

Committee to which bill is to be referred: 

Senate Education, Employment and 

Workplace Relations Committee Possible hearing 

date(s): 

Possible reporting date: 

March 2012 

(signed) 

Senator Fifield 

Selection of Bills Committee member 

 

APPENDIX 5 

SELECTION OF BILLS COMMITTEE  

Proposal to refer a bill to a committee 

Name of bill: 

Illegal Logging Prohibition Bill 

Reasons for referral/principal issues for 

consideration: 

Consider the Bill against Committee's 

recommendations. Possible submissions or 

evidence from: 

Australian Government Department of 

Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry Australian 

Timber Importers Federation 

Australian Forest Products Association 

Greenpeace 

Uniting Church Social Justice Mission 

Committee to which bill is to be referred: 

Rural Affairs & Transport Legislation 

Committee Possible hearing date(s): 

Possible reporting date: 

8 February 

(signed) 

Senator McEwen 

Whip/Selection of Bills Committee member 

 

APPENDIX 6 

SELECTION OF BILLS COMMITTEE  

Proposal to refer a bill to a committee 

Name of bill: 

¶ Personally Controlled Electronic Health 

Records Bill 2011 

¶ Personally Controlled Electronic Health 

Records(Consequential Amendments) Bill 

2011 

Reasons for referral/principal issues for 

consideration: 

¶ Privacy issues/ Privacy Breaches/ Penalties for 

breaches 

¶ Security of information on the PCEHR 

¶ Questions about the design, functionality, and 

capability of the PCEHR, 

¶ Questions regarding the use of consultants, 

contractors, and tenders let or hired by 

NEHTA in regard to the development of the 

PCEHR 

¶ The level of functionality of the PCEHR at 1 

July 2012 

¶ Questions around the continuation of NEHTA 

after 1 July2012 

¶ The products that NEHTA designed, made, 

tested, certified for use in the PCEHR. 

¶ Any other issues the Committee considers 

appropriate. 

Possible submissions or evidence from: 

¶ Any interested parties 

Committee to which bill is to be referred: 

¶ Senate Community Affairs Committee 

Possible hearing date(s): 
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Possible reporting date: 

¶ 29 February 2012 

(signed) 

Senator Fifield 

Selection of Bills Committee member 

 

APPENDIX 7 

SELECTION OF BILLS COMMITTEE  

Proposal to refer a bill to a committee 

Name of bill: 

Social Security Legislation Amendment Bill 

2011  

Reasons for referral/principal issues for 

consideration: 

Consideration of measures forming part of the 

Stronger Futures in the Northern Territory 

legislation package 

Possible submissions or evidence from: 

 

Committee to which bill is to be referred:  

Senate Community Affairs Committee  

Possible hearing date(s): 

 

Possible reporting date: 

29/2/12 

(signed) 

Senator Fifield 

Selection of Bills Committee member 

 

APPENDIX 8 

SELECTION OF BILLS COMMITTEE  

Proposal to refer a bill to a committee 

Name of bill:  

Stronger Futures in the Northern Territory Bill 

2011 

Stronger Futures in the Northern 

Territory(Consequential and Transitional 

Provisions) Bill 2011 

Reasons for referral/principal issues for 

consideration: 

Effect of measures and implementation plans, 

evidence of community awareness/acceptance. 

Assessment of intended and unintended 

consequences. 

Possible submissions or evidence from: 

Northern Territory Government, FaHCSIA, 

Northern Land Council, Central Land council, NT 

Shire Councils, NT Indigenous Advisory Group, 

Aboriginal Legal Aid, Concerned Australians, 

Stop The Intervention group, affected individuals. 

Committee to which bill is to be referred: 

Community AffairsðLegislation Committee 

Possible hearing date(s): 

TBA 

Possible reporting date: 

29 Feb 2012 

(signed) 

Senator Fifield 

Selection of Bills Committee member 

 

Senator McEWEN:  by leaveðI move: 

That the report be adopted. 

Question agreed to.  

BUSINESS 

Days and Hours of Meeting 

Senator LUDWIG (Queenslandð

Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and 

Forestry, Manager of Government Business 

in the Senate and Minister Assisting the 

Attorney-General on Queensland Floods 

Recovery) (09:57):   I move: 

That the Senate not meet from Monday, 28 

November to Wednesday, 30 November 2011. 

I indicate at the outset that I do not intend to 

speak for very long. We do have bills before 

the parliament and the opposition, the cross-

benchers and the government should be 

given an opportunity to debate them. I 

foreshadowed this motion when I spoke on 

Monday on the motion that established the 
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program of legislation in the Senate for the 

following week. This week included 

extended hours. It is not unusual at the end 

of a sitting period that we have, firstly, 

extended hours to provide an opportunity to 

debate bills, and, secondly, an additional day 

on Friday to allow debate. Of course, today 

is Friday. I remind people of that, because it 

is not a usual day of sitting. The motion does 

remove the final three sitting days previously 

scheduled for the Senate, as with the House, 

where they were scheduled as well. Mr 

Albanese indicated at the time that those 

three days in the House were only 'if 

required'ðand the House, as we know, has 

adjourned to allow members to return to their 

electorates to do their electorate work. 

Senator Abetz interjectingð 

Senator LUDWIG:   There are no 

surprises with this motion; it has been on the 

Notice Paper. I do expect the opposition do 

take the opportunity to express confected 

outrage in relation to this matter; however, I 

do think that they will also want to return to 

their constituencies to do their work, given 

that we have had a long sitting period over 

the last three months. I take this opportunity 

to congratulate the opposition for being part 

of a parliament that, as of this morning, has 

passed 226 bills in 175 packages of 

government legislation. I expect that number 

to be added to before the Senate adjourns for 

the year. Since September last year, under 

the Gillard government, this has been a 

productive parliament, and I anticipate the 

productivity of the 43rd Parliament will 

continue next year. The Senate has made a 

steady progress through legislation this 

week.  

I realise that many senators of the 

opposition have rallied and railed against the 

constraints that have been imposed this week 

under the procedural motion, but it is not 

unusual. When those in opposition were in 

government, they used the same devices; 

they used the same procedural motions. My 

recollection is that I rallied a little less than 

those opposite at this juncture but history 

will show whether I did or did not. In this 

way it does allow the constructive work of 

the Senate to be dealt with this week.  

The opposition have had the opportunity 

to use the time available to them to debate 

the substantive bills. In many instances, they 

chose to debate procedural matters, not 

substantive bills. That was their choice, not 

mine. They were well aware of the extended 

hours for the week, which gave them the 

opportunity to debate the substantive bills 

and to manage their time accordingly. 

However, in many instances, they chose to 

debate procedural motions, as we have seen 

this morning as well. That, of course, then 

detracts from their ability to speak on the 

bills. So, with that, I think in many instances 

the complaints about not being able to debate 

bills are in fact crocodile tears from the 

opposition.  

However, I do not want to take any of the 

time available to the opposition to organise 

their time today to debate the substantive 

bills. With the House now adjourned for the 

2011 parliament, it is time for the Senate to 

also conclude its business. This will allow 

senators to go back to their constituents, 

finalise the year's work and also finalise the 

remaining work of the Senate committees. I 

recommend the motion to the chamber in the 

knowledge thatð 

Senator Ian Macdonald interjectingð 

Senator Bob Brown:  Mr Deputy 

President, I rise on a point of order. Again 

Senator Macdonald has referred to the 

minister as a 'fraud'. I think he should 

withdraw that remark.  

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT:  I did not 

hear the remark.  

Senator Ian Macdonald:  I withdraw.  
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The DEPUTY PRESIDENT:  Thank 

you, Senator Macdonald.   

Senator LUDWIG:   I recommend the 

motion to the chamber in the knowledge that, 

despite how senators might vote, I think they 

will be pleased with the outcome, which 

does allow them to return to their Senate 

work in their home states.  

Senator ABETZ (TasmaniaðLeader of 

the Opposition in the Senate) (10:03):  The 

Green-ALP government is drunk on its own 

arrogance and hubris in closing down this 

parliament three days early. Twenty bills by 

the end of today will have been guillotined 

through this place without one single word 

being allowed to be spoken in relation to 

those bills and not a single word being 

allowed to be spoken in relation to amend-

ments to those bills. The reason is that the 

ALP-Green government alliance is vacating 

three days from the parliamentary schedule. 

When the parliamentary calendar was issued 

at the beginning of this year, it was clearly 

set out that 28, 29 and 30 November would 

be three sitting days. If those three sitting 

days were still available to us, the Green-

ALP alliance would not have needed to have 

done their grubby deal, a terrible deal, which 

abrogates the responsibility of this 

parliament and abuses the parliamentary 

process by forcing through 20 bills, without 

a single word being spoken in relation to 

them.  

Let us be quite clear: the Australian 

Greens have always portrayed themselves as 

the purveyors of political purity, as the sort 

of people who will always stand up for 

freedom of speech, who will always allow 

parliamentary process to be undertaken in a 

proper, transparent manner, and here they are 

as duplicitous as one can get in voting for 20 

bills to be guillotined without a single word 

being spoken on them. I do not know how 

they can look at themselves in the mirror of a 

morning for the duplicity, the hypocrisy and 

the double standard. But of course those of 

us who have observed the Australian Greens 

in particular know that that is their modus 

operandi. If they want to debate a bill then it 

is absolutely essential in the cause of 

democracy that they be given all the time in 

the world to debate it, but if other people 

want to debate a bill then democracy does 

allow it to be guillotined without a single 

word being spoken on that bill. Their double 

standards are now there for all to see.  

But what is worse is that the ALP have 

become complicit in these games, and that is 

why the conservative Labor voters around 

Australia are deserting the Australian Labor 

Party in droves. The Australian Labor Party 

have sold their political soul to the 

Australian Greens. Let us make no mistake: 

why can't we sit for those next three days at 

the beginning of next week? We know why. 

The Greens want to get to Durban, increase 

their carbon dioxide emissions and make 

fools of Australia. But why doesn't the 

Australian Labor Party want to sit? They 

have just had the embarrassment of knifing-

off their own Speaker to replace him with 

somebody else. I simply ask this question of 

the Australian Labor Party and of the 

Australian people: do you honestly believe 

that Mr Slipper is a better choice as Speaker 

than Mr Jenkins?  

Answer that question honestly. Every 

Labor member that I have asked that 

question of and every political commentator 

I have asked that question of have not been 

able to say clearly that Mr Slipper was the 

better choice. So if you cannot come to that 

conclusion, why get rid of Mr Jenkins? Why 

do you want to run away from the parliament 

for parliamentary scrutiny over the demise of 

a Speaker? 

We also know the chances are that 

potentially the Mid-Year Economic and 
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Financial Outlook, known as MYEFO, will 

come out next week. Oh no! The Green-

Labor alliance would not want the 

parliament to be sitting when the Mid-Year 

Economic Financial Outlook comes out, 

because that might allow for some scrutiny. 

Further, the Green-ALP alliance do not want 

the parliament to sit so that there can be 

further exposure of the unravelling of the 

carbon tax. 

Indeed, this running away from the 

parliament has all the hallmarks of the ALP 

Sussex Street tactics. Remember how Ms 

Keneally shut down the New South Wales 

parliament when things got a bit difficult? 

Well, Ms Gillard and the Green-Labor 

alliance are doing exactly the same to this 

place. 

Earlier today we had the Greens seeking 

detailed explanations as to why certain 

people were seeking leave. Can I simply 

remind Senator Brown that in the past he 

himself has moved leave for Senator Siewert 

for personal reasons? 

Senator Fifield:  Shame! 

Senator ABETZ:  Senator Fifield says 

'Shame,' not because Senator Brown moved 

for that but because of the duplicity and 

hypocrisy in his contribution this morning. It 

is similar to his notice of motion in relation 

to a matter going before the Privileges 

Committee, saying that my commentary in 

public about him being referred to the 

Privileges Committee might somehow 

prejudice the matter. Excuse me? Who was 

all over the TV screens, all over the radio 

airwaves and all over the print media when 

the ALP-Greens and a few others joined to 

refer me to the Privileges Committee? None 

other than Senator Brown himself! But, once 

again, it is the double standard that we have 

come to expect from the most duplicitous 

leader of any political party in this country. 

I can understand why Senator Brown 

would want to leave this place early and not 

sit for three days, because his own leadership 

has been surreptitiously undermined day 

after day this weekðthree days in a rowðby 

one of his own. Senator Lee Rhiannon has 

done doorstop after doorstop after doorstop 

this week, complaining about corporate 

donations to political parties and saying how 

that undermines the democratic process at 

the same time as Senator Helen Kroger has 

moved to refer Senator Brown to the 

Privileges Committee about receiving the 

biggest corporate donation in Australian 

political history. So here we have Senator 

Lee Rhiannon in the background, beavering 

away very busily, undermining her own 

leader. 

So Senator Brown thinks, 'How can we 

stop doorstops of a morning?'ðand Senator 

Rhiannon was at it again this morningð'Ah! 

Stop the parliament from sitting, that way we 

stop Senator Rhiannon's doorstops.' So we 

know that the Greens have certain reasons as 

well. 

But I do suggest that the main reason is 

this: the ALP want to run from the parlia-

ment because they do not want scrutiny. That 

is why governments run away from the 

parliament, because they do not want the 

parliamentary process to keep on exposing 

their weaknesses. We have had that on 

display now day after day, week after week, 

month after month with this hopeless Gillard 

Labor-Green governmentðor Gillard-Brown 

government, as I should call it. 

The reason the Greens also want to desert 

the parliament and cut short the 

parliamentary year is so that they can go to 

Durban so that they can, somehow, parade 

Australia on the world stage as the dunces of 

Durban. Why on earth would they want to go 

on the world stage and put up in lights, 

'We're mugging our job market, we're 
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mugging our economy and'ðwhat is 

worseð'we're not going to be doing 

anything for the environment. In fact, we 

will be making things worse.' So the real 

reason is that the Greens want to go to 

Durban and we have this pathetic ALP outfit 

once again selling out to the Greens and 

doing that which they ask for. 

What will be on display at Durban? The 

Australian Greens and the ALP saying, 'How 

smart are we? We have just put in a package 

second to none in the world that will destroy 

the Australian economy.' Of course, the 

example I use is Coogee Chemicals. Coogee 

Chemicals was the promise of 150 jobs, the 

promise of a $1 billion investment and the 

promise of $14 billion in export earnings, to 

be set up in the Prime Minister's own 

electorate to be the biggest methanol plant in 

the Southern Hemisphere. It is now junked to 

go to China. And in China that plant's carbon 

footprint will be four times as big as it would 

have been in a pre-carbon tax Australia. 

Everybody in the world knows that, and 

that is why all the other countries are 

slapping Australia on the back and saying, 

'Good on you, good on youðkeep on with 

it!' I am sure that Canada is there, rooting all 

the way for the Australian carbon tax. I am 

sure Brazil is, I am sure Russia is, I am sure 

India is and I am sure China is. They are all 

slapping the Green-ALP alliance on the back 

and saying, 'Great move! This is world 

leadership at its best.' And then behind their 

hands they whisper to each other and say, 

'Aren't these the dunces of Durban? Why on 

earth would you do that to your own 

economy? Are you going to have a carbon 

tax? Are you going to have a carbon tax this 

big? Of course notðwe wouldn't do 

something that silly. But we will say how 

good Australia is doing it, so they keep on 

with it to give ourselves a market advantage.' 

This carbon tax will be toxically destructive 

of our Australian economy. Senator Ludwig, 

in general terms, just reads out the scripts 

that are provided to him by his staffers in 

these debates. I suggest to him that he 

actually read the script before he comes into 

the chamber to see if there is a break in logic 

in that which is put in front of him, because 

he said to the Senate very generously, very 

graciously, 'I don't want to debate this for 

long because I want to give the opposition 

time to debate issues.' If he is genuine in that 

belief, in that thought of being generous to 

us, wanting to give us time to debate the 

issues of the day, can he explain why this 

motion is designed to take three days away 

from the opposition's time to discuss the 

issues of the day? Do not come in here 

suggesting that somehow the ALP-Greens 

alliance is being generous because the 

minister only spoke for a few minutes in an 

attempt to shut down the parliament three 

days early. It is this sort of behaviour by a 

government drunk on its own arrogance, 

believing its own propaganda, that has made 

them slip so badly in the polls. The 

Australian people see through that nonsense. 

How can any self -respecting individual come 

into this place and say, 'I'll only speak for 

five minutes on this issue so the opposition 

get more time, but in doing so I'm going to 

deny them three days of debate'? The logic is 

not there, nor is the supposed genuineness of 

that which the Manager of Government 

Business tried to sell to the Australian 

people. 

It is a matter of great regret that the ALP-

Greens alliance in this place is combining 

day after day, week after week now, to 

guillotine legislation. They guillotined the 

carbon tax bills through this place, yet we 

now have three extra days at the end of the 

parliamentary sitting. You could make out an 

argument that you needed to have a time 

management process, you needed to 

guillotine certain bills through, because the 

timetable that had been set for the year was 
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about to expire. But we have got three extra 

days that are now being denied to the 

parliament, three days that were set at the 

very beginning of this year for parliamentary 

debate. Why are they being denied to the 

Senate? 

There is no reason, no explanation, that 

the Manager of Government Business wants 

to share with us. It was not out of generosity 

of spirit that he only spoke for five minutes, 

repeating the one line about five or six times 

to make it look as though he was providing 

an explanation. There is no explanation. 

There is no rationale other than that the 

ALP-Greens alliance wants to run from the 

parliament with its tail between its legs after 

the grubby deal of getting the mining tax 

through the House of Representatives with 

the Australian Greens, doing a side deal that 

the Labor caucus knew nothing about and the 

so-called 'Independents' in the House of 

Representatives knew nothing about but, 

lemming like, voted for. They voted for a 

deal of which they knew nothing. Where is 

their self-respect? Where is their personal 

integrity, especially the Independents'? They 

are the ones who are supposed to, as Don 

Chipp famously said, 'keep the bastards 

honest'. Well, excuse me, but how is it 

keeping the government honest when you 

deliberately allow them to do a side deal 

with the most atrocious political party, the 

Australian Greens? The Independents had no 

idea, Labor backbenchers had no idea, but 

lemming like they ran across the chamber to 

vote in favour of the mining tax. 

That was the first grubby deal this week. 

Then we had the grubby deal in relation to 

the Speaker, and that will unravel. One thing 

the Labor Party are good at, I must say, is 

getting the initial good headline on issues. 

But then it all starts unravelling very quickly, 

and I have no doubt that that is what will 

happen in relation to this grubby deal on the 

Speakership. I simply ask the question again: 

is there anybody anywhere in Australia that 

honestly believes that Mr Slipper is a better 

choice than Mr Jenkins as Speaker of the 

House of Representatives? Not a one. Not 

one person has said, 'Yes, he is.' So one 

wonders what was behind that grubby deal. 

Then there is the third, completing the 

trifecta for this week, and that is what we are 

debating nowðthat is, this grubby deal to 

shut down the Senate three days early. 

Senator Ludwig patronisingly told us that 

we could go back to our electorates and do 

the people's work. Well, excuse me; I do not 

know what the ALP do in here, but we in the 

coalitionðand, I am sure, the DLP senator 

and Senator Xenophonðbelieve that we are 

doing the people's work in this place. It is 

quite obvious that Senator Ludwig sees his 

role in this place as doing the ALP's work, as 

opposed to the people's work. Senator 

Ludwig, it might come as news to you, but 

we on the coalition side believe that we are 

actually doing the people's work when we 

are in this chamber, and that is why we 

condemn the ALP-Greens alliance in their 

attempt to close down the parliament three 

days early in circumstances where they have 

deliberately guillotined through, without a 

single word of debate, 20 billsð20 bills. It is 

unparalleled in the history of this parliament 

to so ruthlessly use numbers. 

This is indicative of Ms Gillard and 

Senator Bob Brown being drunk on power, 

without any consideration of what they are 

actually here for. It is not for them to play 

politics. It is not for them to engage in self-

aggrandisement. It is about doing their best 

by the people of Australia. And how can they 

honestly say to the Australian people that, 

this week, they have done their best by 

getting through the sleazy mining tax deal 

without telling anybody but forcing it 

through the House of Representatives, doing 

the sleazy Speaker deal and now doing their 

sleazy deal to cut short the sitting of the 
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Senate? How can they claim that all these 

things are somehow in the best interests of 

the Australian people, who we are sworn to 

serve? 

Senator Brown and Ms Gillard are simply 

using this parliament as a plaything for their 

own personal agendas, often against the 

express wishes of the Australian people and 

often against the express commitment made 

by Ms Gillard to the Australian people. 

Exhibit A in that list is the carbon tax. We as 

a coalition are willing to come back next 

week to serve the interests of the Australian 

people and to ensure that matters are 

properly debated in this Senateðas they 

should beðand the Labor-Green alliance 

stands condemned. (Time expired)  

Senator XENOPHON (South Australia) 

(10:23):  I will make a short contribution to 

this matter of variation to sitting days. It is 

fair to say that we as a chamber have not 

covered ourselves in glory in the last few 

days. I say this without rancour and without 

seeking to make any political points. I 

believe it is completely unsatisfactory that 

we had a situation where many bills went 

through without any debate, without any 

positions being put andðparticularly for 

controversial pieces of legislation such as 

amendments to the Family Law Act, which 

will literally affect hundreds of thousands of 

people in this country in the years to comeð

without a committee stage. There was no 

consideration given to fundamental amend-

ments, no opportunity to ask the government 

key questions about how the new act will 

operate, no opportunity to properly scrutinise 

that piece of legislation and no opportunity 

to deal with a whole range of other 

legislation relating to issues of crime, 

corruption, air cargo, air security and 

pollution of Antarcticaðjust to name a few. 

That is unsatisfactory.  

I would like to foreshadowðand I will 

consult with my colleagues, with the 

government, with the opposition, with the 

Australian Greens and with the DLPða 

reference to the Procedure Committee of the 

Senate so we do not repeat what occurred. 

We are meant to be the house of review. We 

are meant to be the premier legislative body 

in this country when it comes to reviewing 

legislation to ensure there is appropriate 

scrutiny of the laws put up by the executive 

arm of government. We have not done that. 

The fact that the coalition may have 

guillotined debates in previous years when 

they were in government, to me, is not an 

excuse for what has occurred this week. 

Senator Abetz:  We were not as bad! 

Senator XENOPHON:  That may be the 

case. 

Senator Bernardi interjectingð 

Senator XENOPHON:  Helpful as 

always, Senator Bernardi said, 'We were 

ethical guillotiners.' Maybe there is a line 

there about Madam Defarge but I won't go 

there. I am not sure there is such a thing as 

an ethical guillotine. I cannot imagine 

Senator Bernardi knitting while the guillotine 

is being applied.  

What has occurred in the last week is 

completely unsatisfactory. We need to do 

better as a chamber. We owe it to the people 

of Australia. I will be putting a reference to 

the Procedure Committee, but before I do 

that I will consult with my colleagues from 

all sides so that we get this right. Let us not 

repeat the debacle of the last week. I look 

forward to debating some legislation this 

morning and asking a series of questions 

about competition and consumer law. 

Senator FIFIELD  (VictoriaðManager 

of Opposition Business in the Senate) 

(10:26):  Mr Deputy President, I know that 

you are a student of political history and that 

you would have read many of the words of 
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former Prime Minister Paul Keating. Like 

you, I do not agree with much that Paul 

Keating said, but one thing he said time and 

again which I absolutely do agree with is that 

the Australian people expect value from their 

parliament, and the Australian people are 

definitely not getting value from this 

Australian parliament.  

We had the farce during the carbon tax 

debate where the government initially passed 

through this chamber a guillotine, which was 

bad enough. That was outrageous in and of 

itself. Coming on top of the breach of 

promise to the Australian people not to 

introduce a carbon tax it was bad enough, but 

they compounded it by seeking to deny this 

parliament its rights and prerogatives to 

properly debate and examine that legislation. 

So the government put a guillotine in place. 

But then they one-upped themselves. They 

put a gag on a gag by bringing forward the 

date of that guillotine. The Australian public 

did not get value from the Australian Senate 

on that occasion with the carbon tax debate. 

We have seen the same approach taken to 

this sitting week. The legislation which we 

have before us this week, those 33 bills, are 

of a different magnitude in their impact to 

the electorateðto the Australian publicðon 

the economy. They are of a different 

magnitude. In this place, as senators, as 

members of a house of review, we take the 

view that every piece of legislation should 

receive proper scrutiny. Every piece of 

legislation should be subject to the processes 

of inquiry, the processes of examination, that 

this chamber provides. That is regardless of 

whether a particular piece of legislation has 

the support of all senators or is a matter of 

great contention. We have legislation before 

the chamber this week, some of which we 

are in heated agreement about and other 

items which are matters of some controversy. 

Regardless of which of those two categories 

it falls into, each piece of legislation does 

deserve to be properly examined, and we 

have been denied that opportunity. The 

government seeks to further compound that 

by eliminating the three sitting days next 

week, and that is the subject of this particular 

motion.  

I agree with Senator Xenophon in saying 

that this chamber has not covered itself in 

glory in this past week. The situation as the 

guillotine was applied each night this week 

was farcical. There is no other way to 

describe it. If we want an explanation as to 

why the public are from time to time a little 

cynical about politicians, a little cynical 

about the parliamentðand I am a great 

defender of the parliament and of my 

colleagues in this and the other placeðwe 

need look no further than each night of this 

week. We had an incredible situationða 

situation I have not seen in my seven-and-a-

bit years in this placeðwhere senators were 

called to vote upon legislation in a 

circumstance where there had been no 

opportunity for debate, no opportunity for 

speeches on the second reading and no 

opportunity for amendments to be debated. 

There was no opportunity of any sort for the 

legislation to be debated. 

As Senator Abetz said, of the 33 bills that 

were the subject of that guillotine, 20 

proceeded to conclusion without any 

discussion of any sort. When those bills were 

racked up, when they were stacked at the end 

of the day, and all stages of the legislation 

were dealt with one bill after another, with 

no breaks, no discussion and no examination 

in between, it is absolutely no surprise that 

on occasion the government made the wrong 

call as to which way they were voting. It was 

extremely difficult for senators to know what 

the question before the Senate was, what 

matter we were being asked to cast a vote on. 

It was no surprise at all. I hope we never see 

again that farcical situation where senators 

essentially do not know what they are voting 
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on. So, if we want a bit of an insight into 

why the Australian public are a little bit 

cynical from time to time, we need look no 

further than each night of this week. 

The Manager Of Government Business 

referred to the three sitting days scheduled 

for next week as occurring 'if required'. 

Those three days were part of the motion 

which established the sitting schedule for 

this year. I think the House took a different 

view from the Senate. I think they took the 

view that they were not real sitting days and 

would only occur if there was urgent 

business. But in the Senate we did not take 

that view. We took the view that the motion 

that was passed through this chamber was 

what would happenðthat on those days that 

were scheduled we would sit. Senator 

Ludwig, in his contribution, said he did not 

want to speak for long because he did not 

want to take up the opposition's time to 

debate the bills today. The reason we do not 

have time to debate those bills today isð 

The ACTING DEPUTY PRESIDENT 

(Senator Stephens):  That we talked for an 

hour. 

Senator Sherry:  Because you're talking 

too long! 

Senator FIFIELD:   No! You cannot have 

it both ways. You cannot say, 'We're pulling 

three days out of the parliamentary sitting 

schedule next week and we're instituting a 

guillotine each night of this week on 33 bills, 

but the reason you don't have enough time to 

debate is that you're actually debating the 

motion which is seeking to deny sitting 

days.' No, the reason we do not have 

adequate time to debate is that you have 

instituted a guillotine; the reason we do not 

have time to debate is that you are axing 

three sitting days next week. Us being here 

performing the function of seeking to defeat 

a motion which is intended to deny the 

chamber three sitting days next week is not 

the reason we will not have adequate time to 

debate. That is perhaps the most pathetic and 

feeble argument I have heard Senator Sherry 

putðand Senator Ludwig for that matter. Let 

us be clear: we want to defeat this motion. 

We are endeavouring to persuade those 

opposite to defeat this motion. We are 

endeavouring to persuade the Australian 

Greens to defeat this motion. It is this very 

motion which is denying the Senate the 

opportunity to apply appropriate scrutiny to 

bills. The reason we have this truncated 

debate is that we are being squeezed between 

a guillotine and an axe intended to do away 

with the sitting days next week. So Senator 

Sherry and Senator Ludwig, if you are going 

to mount an argument, please do a little 

better than that. It would be appreciated. 

We want the Senate to sit as scheduled 

next week for two reasons. The first reason is 

that this chamber still has legislation to 

debate. If we were sitting for three days next 

week there would be no need for the 

guillotine which is in place this week. We 

are a house of review and we should do our 

job. We should apply scrutiny, we should ask 

the appropriate questions of government 

ministers in the committee stage and we 

should hold the government to account. That 

is the first reason the Senate should still sit 

next week. 

The second reason is that the government 

will be releasing very shortly their Mid-Year 

Economic and Financial Outlook, the 

MYEFO. But this year the MYEFO is in 

effect going to be a minibudget. This 

government has made a lot of its 

commitment to bring the budget back into 

surplus in 2012-13. Well, it was a 

commitment, but it has slipped and slided a 

bit since then. It became an objective, it 

became an aim, it became a hope, it became 

a dream and it became a fantasyðand now it 

has come back to being an objective. I still 
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think it will end up being a fantasy, but we 

will have to wait and see. 

The government have placed great 

emphasis on that commitment to a surplus as 

being the foundation of their economic 

credibility. But the deterioration in the state 

of the budget is not because of revenue 

shortfallsðalthough that is what the 

government always citesðbut because of 

policy decisions by this government. What 

that means is spending; it means decisions 

taken by this government to spend more 

money, more money than they received in 

taxation revenue. That is why the budget is 

going pear-shaped. That is why the MYEFO 

next week is going to be more in the style of 

a minibudget than a mere economic update. 

A minibudget of that significance needs to be 

appropriately examined, and the place for it 

to be appropriately examined is here in the 

Australian Senate and over in the other 

place. The government should do two things. 

Firstly, they should withdraw this motion 

and allow the Senate to sit next week, as 

scheduled, on Monday, Tuesday and 

Wednesday. Secondly, they should recall the 

House of Representatives so that it too can 

examine the MYEFO. There are two reasons 

that the Australian Senate should sit as 

scheduledðto allow it to do its job of 

examining legislation in order that it can do 

its job of being the house of review and to 

allow the House of Representatives to re-

examine the MYEFO. I add a third reason: to 

allow us have the question times which were 

scheduled for next week. Question time in 

this Senate and in the other place is one of 

the great accountability mechanisms of the 

Westminster system. We have a few more 

accountability mechanisms in the Australian 

Senate. We have our estimates committee 

system, which is the envy of parliaments 

around the world and is a robust and 

fantastic accountability mechanism, but the 

centrepiece of government accountability to 

the parliament under the Westminster system 

is question time, and we and the Australian 

public will be denied three question timesð

on Monday, Tuesday and Wednesdayðnext 

week. 

It is not as though this is a particularly 

good government. You might not concede 

that, Madam Acting Deputy President 

Stephens, but I think the majority of the 

Australian public would agree with it. 

Governments which are this bad need 

scrutiny. They need the scrutiny of question 

time and the opportunity it affords to shine 

the light upon them, and that opportunity 

will be denied us next week. We need to 

have those question times next week because 

this government should go scarcely a day 

without examination. It is bad enough 

already that the Australian parliament this 

year is sitting on fewer days than in almost 

any non-election year in its history, but this 

government is seeking to further curtail the 

number of days that the parliament sits and 

further curtail the opportunities for scrutiny 

through question time. 

We need to have the opportunity to 

continue to examine this government for a 

number of reasons. This government has 

perfected the crafting of bad policyðthey 

have made an art form of it. You will recall, 

Madam Acting Deputy President, Fuelwatch 

and GroceryWatch. One of those got up for a 

while, and the other never got off the ground. 

They were very badly crafted policies. This 

government's border protection policy is a 

debacle. This government has made an art 

form of bad policy, and one of the reasons 

that we need to have the Senate sitting and to 

have question time is so that we can continue 

to examine and probe bad policy. Another 

reason that we need to have those question 

times is that, although this government's 

policy crafting is bad, they are even worse at 

implementing it. So there is bad policy, 

which is not a great way to start, and then 
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there is absolute incompetence in 

administering that bad policy. There is 

hopelessness on top of bad conception, and it 

is a really bad combination. We need to have 

the opportunity in this place, in question 

time, to find out if there are further 

administrative blundersðto try to protect the 

government from themselves and to try to 

expose some of this bad policy before it goes 

too far. We need to have the opportunity to 

ask about badly crafted policy; we need to 

have the opportunity to inquire about 

program administration. 

Senator Ryan:  And programmatic 

specificity! 

Senator FIFIELD:   And programmatic 

specificity! If you could encapsulate the 

crafting of bad policy in one phrase, it would 

be Kevin Rudd'sðthe former Prime 

Minister'sð'programmatic specificity'. There 

is an even more important reason, though, 

that we need to have question time next 

week, and that is the very basic principle of 

the accountability of a government to the 

parliament. This government evade 

accountability at every opportunity. They 

evaded it on the carbon tax when they lied to 

the Australian peopleðthey did not want to 

be accountable to the Australian people, so 

they fibbed. They then evaded accountability 

by curtailing debate in this place on the 

carbon tax, and they have sought to do that 

again this week with the 33 bills before us. 

They take every opportunity to evade 

accountability. 

It is also important to have the parliament 

sit in order to hold the government to 

account because we know that they are 

specialists in deceit. This government 

promised that they would be better than the 

coalition. They promised that they would set 

new standards of accountability and 

integrity. We have heard Senator Faulkner 

talk a great deal about that. I do not doubt 

Senator Faulkner's sincerity on that point, 

but I tell you: I do not think many of his 

colleagues share it. This government is 

characterised by deceit. 

Perhaps the most disgusting example of 

deceit that we have seen in recent times is 

what happened over the other side of this 

building yesterday. This outfit really have a 

taste for guillotines. They guillotine 

legislation, and yesterday they guillotined a 

Speaker. That has not happened for 

centuries. Off with his head! Boom! It came 

off, it was clean and it was quickðit was a 

guillotine. His head is gone; he is gone; it is 

overðwe have a new Speaker there. The 

reason I say that it was one of the most 

disgusting things I have seen since I have 

been in this place is that one can only 

wonderðthough I am not going to cast 

aspersions on anyoneðabout the 

circumstances that led to the former 

Speaker's resignation. I am tempted to take 

the former Speaker's words at face value, but 

I can tell you, Madam Acting Deputy 

President, that there are many who will not, 

including most members of the Australian 

public and including the Australian press 

gallery. I do not think they will take his 

words at face value. There could be no 

clearer example of why it is important that 

the parliament sit every day on which it is 

scheduled to do so than the events of 

yesterday. Nothing this government does is 

straightforward. Nothing this government 

does is as it seems. This government has 

perfected deceit. This government has turned 

it into an art from.  

We need to have this Senate sit next week. 

We need to have it sit so that we can 

appropriately debate the remainder of the 33 

bills which are still before us. We need to 

have the Senate sit next week so that the 

MYEFO minibudget can receive appropriate 

scrutiny. We need to have the Senate sit next 

week so that we can perform the function of 
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holding the government to account. We need 

to sit next week so that the government is 

answerable to the chamber that the people 

have elected. We need to sit next week so 

that the Australian people get value from this 

chamber.  

As Paul Keating always said, the 

Australian public should get value from their 

parliament. We need to sit next week so that 

we can ask this government questions about 

their badly crafted policies. We need to sit 

next week so that we can ask the government 

questions about their administrative 

competence and about the programs which 

they are seeking to deliver. We need to sit 

next week so that we can make sure that this 

government does not continue in its deceit of 

the Australian people. 

Thisðthe curtailing of the sitting of 

parliamentðis not a minor matter. People 

have fought for centuries over the rights and 

prerogatives of parliaments. People die for 

the opportunity to have their parliaments 

meet, sit, be elected. We should not be 

cavalier in dismissing sitting days of the 

Australian parliament. We are elected to do a 

job. On this side of the chamber we want to 

do that job. The government should with-

draw this motion. The Australian Greens, if 

this motion is put, should vote with us. This 

motion stands condemned. 

Senator BERNARDI (South Australia) 

(10:46):  I recognise that there is a great deal 

of interest in this debate. It goes to the very 

core of what we, as members of parliament, 

are doing here. I understand that there are 

very different motivations for why people 

come to the Senateðit is a very important 

house, as has been pointed outðand how 

they actually get here. I recognise that some 

get installed in the Senate because they are 

being pensioned off from the union 

movement or because they can no longer see 

the fulfilment of their dreams in other 

aspects of their lives. I recognise that for 

some this is just a retirement plan. But for 

many of us the decision to come to the 

Senate, and the opportunity to do so, is 

driven by a real desire to review legislation 

and to consider the implications for the 

Australian people of the direction of our 

nation and the direction of our economy. 

I take that responsibility very seriously. I 

am not from some fringe group that has 

stumbled into it, as have members of the 

Greens party. I am someone who came here 

to make a difference. And I know that many 

of my colleagues on this side of the chamber 

actually take this very seriously. In 

accordance with that it is appropriate that 

there are times when 'time management', as it 

is euphemistically called, or the 'guillotine', 

as it has been referred to in this instance, can 

be applied, in the interests of the Australian 

nation. That is something that governments 

have to use on occasions. They have to use it 

wisely. 

But where this motion put forward by the 

government ranklesðit contradicts the 

common sense that should be with us allðis 

in the simple fact that we have scheduled 

three sitting days for next week in which we 

could fully explore the plethora of legislation 

or bills that has been put before this Senate 

and has been cut off without a single word of 

debate or discussion. That has effectively 

neutered the role of all of us in this 

parliament to critically examine and assess 

what is going on. We have had an example 

of some of this with the family law bills, 

which are very contentious. I know that there 

are many people in this place who have 

received numerous emails and 

communications about problems with the 

family law bills and how they could be 

amended. But we did not even have a debate 

in the committee stage on the legislation. 

This is an outrage; it is a travesty. The 
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people in this place have a democratic right 

to critically examine legislation. 

So I am not against time management but 

I am against the abuse of what I believe is 

our democratic process. I am against the 

government being held hostage by a group of 

fringe dwellersðthe fairies at the bottom of 

the garden known as the Greens party. That 

is exactly what is happening here. We know 

that the Greens leader, Senator Bob Brownð

who is currently before the Privileges 

Committee for allegations of misconduct in 

pursuit of his dutiesðhas basically said to 

the government, 'My team and I are going to 

Durban to crow about this great green tax 

that we have placed upon the Australian 

people, that we have forced upon the Gillard 

government, and we are going to trumpet it 

around the world,' notwithstanding the fact 

that the rest of the world has said that this is 

a joke. Just today, and yesterday, there was a 

release of a stack of emails which 

highlighted, once again, the folly of the 

climate change movement and the zealots 

within it. In the emails they overstate their 

caseðit has been reported by the IPCCð

about the climatic effects of carbon dioxide, 

if any, and also celebrate the deceit they have 

played out upon people around the world. It 

is a monumental hoax and a monumental 

fraud that will be exposed. 

But, notwithstanding the facts and the 

evidence, the Greens movement are going to 

triumph about their re-engineering of the 

Australian economy in Durban. They are 

going to fly there first class, I am sure. I am 

not sure which one of their sponsors will be 

paying the way but I will look forward to 

reading their declarations of interest.  

As a result of that, we have to truncate and 

remove three days of debate in this place. 

Senator Fifield accurately described why that 

is a misuse of the parliamentary numbers in 

this place. Let's not pretend that these three 

days were annexed last week or earlier this 

week in case we needed them; they were part 

of the sitting calendar. We have all prepared 

for them. We have managed our ability to 

discuss bills and to deal with the 

government's requirements according to the 

parliamentary calendar. But what happens 

today? Senator Ludwig is told by Senator 

Bob Brown to come in here and guillotine 

those three days of the sitting period. This is 

not time management. This is a government 

held hostage and playing right into the hands 

of their greatest enemy and their greatest 

threatðthat is, the great threat to Australia: 

the radical green movement. Yesterday was 

the four-year anniversary of perhaps the 

most belligerent, backbiting, nasty, 

incompetent and just generally hopeless 

government that this country has ever seen. 

We have seen butchery of a scale 

unprecedented. We saw, of course, the 

knifing of the first-term Prime Minister, Mr 

Rudd. He was not a particularly good Prime 

Minister, but certainly the annals of history 

now reflect very well upon him given the 

fact that Ms Gillard is proving to be even 

worse. So after four years not only are they 

butchering their own, not only are they now 

controlled by the Greens party, but they are 

butchering our right and the right of every 

Australian to have a critical examination of 

the bills that are facing us. 

Next week is a lost opportunity to 

examine the 20 or so bills that have been 

chopped off in this place without any debate 

or discussion. Can we believe that? I just put 

that to the Australian people: does it pass the 

probity test? Does it pass the commonsense 

test? Does it sit well with you that 20 or so 

bills in this parliament that affect the future 

of our nation, that direct our laws and our 

conduct and behaviour have gone through 

this place without a single word of debate, 

without a single word of examination, 

without a committee period in which we 
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could ask questions of the government to 

determine whether this is in the best interests 

of the Australian nation? I would put to you, 

Acting Deputy President Stephensðand to 

the people of Australiaðthat this sits so 

uncomfortably with our freedoms and our 

democracy, which people have fought and 

lost their lives to defend. And what is 

happening now? The legacy, the message, 

the traditions, the conventions of this place 

have been killed just as surely as the Speaker 

of the House of Representatives was 

politically killed yesterday. 

This is a time in which the world is facing 

a number of critical challenges, and Australia 

is not immune from those challenges. 

Australians want from their parliamentarians 

not just a cursory tick and flick, which is the 

process which has infected Europe and 

caused such a devastating impact on so many 

economies there. It has seen the bureaucrats 

taking control of the legislative agenda and 

the parliamentarians merely sidelined as 

puppets on the stage to the bureaucratic 

bungling. We cannot afford to have that in 

this country, and yet that is the path we are 

going down when we have legislation 

brought into this place and passed through 

this place without a single word of debate or 

discussion. Is that the future we see for our 

nation, where parliamentarians are ineffec-

tive, where the brutal numbers of a 

government are used in deciding what is 

going to come in and what is not, and what 

can be talked about and what cannot?  

It is the new style totalitarianism on 

display. It is the social democratic movement 

which is stifling freedom of speech, stifling 

the democratic process in this countryðall 

in the name of appeasing a very, very 

dangerous political movement, and that is the 

Greens party. We know they have a radical 

social agenda. By Senator Bob Brown's own 

admission he would like to see global 

government and the centralising of 

bureaucracy, where everyone in the world 

has one vote and one voiceðand, of course, 

only some voices are allowed to be heard. 

This is the tragedy of what we experiencing. 

It is the very first stage of this. Three 

scheduled parliamentary sitting days are 

being removed from the calendar by the 

government's representative, by the mover of 

this motion, Senator Ludwig.  

Ultimately the Australian people will 

decide whether the conduct of this 

government is appropriate or not. They will 

decide whether having a government that is 

held hostage to a tiny minority extremist 

movement is in the interests of this country. 

But in the meantime, before the next 

election, the very least we should expect is 

some probity and prudence in our policy 

making. The problem with this is that, if the 

government had a track record which was 

enviable, a track record in which their 

decisions, their implementation of their 

policy agenda, had a modicum of successðif 

they could even highlight three successesð

we might give them the benefit of the doubt, 

but, unfortunately, they have a legacy of 

waste, a legacy of betrayal, a legacy of 

butchery, a legacy of failure. 

It can be characterised in so many 

different ways. At the last election, for 

example, we had the cash-for-clunkers 

scheme brought in by Minister Carr. That 

was his suggestion. What a dud that was. It 

did not even survive the election period. Of 

course we had, 'There will be no carbon tax 

under the government I lead,' from a 

deceptive Prime Minister who did mislead 

the Australian people, because the carbon tax 

has been passedðat the insistence of the 

radical Greens. 

Senator Ludlam: Hear, hear! 

Senator BERNARDI:  I notice, Senator 

Ludlam, you say, 'Hear, hear!' which is fine. 

You might well enjoy re-engineering the 
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Australian economy to satisfy your own 

bloodlust to take control of the Australian 

people, but it is not going to actually make 

any difference to the environment. I think we 

acknowledge that. The rest of the world is 

not going down this path. It will 

disadvantage Australian industry and 

Australian jobs. You think that is a good 

piece of policy. I think the Australian people 

will beg to differ. 

So we had this promise by Ms Gillard not 

to introduce a carbon taxða broken promise. 

We had talk of a citizens' assembly on 

climate change. I still remember that when 

Minister Penny Wongðwho has had such a 

great track record in this space!ðwas there, 

nodding enthusiastically and going around 

trumpeting the virtues of building a 

consensus across the Australian people. But, 

of course, they get into parliament, the 

Greens tell the government what to do, and 

the Australian people start saying: 'Hang on, 

there is no consensus. The science that you 

have been telling us is settled is not settled at 

all. You said the rest of the world was going 

to be going down this path. They are not 

going down this path at all.' Even their 

mythical hero, President Obama, is not going 

down this path. He is taking a direct action 

plan. In the face of all of that, they ditched 

their citizens' assembly. 

We have any number of other issues that 

this government has failed to deliver on, and 

that is building on a track record of failure by 

the previous government under Mr Rudd and 

later Ms Gillard in the previous parliament. 

As Senator Fifield pointed out, we had 

Fuelwatch, which I do not think managed to 

even get a start. We had GroceryWatch, in 

which millions of dollars were invested in a 

price-monitoring website which did not 

work. So that the government could do the 

Pontius Pilate and wash its hands of it, it sent 

it off to a consumer organisation, but of 

course that was not sustainable either. 

Millions of dollars were wasted. 

If you examine the stimulus package 

critically, not only were there aspects of it 

which were abject failures but the essence of 

it was grotesque waste. It is as if a billion 

dollarsðthat is, $1,000 millionðhas very 

little meaning anymore to the government. 

When they were building school halls, they 

wasted around $8,000 million of borrowed 

money. It was not even money they had in 

the bank. It was not taxpayers' money. It was 

money they borrowed that future taxpayers 

will have to pay back. That has mortgaged 

the future generations of this country. It was 

not just that $8 billion in waste but a 

cumulative $150 billion or so in waste in 

only four years. 

We had the $900 payments that were sent 

out to people. Some would argue that that is 

taxpayers receiving their money back, but 

unfortunately it did not go just to taxpayers; 

it went to people who were living overseas. I 

am sure that helped to stimulate the Greek 

economy, the Italian economy or the British 

economy! It was just wasted. It went to 

people who were deceased. The $900 

stimulus payment went to dead people, if 

you can believe that. If that does not go 

against the common sense that means we 

should be critically examining everything 

that comes through this place, I do not know 

what does. 

The government is now in a war against 

gambling and poker machines. That is once 

again at the behest of an Independent. But I 

remember when I remarked in this place that 

sending people $900 so that it could be used 

simply in poker machines was not really a 

great use of taxpayers' money, and I 

remember one senator standing up and 

saying: 'What have you got against poker 

machines? It's okay to do it.' Well, I do not 

have anything against poker machines, but I 
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think that if governments want to stimulate 

the economy there are some better things 

they can do with $10 billion than simply 

giving it to dead people and people overseas 

and allowing people to blow it on gaming 

machines. Honestly, if you have taken the 

tax from them, you might as well invest it 

wisely. You could even cut taxes for people 

so that taxpayers actually got a longstanding 

benefit. But of course we did not see that 

happen. We do not see those far-sighted 

applications from the government because it 

is always a knee-jerk reaction. It is always, 

'How can we get a political bang for our 

buck?' rather than, 'How can this nation get 

some nation building or get some long-term 

benefit for the taxpayers' buck?' 

Through all these abject failures, the 

government has never said, 'The buck stops 

here.' That is a very important thing. Who 

has taken responsibility for the failures of 

this government? Have we seen any minister 

sacked or held to account for the policy 

failures? Have we seen Minister Garrett, who 

reigned over some of the worst decision 

making we have seen, held to account? The 

answer is no, he is still in the cabinet. Did we 

see Ms Gillard, who oversaw Building the 

Education Revolution, held to account? No, 

she got promoted. She got promoted for 

knifing Mr Kevin Rudd and she got 

promoted for wasting billions of dollars. 

Have we seen in this place anyone held to 

account for the massive broadband blowout, 

the NBN, that went from $4 billion initially, 

I think, in the original tender to something 

like $46 billion today? That is not even 

included in the debt figures of this govern-

ment. Did we see Senator Wong held to 

account for the disgraceful and misleading 

manner in which the government tried to sell 

the emissions trading scheme to this parlia-

mentðfor the fakery, the misleading state-

ments, the abuse and the belittling of anyone 

who dared to question what was going on? 

But it has reached a new low now. It is no 

longer just asking a question and receiving 

abuse in response because the government 

does not like the question. We are now not 

even allowed to ask the questions. We are 

not allowed to ask the questions that the 

Australian people want to know the answers 

to. We are not allowed to ask questions about 

the bills that this government is seeking to 

implement that will forever change our 

countryðor while this government is in 

powerðbecause we cannot rescind them. 

And why are we not allowed to do this? 

We are not allowed to do it because (1) the 

government has very few questions and (2) 

the Greens party have something better to do 

than be in this parliament, according to them. 

According to them, the Australian people are 

not as important as the global governance 

movement that will be meeting in Durban, 

where they will all be able to slap each other 

on the back and say: 'Look at us; aren't we 

good? We're saving the world from the nasty 

people, the people who care about the local 

people. We only care about centralising 

bureaucracy and entrenching power and our 

influence.' We are seeing what happens as a 

grotesque misuse of that power. That is why 

those on this side of the chamber like to see 

full and free debate. 

That brings me back to my initial point. I 

understand perfectly that there are times 

when time management needs to be 

implemented by government. I understand 

that perfectly and, in a cooperative 

arrangement, those things can be achieved. 

But it does not pass the common-sense test 

and it does not pass the scrutiny and the 

probity test that three scheduled days of this 

parliament are going to be abolished under 

this motion by Senator Ludwig, and yet there 

are 20 bills this week that we are not allowed 

to talk about, that we have not been allowed 

to even question or make a contribution to 

the debate on. That is an indictment not only 
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of this government. It is an indictment of 

their Greens masters, and it is a great 

travesty for the people of Australia. That is 

why I will be voting against this motion, not 

in my interestsðI would love to go homeð

but in the interests of the Australian people. 

Senator IAN MACDONALD  
(Queensland) (11:06):  I want to add my 

voice of opposition to this motion by the 

Greens and the Labor Party to cut three days 

off the sitting time of this parliament. 

Heaven knows, this is one of the shortest 

parliamentary years we have had on record. 

Clearly the Labor Party and the Greens do 

not want parliamentary debate because they 

have no interest in democracy. It is clear as 

well that one of the reasons is that Labor 

Party politicians, and particularly the Greens 

politicians, want to head off to Durban to 

swan around the stage at the COP17 meeting 

on climate change. Senator Hanson-Young 

interjected on me before, indicating that 

Senator Brown, Senator Milne and whoever 

else from the Greens are not going on 

Monday, Tuesday and Wednesday. They are 

not going until the following week and they 

are paying their own way over there. 

Well, I look forward to their contribution 

to this debate so they can put on record their 

argument against suggestions that I and 

others have made that cancelling three days 

of parliament is all about the Greens political 

party getting ready to head off to Durban to 

wander the world stage on climate change 

issues. We know that is going to be a farce. 

The intergovernmental panel that started this 

off a few years ago was reported this week as 

coming back on their forecasts of climate 

change. In fact, the headlines are saying 

'climate forecasts have been overstated'. 

What has been said by the Greens and the 

Labor Party for many years about the 

importance of the Intergovernmental Panel 

on Climate Change, which leads to this 

further junket that we will see next week and 

the following week, is all basedða bit like 

the carbon tax itselfðon exaggerated 

comments and on lies in the case of this 

conference. It is based on what are now said 

to be exaggerated climate forecasts. I look 

forward to hearing the Greens tell us when 

they are going to Durban. Tell us it is not 

next Monday, Tuesday and Wednesday. Tell 

us it is not because you want to head off to 

Durban that you are cutting three days off 

the parliamentary year. 

The debate in the last few weeks has been 

guillotined by the Labor Party and the 

Greens political party. The normal debate 

that we would have on 20 bills has been not 

only reduced but also cancelled. We passed 

20 bills during this week with not one word 

being said on themðnot one word in favour 

of the bills, not one word in argument, not 

one question answered, and no scrutiny 

allowed of a government which, dear me, 

requires a lot of scrutiny. Not one piece of 

scrutiny was allowed by the Greens political 

party and the Australian Labor Party. 

Senator Ludlam interjectingð 

Senator IAN MACDONALD:   I hear 

'let's get on to the bill'. Senator Ludlam, why 

not sit next week so we can discuss these 

bills? 

Senator Hanson-Young interjectingð 

Senator IAN MACDONALD:   I think 

Senator Hanson-Young said 'more people 

should be listening to this debate' and I agree 

with her. (Quorum formed) While we were 

waiting for the Labor Party, which prior to 

this had two people in the chamber listening 

to this important debateðthat shows what an 

arrogant government we haveðI heard the 

Manager of Government Business berating 

our manager about curtailing this debate. I 

heard the Manager of Government Business, 

Senator Ludwig, issue a threat: 'If you want 
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to debate this bill, we are going to guillotine 

it as well.' This is just typicalð 

Senator Ludwig:  Mr Acting Deputy 

President, on a point of order. I did not  say 

that, you boofhead! 

The ACTING DEPUTY PRESIDENT 

(Senator Mark Bishop):  That is no point of 

order. 

Senator IAN MACDONALD:   Do you 

see how sensitive the Australian Labor Party 

are when their issues are exposed to the 

Australian public through the medium of 

telecommunications that we now have? 

Today, we have to deal with the Competition 

and Consumer Legislation Amendment Bill, 

a very important bill; the Human Rights 

(Parliamentary Scrutiny) Bill, perhaps one of 

the most significant human rights bills for 

some time and I know Senator Brandis is 

very keen to have a full-scale debate on that; 

the Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation 

and Other Legislation Amendment Bill; and 

the Social Security Amendment (Student 

Income Support Reforms) Bill. That all has 

to be dealt with by 1 pm todayðin two short 

hours. Why do they have to be dealt with by 

1 pm today when there are three days left in 

the parliamentary sitting  calendar? We 

could be debating those bills at length, as we 

should in this chamber, on Monday, Tuesday 

and Wednesday of next week. In addition to 

that I understand from having a look at the 

Notice Paper that there is a bill on migration, 

the Deterring People Smuggling Bill 2011, 

that needs to be addressed. I guess we are 

going to do that after 1 pm. We will start 

getting these pressures: 'People have booked 

flights and everyone wants to go home.' I 

have heard interjections saying: 'Why are 

you speaking? We have heard this all before.' 

I am speaking in the hope that someone in 

the media might actually give a front-page 

focus to the travesty of democracy that the 

Greens and the Australian Labor Party have 

imposed upon the people of Australia. I 

notice this Courier-Mail headline: 'King Rat'. 

I would like to see a front page that says, 

'Travesty of democracy', and details the bills 

that have been rammed through this 

parliament without one person speaking on 

them, without one person being able to raise 

objections. I have mentioned that there are 

several bills plus an important migration bill 

yet to be done. Here we are guillotining them 

through so that we have only a few minutes 

to speak on them. I suspect we will not even 

get to some of them. They will joining the 

list of 20 bills that have been dealt with 

without any debate whatsoever. 

I finish on this note: when there is so 

much business for this parliament to do, why 

are we taking away three days that have been 

listed for more than six months as part of the 

parliamentary calendar? That is a disgrace. It 

is a travesty of democracy that the Greens 

political party and the Australian Labor Party 

would shut the parliament down when there 

is so much business yet to do. I remind 

senators that they are paid to be in this 

chamber. They are paid to debate legislation. 

They are not paid to be jumping on first-

class aircraft and slipping over to South 

Africa for a jolly couple of weeks, as the 

Greens clearly intend to do and as a number 

of Labor Party people intend to do as well. I 

urge senators to vote against this motion and 

ensure that we have the next three days for 

parliamentary debate. 

Question put: 

That the motion (Senator Ludwig's) be 

agreed to. 
   

The Senate divided.  [12:21] 

(The PresidentðSenator Hogg) 

Ayes ...................... 35 

Noes ...................... 31 

Majority ................. 4 
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AYES 

Arbib, MV Bilyk, CL 

Bishop, TM Brown, CL 

Brown, RJ Cameron, DN 

Collins, JMA Crossin, P 

Di Natale, R Faulkner, J 

Feeney, D Furner, ML 

Gallacher, AM Hanson-Young, SC 

Hogg, JJ Ludlam, S 

Ludwig, JW Lundy, KA 

Marshall, GM McEwen, A 

McLucas, J Milne, C 

Moore, CM Polley, H (teller) 

Pratt, LC Rhiannon, L 

Sherry, NJ Siewert, R 

Singh, LM Stephens, U 

Sterle, G Thistlethwaite, M 

Urquhart, AE Waters, LJ 

Wright, PL  

 

NOES 

Abetz, E Adams, J (teller) 

Back, CJ Bernardi, C 

Birmingham, SJ Boswell, RLD 

Brandis, GH Bushby, DC 

Cash, MC Colbeck, R 

Edwards, S Eggleston, A 

Fawcett, DJ Fierravanti-Wells, C 

Fifield, MP Fisher, M 

Humphries, G Johnston, D 

Kroger, H Macdonald, ID 

Madigan, JJ Mason, B 

McKenzie, B Nash, F 

Parry, S Ronaldson, M 

Ryan, SM Scullion, NG 

Sinodinos, A Williams, JR 

Xenophon, N  

 

PAIRS 

Carr, KJ Heffernan, W 

Conroy, SM Cormann, M 

Evans, C Boyce, SK 

Farrell, D Joyce, B 

Wong, P Payne, MA 

Question agreed to. 

BILLS  

Competition and Consumer 

Legislation Amendment Bill 2011 

Second Reading 

Debate resumed on the motion: 

That this bill be now read a second time. 

Senator RYAN (Victoria) (11:25):  I rise 

today with some relief to speak upon the 

Competition and Consumer Legislation 

Amendment Bill 2011. Let me say upfront 

that the coalition does not oppose this 

package of legislative changes. Indeed, it is 

the role of the law to facilitate domestic 

market conditions that are good for business 

and the community, and competition policy 

plays a critical part in that role. 

The amendments in this bill attempt to 

strengthen the competition policy regime, 

which in turn should facilitate a more 

conducive economic and business 

environment. That said, the coalition 

believes that this is an extremely modest bill 

with modest aims. While we see no damage 

being caused by this bill, we also see no 

great cause for celebration. The govern-

ment's language of accomplishment and 

achievement does not suit this bill. It is 

misleading and overstates the impact these 

changes will make. Yet again we have the 

Labor Party seeking to create the illusion of 

reform. Desperate to claim some sort of 

policy success that assists businesses, and 

particularly smaller businesses, it makes 

claims where there are none and overstates 

the impact of minor changes. 

Essentially, this bill has two aims. The 

first is to clarify the operation of existing 

provisionsðand, I stress, not to create new 

onesðrelating to mergers and acquisitions 

by addressing a potential uncertainty or 

ambiguity that may arise in defining what a 

market is for the purposes of section 50 of 

the Competition and Consumer Act. It does 
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this by broadening the language of 'market' 

so that all markets can be included and so 

that creeping acquisitions can also be 

scrutinised. This will ensure that a court or 

the ACCC can examine mergers in a greater 

number of markets. 

The second aim of the bill is to insert 

interpretive principles into the unconscion-

able conduct provisions to assist the courts in 

applying the law as well as to assist broader 

community and stakeholder understanding. 

What the bill does not achieve is that which 

was described in the government's speeches 

in the second reading debate, when it 

claimed great accomplishments for small 

business and groundbreaking shifts in 

competition and consumer law in Australia. 

It does not do anything of that sort. It is what 

it is, and we support it for the aims I have 

just outlined. It is a modest gain to clarify 

contested and often misunderstood aspects of 

competition law. 

I first want to address the bill's provisions 

in relation to its amendments to the 

Competition and Consumer Act 2010 with 

respect to section 50, which is the key 

provision relating to mergers and 

acquisitions. It provides the ACCC with the 

legislative framework to analyse, consider 

and address potential competition policy 

concerns posed by mergers and acquisitions 

in Australia. Most of us agree that mergers 

and acquisitions are important for the 

efficient functioning of the Australian 

economy. They allow firms to achieve 

efficiency such as economies of scale and the 

diversification of risk across a range of 

activities. Absent some genuine and real 

concern for the greater community, there is 

no role for the state or the law in restricting 

these. 

However, the current law does contain a 

weakness, and this bill addresses the issue of 

'creeping acquisitions'. Creeping acquisitions 

are a series of small-scale acquisitions that 

individually may not substantially lessen 

competition in a market but collectively have 

the potential to do so over time. Each of 

these small acquisitions may not be in breach 

of section 50, and therefore the series of 

acquisitions are permissible by law. 

However, over a long period of time such 

transactions may have the cumulative effect 

of substantially lessening competition in a 

market. There are currently no provisions in 

the Competition and Consumer Act to 

prevent or limit creeping acquisitions. 

Over the past decade or so there have been 

concerns raised about market concentration 

in a number of key sectors. We have seen it 

recently in banking, groceries, fuel and a few 

other areas. As a result, issues have arisen as 

to how section 50 of the Competition and 

Consumer Act is applied to these markets, 

particularly those affected by creeping 

acquisitions. One just has to look at the 

supermarket sector to see my point. Just over 

two decades ago, when Professor Hilmer was 

doing his work looking at our competition 

and consumer framework and recommending 

the reforms which earned a wide degree of 

support and which have been of significant 

and undoubted benefit to Australia and 

Australians, the two major supermarket 

chains had less than half of the total grocery 

market. Today, those same two chains have 

more than two-thirdsðapproaching three-

quartersðof the market. Nothing enormous 

or transformational happened overnight. 

Indeed that change in market share may 

partly simply reflect changing consumer 

preferences. But we also know that, through 

a series of acquisitions, new presences and 

purchases of new properties, the supermarket 

majors have greatly enhanced their positions. 

It is only fair to concede that the degree of 

increase in market share of these two major 

chains has caused a level of concern in some 
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areas of our communityðamongst 

consumers, producers and businesses alike. 

To start with, these changes to the act 

remove the word 'substantial' in relation to 

the ACCC's analysis of mergers and 

acquisitions, so now even those mergers not 

considered substantial can be scrutinised by 

the ACCC. The hope is that this will remove 

the risk that a court might adopt the view that 

an acquisition in a geographically confined 

market is not substantial and therefore does 

not fall within the scope of section 50. 

The bill also amends section 50 to replace 

references to 'a market' with references to 

'any market'. Together, these changes clarify 

the ability of the ACCC or a court to 

consider multiple markets when assessing 

mergers, including smaller mergers which 

over time may amount to potentially damag-

ing creeping acquisitions. It is important to 

note, however, that the amendments to 

section 50 do not oblige the ACCC to 

examine the competitive impact of an 

acquisition in a small market. It is simply a 

clarification that it indeed may do so and that 

it is a relevant factor where a merger is being 

considered for other reasons. 

So what do we have here? In short and put 

simply, this is a clarification of the law to 

reduce an ambiguity that might become a 

legal basis to challenge the work of the 

ACCC. On that basis, the coalition supports 

the bill. But I say again: we do not support 

the government's claim that this bill is 

somehow a profound strengthening of the 

Competition and Consumer Act. 

The other aspect of this bill relates to the 

concept of unconscionable conduct. As with 

the amendments to section 50, these 

provisions also reflect work undertaken by 

the Senate Economics Legislation 

Committee. The Competition and Consumer 

Act does not currently include a statutory 

definition of 'unconscionable conduct'.  Let 

us be very clear: this bill makes no changes 

to those provisions. Rather, what this bill 

seeks to do is implement guiding interpretive 

principles so that there is better 

understanding of 'unconscionable conduct'. 

The coalition supports this initiative. 

What we really need and what will 

contribute to the further development of 

healthy competition policy is a better under-

standing of the concept of unconscionable 

behaviour and what it means for 

businessesðin particular, small, medium-

sized and family businesses. While we 

understand that many people and many small 

businesses may at times have a negative 

experience, particularly when dealing with a 

larger business, and can come to the 

conclusion that what they have experienced 

is unconscionable conduct, this is a complex 

area of law and we need to assist people to 

understand this area of law in more detail. 

This bill does make it a little bit clearer and 

the way it brings clarity is through 

establishing these interpretive principles. 

It was the recommendation of the Senate 

Economics Committee that interpretive 

principles were needed rather than specific 

examples. This is an important distinction. 

Examples, it was thought, may create a false 

sense of expectation. It was also believed 

that examples may not remain relevant or 

current as community expectations changeð

such changes might change the meaning and 

understanding of 'unconscionable conduct'. 

Interpretive principles will assist the courts 

in interpreting the provisions, help 

stakeholders in understanding them and 

guide regulators in enforcing them. 

But, again, let us be clear about the impact 

of these interpretive principles. They do not 

in any way, shape or form offer the agencies 

new powers in addressing unconscionable 

conduct. There are no new protections 

announced for small business and it would 
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be misleading for anyone to imply in the 

commentary on this bill that these changes 

represent substantial new protections for 

small business. These interpretive principles 

should give clarity to the court about what 

was intended by parliament, but they should 

not be oversold. 

These amendments insert new guidelines 

to assist people, to assist businesses, to assist 

the regulators and to assist the courts. But by 

no means are these principles any sort of 

new measure that will give the greater 

protection that some have called for. Again, 

the government has attempted to oversell its 

limited efforts in order to create the illusion 

of activity and the illusion of substantial 

policy reform. Sadly, the constant over-

selling of its efforts reduces its fatally 

damaged credibility even further, particularly 

when dealing with small business. 

The government claims that this bill 

before the Senate today implements a Labor 

election commitment to introduce a law in 

relation to creeping acquisitionsðthey 

claimed the then regulatory response did not 

adequately address the problem. They claim 

great reform. But that is little more than 

misplaced grandeur. In reality, what we have 

here is the government applying a dictionary 

and a thesaurus to the original billð

expanding some definitions and giving us 

some interpretive guidelines to better 

understand the sometimes complex language 

of competition law. That is an important 

objective. These are all good and necessary 

changes that the coalition supports. 

However, they must be understood and 

explained for what they areðthis is a start 

and a step in the right direction, but many 

more steps are needed. That is why the 

coalition has called for a root and branch 

review of the competition and consumer law. 

Two decades on, such a review is only 

appropriate, but for some reason this 

government seems to think that a few tweaks 

and a few changes here and there will create 

the illusion that it is really listening when it 

is not. 

Senator SHERRY (TasmaniaðMinister 

Assisting on Deregulation and Public Sector 

Superannuation, Minister for Small Business 

and Minister Assisting the Minister for 

Tourism) (11:35):  In summing up and 

closing the second reading contributions on 

the Competition and Consumer Legislation 

Amendment Bill 2011, I firstly thank Senator 

Ryan. I will make some remarks in response 

to a couple of the points Senator Ryan made, 

but in thanking him I do acknowledge that he 

did stick substantially to the issue before the 

chair, unlike some of his colleagues. He 

made a useful contribution to the considera-

tion of this legislation. 

This bill will strengthen and clarify 

Australia's competition and consumer laws, 

which are designed to improve the welfare of 

Australians. The bill makes two important 

changes. The first general point I would 

make in response to one of Senator Ryan's 

arguments is that we do not overstate the 

consequences of this legislation. The 

changes are important, but we certainly do 

not overclaim what the impact of these two 

changes will be.  

Firstly, the bill will enact laws to deal 

with creeping acquisitions by amending the 

mergers and acquisitions provisions in 

section 50 of the Competition and Consumer 

Act 2010. The bill will remove the 

requirement that a market in which the 

competition effects of a merger or 

acquisition are assessed must be a substantial 

market. The amendments will also ensure 

that the courts and the Australian 

Competition and Consumer Commission, the 

ACCC, can consider the competitive effects 

of a merger or acquisition in any market. 

Secondly, the bill improves and simplifies 

the unconscionable conduct provisions of the 
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Australian Consumer Law and the Australian 

Securities and Investments Commission Act 

2001. The bill will assist consumers, busin-

esses, regulators and the courts through 

inserting interpretive principles which will 

clarify the meaning of unconscionable 

conduct. The bill will also unify the business 

and consumer related provisions. These 

amendments clarify the parliament's 

intention as to how the unconscionable 

conduct law should apply. They will help the 

ACCC and the Australian Securities and 

Investments Commission to take more 

effective enforcement and compliance 

action. The bill also makes minor technical 

amendments to correct a small number of 

drafting errors which arose in the Trade 

Practices Amendment (Australian Consumer 

Law) Act (No. 2) 2010. 

I will make a couple of concluding 

remarks. Firstly, I do not agree with the level 

of Senator Ryan's critique. I think it is 

important to point out that, not just in the 

context of this legislation, this government 

over the past four years has taken effective 

steps in a range of consumer law activity. 

Not the least of these, of course, is the 

important legislation known as the 

Australian Consumer Law. I do not intend to 

go into that in detail, given the limited time 

today, but I would point out that this govern-

ment, for which I have some responsibilities 

in my deregulatory ministerial capacity, has 

taken a number of significant steps in 

moving towards a seamless national 

economy and in protecting consumers. That 

is well illustrated by the Australian 

Consumer Law and by the transfer, with the 

agreement of the states, of responsibilities in 

the last significant remaining areas of 

financial services regulation and supervision. 

So I would argue that this government has 

taken a number of effective initiatives with 

respect to competition and consumer laws in 

this country, of which this piece of 

legislation represents a part. 

Senator Ryan stated a number of 

concerns. One in particular was the presence 

in our marketplace of what are known as the 

'big two' retailers and their growth in market 

share over a long period of time. I note that 

he expressed some concerns about the trend 

and also referred to the need to do more with 

respect to this issue. Senator Ryan, I look 

forward to a policy contribution from the 

opposition in this regard. I look forward to 

any policy announcement from those 

opposite. I think it should be pointed out, as 

Senator Ryan's National Party colleagues 

have pointed out, that over many years, 

including the almost 12 years they were in 

government, this trend was rapidly 

accentuated under the previous Liberal-

National Party government. Despite the 

stated concerns of some in the opposition, 

particularly those in the National Party, they 

did nothing about it. So we do look forward 

to the development of effective policy from 

the Liberal-National Party in this regard and 

in other areas of competition. Perhaps in the 

spirit of Christmas goodwill, as we are 

approaching that time of the year, the 

Liberal-National Party will give some 

consideration to actually coming up with a 

policy or two over the break, rather than 

continuing their very negative constant 

attack and critique and basically saying no to 

anything the government does. 

The final contribution I want to make in 

this debate is to thank the Senate Economics 

Legislation Committee. It has done some 

good work under successive chairs. 

The ACTING DEPUTY PRESIDENT 

(Senator Mark Bishop):  A fine job. 

Senator SHERRY:  Mr Acting Deputy 

President and colleague, you are Chair of the 

Senate Economics Legislation Committee, 

and I want to acknowledge and thank you 
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and the members of the committee for your 

good work. I also want to acknowledge the 

important work that my colleague the 

Parliamentary Secretary to the Treasurer, Mr 

Bradbury, has done on this measure and 

others. This is an important reform. We do 

not overstate its impact but it is an important 

reform and should be seen in the context of 

the total reforms that this government has 

made to improve competitionðeffective 

competition; it is important to add that 

descriptorðin this area. I commend the 

legislation to the Senate. 

Question agreed to. 

Bill read a second time.  

In Committee 

Billðby leaveðtaken as a whole. 

Senator XENOPHON (South Australia) 

(11:44):  I have a couple of comments to 

make on the Competition and Consumer 

Legislation Amendment Bill 2011. I did not 

have an opportunity to speak to it during the 

second reading debate, not through any lack 

of trying on the part of the minister, who 

graciously tried to see where I wasðI was in 

another meeting. I will make a couple of 

short contributions that will lead into the 

amendments that I will be moving shortly. 

I do not oppose this bill, but I believe that 

it could be improved. That is why I will be 

moving amendments to omit the word 

'substantially' and substitute the word 

'materially' when it comes to mergers. It is 

my view that the ACCC does not have the 

legislative firepower that it needs to deal 

with the issue of mergers. Having the word 

'materially' rather than 'substantially' with 

regard to lessening competition would make 

a very real difference to the highly 

concentrated markets we have here in 

Australia. We have a situation where 

Woolworths and Coles control some 80 per 

cent of the dry grocery market. We have had 

too many mergers that have been approved 

by the ACCC under the current legislation. 

We have seen the difficulties in the grocery 

sector with petrol and we have a looming 

problem with the liquor market, and the 

word 'substantially' does not do the job that it 

shouldðit is too high a test. That is why I 

am grateful for the work that Associate 

Professor Frank Zumbo, from the University 

of New South Wales, has done in relation to 

this and other competition issues. 

I have some questions for the government. 

I am aware of the time constraints and I will 

be short and succinct. I am concerned about 

the amendments to the definition of 

unconscionable conduct in this regard. My 

question is as follows: the government is 

going to include a number of paragraphs in 

the legislation that set out examples of 

unconscionable conduct. It is quite proscrip-

tive, but I ask the minister whether what is 

proposed in the bill is essentially repeating 

what the courts have said in previous cases? 

Do these amendments expand the scope of 

the unconscionable conduct provisions in the 

legislation? I will start off with that, and I 

had two or three more questions after that. 

Senator SHERRY (TasmaniaðMinister 

Assisting on Deregulation and Public Sector 

Superannuation, Minister for Small Business 

and Minister Assisting the Minister for 

Tourism) (11:47):  I will take advice. 

Senator XENOPHON (South Australia) 

(11:47):  If I may assist the minister, the 

legitimate concerns I have about these 

amendments are about whether they will 

actually make a difference if what the bill is 

proposing to do is simply to restate the 

position of the courts in existing cases. What 

difference will it make? That is essentially 

my question, and I have some follow-up 

questions depending on the minister's 

answer. I think it is quite material to how 

effective these changes will be, and what the 

government believes these changes will 
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mean to the definition of unconscionable 

conduct and the practical application of the 

law. 

Senator SHERRY (TasmaniaðMinister 

Assisting on Deregulation and Public Sector 

Superannuation, Minister for Small Business 

and Minister Assisting the Minister for 

Tourism) (11:48):  I am conscious of the 

time, so I will try to deal with your concerns, 

Senator Xenophon, though I am not 

necessarily sure I will satisfy them. 

Effectively, clarifying the issues you 

raised, the expert panel that explicitly 

considered the issue of unconscionable 

conduct has raised a number of concerns 

about potential use of examples in the ACL. 

For example, listing a particular scenario as 

amounting to unconscionable conduct might 

be misleading when a court might decide that 

a scenario with slightly different facts does 

not involve unconscionable conduct. 

Examples might be treated as rebuttable 

presumptions either formally by the courts or 

in the development of business practices. 

Examples are unlikely to remain current as 

business practices and technologies evolve. 

The Senate Standing Committee on 

Economics, which I referred to in my second 

reading speech, considered whether the 

definition of 'unconscionable conduct' should 

be inserted in the act in its December 2008 

report, The need, scope and content of a 

definition of unconscionable conduct for the 

purposes of part IVA of the Trade Practices 

Act 1974. The committee noted two 

significant reservations about defining 

unconscionable conduct in the act. Firstly, 

terms used in a definition would need to be 

carefully considered for their judicial 

meaning, and it would need to be clear to 

stakeholders how the courts' interpretation of 

these terms might encroach on current 

business practices and how a definition 

would affect larger businesses' respon-

sibilities under other statutes. Secondly, 

agreeing on a suitable definition would be a 

prolonged and difficult process, and 

definitions proposed, such as that put 

forward by Professor Zumbo, to whom 

Senator Xenophon has referred, were 

considered too complex and uncertain. 

Accordingly, the Senate committee consid-

ered that a definition of unconscionable 

conduct should not be adopted, and recom-

mended an alternative process whereby an 

expert panel should consider whether 

examples should be inserted in the act. This 

is the path the government took. The expert 

panel explicitly considered whether 

examples would improve the functioning of 

the law in this area, and instead 

recommended that principles be inserted in 

the act. 

My only other comment is that it is correct 

that the principles that are inserted are 

obviously based on case law. 

Senator XENOPHON (South Australia) 

(11:51):  I am grateful to the minister for 

those answers. I want to go further. I refer 

my friends in the coalition to the Senate 

Standing Committee on Economics report, 

The need, scope and content of a definition 
of unconscionable conduct for the purposes 

of part IVA of the Trade Practices Act 1974. 

It is a December 2008 reportðit is amazing 

to think that three years have passed so 

quickly. There are additional comments 

made by both the coalition and myself about 

the need for a statutory definition of 

unconscionable conduct. I am pleased that 

the coalition took that view at that time and I 

hope it is still their view. 

Notwithstanding that, I want to get to the 

nub of the issues of the specific amendments 

proposed by the government. Does the 

government expect that there will be more 

cases brought to court as a result of these 
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amendments to the definition of 

unconscionable conduct? 

Senator SHERRY (TasmaniaðMinister 

Assisting on Deregulation and Public Sector 

Superannuation, Minister for Small Business 

and Minister Assisting the Minister for 

Tourism) (11:52):  Frankly, it is very 

difficult to give you an answer to that and to 

predict the level of disputes, cases et cetera. 

One of the factors would be the decision of 

the regulatorðthe ACCC. I understand why 

you are interested in an answer but, having 

taken advice, it is not possible for me to give 

an answer on that matter. It is a somewhat 

hypothetical matter of conjecture. 

Senator RYAN  (Victoria) (11:53):  Given 

Senator Xenophon invited me to make some 

comments, I thought I should briefly restate 

our position on this. Senator Xenophon, you 

and I have spent some quality hours in the 

Senate Economics References Committee 

together, particularly on supermarket issues. 

I was not a member of the committee that 

reported that. I would state, though, that our 

commitment to the root-and-branch review 

of the act encompasses the issue you raise. 

We do not necessarily have a position on it. 

We think that, two decades on, it is time to 

look at it. The events that are necessary to 

trigger an offence are something we are keen 

to look at. However, my personal view on 

the question about whether something should 

result in a greater number of court cases is 

that a good act does not necessarily lead to a 

higher number of court cases because it has 

an educative function that means that 

behaviour changes, which does not 

necessarily lead to a higher number of court 

cases. 

Senator XENOPHON (South Australia) 

(11:54):  I am grateful for Senator Ryan's 

contribution. I indicate to him that I think 

that is a fair point. Just because you do not 

have more court cases does not mean that the 

legislation is not more effective or broader. 

But the coalition did state three years ago 

that there is a need for a statutory definition 

of unconscionable conduct and that the 

current law was not adequate. It then set out 

in the additional comments that there is a 

need for a statutory list of examples that 

constitute unconscionable conductðwhich is 

consistent with this bill, I believeðthat there 

is a need for a prohibition against bullying, 

intimidation, physical force, coercion and 

undue harassment and that there is a need for 

a statutory definition of the statutory duty of 

good faith as well as a legislative framework 

to deal with unfair contract terms in business 

relationships involving small businesses. 

That is something that the coalition signed 

up to three years ago. Senator Eggleston, 

Senator Bushby, Senator Joyce and I signed 

up for that. 

Another way to put the question to 

Senator Sherry is this: will these amend-

ments in terms of unconscionable conduct 

broaden the operation of the section? 

Senator SHERRY (TasmaniaðMinister 

Assisting on Deregulation and Public Sector 

Superannuation, Minister for Small Business 

and Minister Assisting the Minister for 

Tourism) (11:55):  The amendments, as I 

have mentioned both in the committee stage 

and in the second reading stage, are intended 

to provide clarity and are based on case law. 

You did indicate that you were asking the 

question in another wayð 

Senator Xenophon:  It's a different 

question. 

Senator SHERRY:  Oh, it is a different 

question? Okay. I cannot add to comments I 

have stated here in the committee stage and 

the second reading stage so far. 

Senator XENOPHON (South Australia) 

(11:56):  I appreciate the minister's 

frankness. If the government is unable to say 

whether this will broaden the operation of 
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the section, you need to query what the 

benefit of these amendments will be. If it is 

simply restating the position of the case law 

then it is the status quo. It is just a bit of 

window dressing for the current operation of 

laws relating to unconscionable conduct. I 

think the government has set out why it does 

not accept the need for a statutory definition 

of unconscionable conduct but, if it cannot 

say that it will broaden the operation of the 

section, to what extent does it consider that 

there may be a gap in the law in the absence 

of a statutory definition? Isn't it better to 

have a statutory definition as to what the 

government is intending to do? I accept that 

the intentions of the government with respect 

to this legislation are good ones, but I worry 

that effectively the status quo will remain as 

is. 

Senator SHERRY (TasmaniaðMinister 

Assisting on Deregulation and Public Sector 

Superannuation, Minister for Small Business 

and Minister Assisting the Minister for 

Tourism) (11:58):  I think we are just going 

to have to do agree to disagree. You have a 

conceptual approach that I think is best 

summed up as about the nature of 'broaden'. I 

have indicated that these amendments will 

strengthen and clarify. I understand your 

perspective. I do not necessarily agree with 

it, but I do understand it. You are seeking 

far-reaching broadening, if I can add to your 

descriptor. These changes are meant to 

strengthen and clarify. I do not think I can 

add any more to my earlier remarks. 

Senator XENOPHON (South Australia) 

(11:59):  by leaveðI move the amendments 

on sheet 7136: 

(1) Schedule 1, page 3 (after line 3), before 

item 1, insert: 

1AA  Subsection 50(1) 

 Omit "substantially", substitute "materially". 

(2) Schedule 1, page 3 (after line 5), after item 

1, insert: 

1A  Subsection 50(2) 

 Omit "substantially", substitute "materially". 

(3) Schedule 1, page 3 (after line 17), after 

item 3, insert: 

3A  Subsection 50(1) of Schedule 1 

 Omit "substantially", substitute "materially". 

These amendments are intended to lower the 

threshold by which mergers are considered 

by the ACCC. Under the current threshold a 

merger is only prohibited if it 'substantially' 

lessens competition. The use of the word 

'substantially' makes the threshold a very 

high one requiring the merged entity to 

exercise market power after the merger. 

Proving the existence of market power 

requires proof of an ability to raise prices 

without losing business. Very few businesses 

would have market power under the 

definition as it is effectively only a 

monopolist that would have the power to 

raise prices without losing business. 

Under the existing threshold relatively 

few mergers or acquisitions are stopped by 

the ACCC. Mergers and acquisitions reduce 

competition in the market and lead to higher 

levels of market concentration. A reduction 

in competition is detrimental to competition 

and consumers as it may lead to higher 

prices and reduced product choices. We need 

a stricter threshold for assessing mergers. 

Within this context the concept of materiality 

is adopted, as that is a commonly understood 

concept used in the accounting and business 

world to assess the impact of particular 

conduct or an event. In this context a merger 

will substantially lessen competition if it has 

or would have a noticeably adverse impact 

on competition by reducing in a material way 

the number of efficient independent 

competitors and the range of product choices 

available to consumers. 

That is at the heart of this. We need to do 

a lot better. In recent years too many mergers 

have been approved by the ACCC. The 
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ACCC does not have the legislative 

firepower to deal with these issues 

adequately. The threshold is simply too high 

under 'substantially'; 'materially' would 

remedy that. 

Senator SHERRY (TasmaniaðMinister 

Assisting on Deregulation and Public Sector 

Superannuation, Minister for Small Business 

and Minister Assisting the Minister for 

Tourism) (12:01):  I acknowledge and 

appreciate the concern of Senator Xenophon 

and the attention he has paid to this issueð

as has Senator Ryan. I recall a significant 

number of discussions about this at Senate 

estimates. We are dealing with substituting 

the word 'substantially' with 'materially'. The 

detailed and principled approach that Senator 

Xenophon is proposing reflects what is 

known as his trade practices Richmond 

amendment bill. I do note we are developing 

a trend to name amendments in this area 

after geographic locations based on where 

proposals are drafted or communicated. But 

that is by the by. I am not sure which 

Richmond this isðI know a number of 

Richmonds. 

Senator Xenophon:  I can clarify that 

right now. 

Senator SHERRY:  Thank you. As I 

have said, the proposal is to change the test 

to 'material' lessening of the competition, as 

reflected in Senator Xenophon's earlier bill. 

That bill was referred to the Senate 

Economics Legislation Committee for 

inquiry. The majority reportðboth 

government and oppositionðrecommended 

against the passage of the bill with this 

approach contained in it. The concept of 

substantially lessening competition has been 

part of section 50 since 1993. It is well 

established and understood by the courts, the 

ACCC, business and consumers. 

The concept of 'substantially' is 

interpreted by the courts to mean 'that the 

effect of the acquisition be 'meaningful or 

relevant' to the competitive process'. 

Australia's SLC test for mergers is consistent 

with merger laws in many other OECD 

countries, including the US, Canada, the UK 

and New Zealand. What is proposedð

effectively the Richmond amendmentð

could have the effect of moving Australia out 

of line with international practice. It would 

make significant changes to Australia's 

merger law that are likely to have substantial 

and unintended consequences. 

Consistent with our previous position, as 

enunciated in the Senate Economics 

Legislation Committee and the response to 

considering what is known as the Richmond 

bill, the government is unable to support the 

amendments that Senator Xenophon has 

presented. 

Senator MILNE  (TasmaniaðDeputy 

Leader of the Australian Greens) (12:04):  In 

the interests of time I did not choose to make 

a second reading contribution so I will 

quickly sum up where we are coming from 

with this legislation and Senator Xenophon's 

amendments. I note that the concluding 

comments of the Parliamentary Library's 

Bills Digest say: 

Given the history of reviews and the Rudd 

Governmentôs commitment to implement a 

ócreeping acquisitionsô law óas a matter of 

urgencyô, it might seem that the amendments to 

the merger provisions proposed by the Bill are an 

anti-climax. Descriptions of the amendments as 

ówindow dressingô or ópragmaticô would also 

appear to be apt. These minor amendments 

largely reflect the ACCCôs current interpretation 

of the existing law and are unlikely to have any 

substantial effect on merger analysis in the future. 

Similarly with the unconscionable conduct 

provisions. The Federal Government has been 

under pressure for some time to strengthen these 

prohibitions and the Bill purports to finally 

address these calls. The changes are, in fact, 

relatively minor. Their real effect seems likely to 

be minimal and they are not expected to have a 
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substantial impact in practice. However there are 

other reforms happening at this time including the 

amendments to the Franchising Code of Conduct 

... 

It goes on to say that they might have a 

collective impact. I think the reality is, as 

Senator Sherry has just outlined, that the 

word 'substantially' is understood in case law 

on this legislation. It is true that it is 

consistent with legislation in the UK, the US, 

Canada and New Zealand and it has been 

part of case history and case law in Australia 

since 1993. There is a concern that if the 

word were changed to 'materially' the gov-

ernment would be arguing that 'substantially' 

and 'materially' mean the same, because this 

is to be seen as only a clarification, not a 

change. So the government would argue that 

'substantially' and 'materially' are the same. 

However, if 'substantially' were changed in 

the legislation, people would come back, in 

relation to all those cases since 1993, saying, 

'Where does that leave us?' The difference 

between 'substantially' and 'materially' would 

need to be tested in the courts. We could end 

up with a bit of a process in the courts, in the 

making of that determination. Although 

Senator Xenophon says that 'materially' is 

understood to be a lesser threshold than 

'substantially', there would be a legal 

argument as to whether that was the case 

and, if it was the case, at what point would 

'materially' kick in as opposed to the stronger 

definition that is 'substantially'. It is for that 

reason that the Greens will not support 

Senator Xenophon's amendments: they lead 

to that unresolved question of the difference 

between 'materially' and 'substantially'. I do 

not want to bring into play at this time that 

which has already been dealt with. I also 

want the legislation to stay consistent with 

international law and with other countries' 

laws and experience. 

The other comment I will make, quickly, 

is that the ACCC is under different 

leadership. It is quite clear from that new 

leadership that the ACCC intends to take a 

more assertive position in relation to mergers 

and so on, and that it wants to become a little 

more proactive. I am concerned that making 

this change now might in some way 

complicate the opportunity that exists for a 

more aggressive and assertive role for the 

ACCC in this space. I support the ACCC's 

new leadership's stated position of taking a 

more assertive position in this area. I do not 

want to complicate those matters. That is 

why the Greens will not be supporting 

Senator Xenophon's amendments. 

However, I say to the government that, 

while it is says this clarifies things, the 

Parliamentary Library's assessment suggests 

it is extremely minor and does not really 

make any substantial change. The Greens 

agree with Senator Xenophon that we need 

substantial change. If the ACCC's attempts 

to use the law as it currently stands in a more 

assertive and proactive way fail, because the 

law turns out to restrict the ACCC's ability to 

do so, I will be very happy to be back here 

supporting a much more substantial 

intervention. At this stage we support the 

minor amendment that the government is 

proposing but will not support Senator 

Xenophon's amendment. I will say that this 

is a space that we are all going to be 

watching with a very interested eye so as to 

see how the ACCC proceeds in the next 12 

months. 

Senator RYAN (Victoria) (12:10): I rise 

to outline that the coalition will not be 

supporting Senator Xenophon's amendments. 

The consequences of moving from 

'substantially' to 'materially' may be 

significant. It is our view that those issues 

should be considered as part of the root-and-

branch review of the competition act that we 

have proposed. Senator Xenophon, I know 

that you have a very good productive 

relationship with the shadow minister, Mr 
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Billson, as you do with me. I know that he is 

keen to continue these discussions with you. 

But at this stage, that slight change of words 

needs to come from an evidence based 

assessment. The coalition will not support 

the amendments. 

Senator SHERRY (TasmaniaðMinister 

Assisting on Deregulation and Public Sector 

Superannuation, Minister for Small Business 

and Minister Assisting the Minister for 

Tourism) (12:11):  I thank Senator Milne for 

her contribution. She makes two very 

reasonable points. In noting that, I have been 

present on one occasion when the new head 

of the ACCC, Mr Simsðthis was in the 

context of franchising law, on which there 

has been some recent improvement in 

dispute resolution and a range of other 

changesðindicated the ACCC's renewed 

interest in applying the upgraded franchising 

area of the legislation and devoting more 

attention to that. I will not go to other issues 

of franchising reform, but I do note that. I 

think it is an important consideration. I 

accept Senator Milne's caveat that, in 

supporting these amendments today, the 

Greens will be keeping a close eye on 

developments as they emerge from the focus 

of the ACCC. 

Senator XENOPHON (South Australia) 

(12:13):  I am grateful for the comments 

made by my colleagues. In relation to those 

of Senator Milne: it is fair enough for her to 

say, by referring to the Bills Digestðthe 

objective analysis of legislation, if you like, 

that we receive hereðthat it is about 

clarification and could be seen to be window 

dressing. I am disappointed that the 

Australian Greens cannot support the 

amendment at this time, but at least they are 

keeping the door open. I do acknowledge 

that there has been a change of guard at the 

ACCC, and that Mr Rod Sims, the new 

chairman, has taken a different approach. 

The statements he has made to date have 

been encouraging. The way in which he has 

approached evidence at Senate estimates 

hearings is refreshing. I welcome that, but I 

still think we are not giving the ACCC the 

powers it needs to deal with this adequately. 

When it comes to issues of mergers and 

acquisitions, let us put this in perspective. 

Senator John Williams is in the chamber. I 

thought his contribution and a question he 

put to Mr Sims during a Senate estimates 

hearing not so long ago were telling. Senator 

Williams basically askedðI am sure he will 

correct me if I misquote himðhow is it that 

in the last 30 years, the last generation, we 

have had a situation where Coles and 

Woolworths have gone from a 40 per cent 

market share between the two of them to 

something like an 80 per cent market share? 

That is an exponential increase. How is that 

good for competition? How is that good for 

suppliers down the supply chain? How is that 

good for wholesalers? How is it good for 

consumers that they have so little choice in 

this country? And how is it good that we 

have two big gorillas in the room when it 

comes to our grocery sector? You even have 

multinationals, such as Heinz, saying: 'This 

is killing us in terms of food processing. This 

is actually squeezing us out of the 

marketplace because of the conduct of those 

two.'  

Our current laws are not good enough and 

that is why we need a change from 

'substantially' to 'materially'. I am grateful to 

the Minister for Small Business for 

mentioning the Richmond amendment 

because I was going to get to it. The 

Richmond amendment is named after the 

location of the United service station at 128 

Marion Road Richmond West in South 

Australiaða service station run for many 

years by William and Samira Fares. This is a 

small family businessða business where 

they put in hard work, do great mechanical 

work and serve petrol, and they are salt of 
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the earth people. They have worked their 

guts out to build up that business, and what 

happens? Woolworths decides to set up an 

outlet right next door to themðblocking the 

view of oncoming traffic to their service 

stationðto compete with them in a way that 

is not fair; to compete with them with their 

huge buying power in a way that cannot 

allow a level playing field. 

It is an issue that I raised directly with 

Michael Luscombe, the former CEO of 

Woolworths, and he was good enough to 

meet with me in Sydney last year about this. 

I put to himðI do not think he would mind 

me saying thisð'If you say that they can 

compete then why don't you let the Fares, in 

their United service station at 128 Marron 

Road Richmond West in South Australia, 

access petrol at the same price you can 

access petrol?' There are days when the 

wholesale price that William and Samira 

Fares pay for their petrol is higher than the 

price that Woolworths is retailing it for. How 

can that be fair? We need to remedy that. We 

need to give small businesses in this country 

are fighting chance. 

I have small businessesðI am not going 

to do anything to identify themðcome to my 

office, and they are even reluctant to be seen 

to walking into my office. They tell me, 'If 

we make a complaint to the ACCC about 

what Woolworths and Coles are doing to us, 

about the conditions they sometimes put on 

us, such as they suddenly want ten tonnes of 

a particular vegetable at a certain price'ð

which is below the cost of production for 

these businessesð'and we do not do it, then 

that will be the end of their relationship with 

us.' You also have small businesses setting 

up a business model that is based on having 

Coles and Woolworths as their main buyer, 

and they say, 'There's no point going to the 

ACCC because if we make a complaint we're 

finished.' If these things are happening then 

we need to do something about mergers in 

this country, we need to do something about 

increasing competition, and we need to do 

something about small businesses having a 

fighting chance. 

That is why I have moved this 

amendment. I am grateful to the Greens for a 

least keeping the door open. Senator 

Madigan has told me privately, and he may 

want to make a contribution on behalf of the 

DLP, that he will be supporting this 

amendment. So we will be dividing on this 

amendment. I would urge Senator Williams, 

if he is able, to at least keep the door open to 

this and to at least consider supporting this. 

We need to do something better. We need 

to have a situation where the laws of this 

nation work for the small business sector 

and, in turn, for consumers. As for the 

references that have been made to other 

countries not going to 'materially', in the 

United StatesðI am grateful for the work 

that Senator Williams has done on thisðthey 

have got the Robinson-Patman Act where 

you cannot have anyone having more than 20 

per cent of the market. You do not have a 

situation there where two supermarket chains 

control 80 per cent of the dry grocery market 

as in this country. They have got legislative 

safeguards. They may not have the word 

'materially' in some of those jurisdictions, 

but they have got other pieces of legislation 

that gives a semblance of protection to small 

business. That is what the key to this is.  

I note that Senator Ryan, on behalf of the 

coalition, says that he is not supporting this. 

Senator Ryan and I have disagreements 

about the marketplace, but I have a 

genuinely good work relationship with 

Senator Ryan. I do respect that he has got 

some intellectual firepower. I do not agree 

with his position on the $1 milk and the like. 

I say that genuinely; at least we can have a 

discussion about it. My plea to Senator Ryan, 

to the coalition, to the Greens and to the 



9660 SENATE Friday, 25 November 2011 

 

 

CHAMBER 

government is: something has gone seriously 

wrong in this country when it comes to 

allowing the level of market concentration in 

so many industries. Associate Professor 

Frank Zumbo has assisted me with drafting 

the Richard amendment. He met the Fares; 

he spoke to them and he spoke to the 

Minister for Small Business, the Hon. Tom 

Koutsantonis, their local member. One good 

thing that has come out of the meeting that 

we had at Richmond West a year and a half 

ago is that there is now a Small Business 

Commissioner of South Australia, which 

Associate Professor Zumbo had a key role in 

creating. 

There are some small changes to 

franchising lawðI know that Senator Sherry 

is not ecstatic about thatðwhere small 

business, under a Labor government, I might 

add, will have a fighting chance. It is 

disappointing that the Liberal Party in South 

Australia oppose that. Let us do this right. 

Let us revisit this. I welcome Senator Milne's 

comments. I would urge my colleagues to 

think carefully about this amendment. There 

will be a division on it based on Senator 

Madigan's gracious support for this 

amendment. There is something seriously 

wrong in this country in the way that we 

have dealt with the big end of town and 

small businesses. 

Senator MADIGAN  (Victoria) (12:21):  

The DLP strongly supports Senator 

Xenophon's amendments. Thank you. 

The TEMPORARY CHAIRMAN 
(Senator Boyce):  The question is that 

amendments (1) to (3) on sheet 7136 be 

agreed to. 

The Senate divided. [12:26] 

(The Deputy PresidentðSenator Parry) 

Ayes.......................2 

Noes.......................37 

Majority .................35 

AYES 

Madigan, JJ Xenophon, N (teller) 

 

NOES 

Adams, J Back, CJ 

Bilyk, CL Bishop, TM 

Boyce, SK Brown, CL (teller) 

Brown, RJ Cameron, DN 

Cash, MC Colbeck, R 

Di Natale, R Edwards, S 

Faulkner, J Fawcett, DJ 

Feeney, D Fifield, MP 

Furner, ML Gallacher, AM 

Hanson-Young, SC Ludlam, S 

Ludwig, JW Marshall, GM 

McLucas, J Milne, C 

Moore, CM Parry, S 

Polley, H Pratt, LC 

Rhiannon, L Ryan, SM 

Sherry, NJ Siewert, R 

Sterle, G Thistlethwaite, M 

Urquhart, AE Waters, LJ 

Wright, PL  

 

Question negatived. 

Bill agreed to. 

Bill reported without amendments; report 

adopted. 

Third Reading 

Senator SHERRY:  I move: 

That this bill be now read a third time. 

Question agreed to. 

Bill read a third time. 

Human Rights (Parliamentary 

Scrutiny) Bill 2010 

Human Rights (Parliamentary 

Scrutiny) (Consequential Provisions) 

Bill 2010 

Second Reading 

Debate resumed on the motion: 

That these bills be now read a second time. 

Senator BRANDIS (Queenslandð

Deputy Leader of the Opposition in the 
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Senate) (12:30):  With at most an hour and 

20 minutes before the guillotine imposed by 

the government falls, we are now to proceed 

to consider the most important piece of 

human rights legislation before this 

parliament in 25 years. The Human Rights 

(Parliamentary Scrutiny) Bill 2010 is the 

most important human rights bill to be 

considered by the parliament since parlia-

ment passed the Human Rights and Equal 

Opportunity Commission Act 1986. It tells 

you everything you need to know about the 

government's lack of seriousness about 

human rights that this bill will not get a 

proper parliamentary debate. 

This bill is the ultimate outcome of the 

process initiated by the Attorney-General in 

2008 which led to the National Human 

Rights Consultation, conducted by Father 

Frank Brennan. I have with me a copy of the 

Brennan report, which was published in 

September 2009. It is a voluminous 

document running to more than 600 pages, 

including the appendices. After 10 months of 

work, more than 35,000 individual 

submissions by the people of Australia and 

66 community roundtables conducted at 52 

different locations, many of them in regional 

and remote Australia, and attended by 5,554 

different people, we get an hour and 20 

minutes to consider the matter. No Labor 

Party or Greens senator will ever be able to 

say, without lying to us, that they care about 

human rights, after the way in which they 

have treated with utter contempt the most 

important piece of human rights legislation 

in a quarter of a century. 

The coalition proposes amendments to 

this bill, to which I will refer in a moment. If 

those amendments were to be accepted, we 

would support the bill, because the core 

provision of the bill, the creation of a 

parliamentary human rights committee to 

scrutinise legislation from a human rights 

point of view, was an idea proposed to the 

Brennan inquiry by the coalitionðby me as 

the coalition's spokesman. In our submission 

to the Brennan inquiry, we had this to say. 

Having explained the many reasons why we 

considered a bill of rights was an inapprop-

riate vehicle to advance human rights in 

Australia, because it would relocate decision 

making from elected members of parliament 

to unelected judges, we proposed an 

alternative model that would locate human 

rights scrutiny at the heart of the legislative 

process. We said this: 

é the Opposition recommends that expanded 

Parliamentary scrutiny of legislation from a 

human rights point of view is a better alternative. 

The option we propose has the advantage of 

locating greater emphasis on human rights at the 

heart of the political system itself, while it is free 

of the potentially undemocratic consequences of 

placing unprecedented power to resolve 

essentially political questions in the hands of the 

judiciary. 

The core provisions of this bill adopt that 

idea. But unfortunately, because the bill 

overreaches by defining human rights in 

terms based not on Australian practice but on 

international instruments which are not part 

of Australian domestic law, we could not 

support the bill in its existing form, and 

therefore we offer amendments, to which I 

will return in a moment. 

Before I do, let me just say this. For us in 

the Liberal Party, the protection of human 

rights is core business. It is why we were 

formed. It is why we come to parliament 

every day. It is who we are. We are people 

dedicated to the promotion and advancement 

of the rights and freedoms of individual men 

and women. It was the philosophy espoused 

by our great founder, Sir Robert Menzies, in 

his 'The Forgotten People' broadcasts in 1942 

and 1943, particularly when he spoke about 

the four freedoms, following President 

Roosevelt's identification of them. It was the 

sentiment which inspired the foundation 



9662 SENATE Friday, 25 November 2011 

 

 

CHAMBER 

document of the Liberal Party, our first 

federal platform, in 1944 and which inspired 

the document entitled We believe, which set 

out the core values of the Liberal Party. It 

was the belief that inspired Sir Robert 

Menzies when in 1954 he said: 

We believe in the individual, in his freedom, in 

his ambition, in his dignity. If he becomes 

submerged in the mass, and loses his personal 

significance, we have tyranny. 

And it was the belief that inspired Sir Robert 

Menzies when, in the last major public 

speech, to the Liberal Party Federal Council 

in 1964, in which he addressed broad 

philosophical themes, he said: 

As the etymology of our name "Liberal" 

indicates, we have stood for freedom. We have 

realised that men and women are not just ciphers 

in a calculation é 

é é é 

We have learned that the right answer is to set the 

individual free, to aim at equality of opportunity, 

to protect the individual against oppression, to 

create a society in which rights and duties are 

recognized and made effective. 

If you go to the Liberal Party's website today 

you will see in a statement of its beliefs that 

same sentiment. The opening words of that 

mission statement are these: 'We believe in 

the inalienable rights and freedoms of all 

peoples.' 

So that is who we are. That is why we 

come to parliament. If we were to take them 

at face value, our Labor Party friends would 

probably say, 'We believe in a fair Australia. 

That is what inspires us.' If we were to take 

them at face value, our Greens colleagues 

would probably say, 'We got into politics 

because we wanted to protect the 

environment.' Our National Party friends 

would tell us, justly, that what inspires them 

is to protect the interests of people who live 

in regional and rural Australia. But for us 

Liberals, why we are involved in politics is 

because we want to build a society based on 

respect for the rights and freedom and 

dignity of every individual man and woman. 

So we are the human rights party. 

I believe the greatest intellectual failure of 

my side of politics in the 20th century was to 

cede the language of human rights to parties 

of the Left, because parties of the left do not 

believe inðthey are not inspired by a 

philosophy based on concern for the rights of 

individual men and women. They are 

inspired by sectional philosophies. They are 

inspired by a class based view of society. 

They are inspired by a view that the interests 

of the collective prevail over the rights of the 

individual. We in the Liberal Party are 

inspired by a belief that the rights and 

freedoms of the individual prevail, that 

wherever possible they ought to be 

maximised. Wherever possible, legislation 

and government ought not to interfere with 

them. That is the core philosophical 

difference between us on the Liberal side of 

the chamber and those on the Labor side of 

the chamber and their affiliated parties of the 

Left. 

That was an insight that was shared by 

many writers in the 20th century. Nobody 

saw it better, by the way, than the great 

George Orwell, who saw that the rhetoric of 

the Left in talking about human rights was 

denied by the reality of their political 

practice; that the spirit of authoritarianism, 

not the concern for the freedom of individual 

men and women, was what ultimately 

inspired the so-called progressive parties of 

the Left. 

Given our intellectual lineage, given our 

proud tradition, given that the core 

provisions of this bill were actually the 

product of our minds, we want to support 

this bill. If the opposition's amendments are 

to be carried, we will support it. 

Unfortunately, the way in which the 

government has drafted the bill makes it 
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impossible for us to support it in its current 

form. There is one particular vice in this 

billðI know my friend Senator Michaelia 

Cash is going to have a little bit more to say 

about this topic in her contribution to this 

debateðand that is in the definition of 

human rights in clause 3 of the bill. In the 

current clause 3 of the bill, human rights are 

defined in these words: 

human rights means the rights and freedoms 

recognised or declared in the following 

international instrumentsð 

and then there are seven international treaties 

listed. 

In most cases, we in the opposition have 

no difficulty with the provisions of, for 

example, the International Covenant on Civil 

and Political Rights or the Convention on the 

Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination 

against Women. We support them, but there 

are elements of those treaties that are not part 

of Australian domestic law. We find it 

beyond absurd that a government wanting to 

instate a human rights standard for Australia 

would have no regard to existing Australian 

law and the human rights protections 

contained in Australian law, and base its 

entire adumbration of human rights standards 

on international instruments which are not 

part of Australian law. Not only that, but also 

for a more technical legal reason, we have a 

deep concern about it because if these 

instruments were to be the basis of this very 

important piece of human rights legislation 

then, following a line of authorities in the 

High Court commencing with the infamous 

Teoh case, it is entirely possible that we 

could see a result in which these inter-

national instruments are incorporated into 

Australian law by the back door without any 

parliamentary deliberation or scrutiny 

whatsoever. That would be an extremely 

radical change to our law. 

So we offer an amendment to replace the 

definition of human rights in the bill with 

this definition: 

Human rights means the personal rights and 

liberties which exist under (a) the Australian 

Constitution, (b) acts of the parliaments of the 

Commonwealth, states and territories, (c) the 

common law, and (d) relevant international 

instruments to which Australia is a party and 

which have domestic application by Australian 

law. 

Therefore, it recognises every source of 

human rights that is recognised by the law of 

Australia, by laws that have either been 

passed through this parliament or the state 

and territorial parliaments, or are recognised 

in an admittedly piecemeal fashion in the 

Constitution, or which form part of the 

common law, or which have their source in 

international instruments which have been 

given force and effect in Australia by a 

decision of this parliament. Why would you 

not do that? Why would you, if you were 

serious about constructing effective and 

democratically validated human rights 

legislation, ignore the entirety of Australian 

law from the Constitution down and 

incorporate by reference a variety of 

international instruments, most of which do 

not have force and effect in Australian law? 

Let me finally say a word about the 

common law as a source of human rights. I 

can do no better than refer the Senate to the 

wonderful Bruce McPherson lecture given 

by the former Chief Justice of New South 

Wales, Justice Spigelman, at the University 

of Queensland on 10 March 2008 called 'The 

Common Law Bill of Rights', in which His 

Honour, a man of Labor Party background 

but one of Australia's most eminent jurists, 

made the case why so many of the rights that 

we enjoy today are to be found in the 

common law. Why would you junk 

Australian constitutional, statutory and 

common law and decide to identify and 
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define human rights exclusively by 

international instruments? We will be 

moving an amendment to correct that gross 

error. 

We will also be moving an amendment to 

remove from the bill the provision that 

requires ministers to publish with legislation 

a statement of compatibility so as to in effect 

certify that the bill is compatible with human 

rights standards. Since the core work of this 

billðthat is, part 2, which establishes a 

parliamentary human rights committeeðis 

to give the parliament the task of deciding 

for itself whether legislation is human rights 

compliant and, to the extent to which there 

may be a departure, whether that departure is 

in the circumstances justifiable or excusable, 

why would you allow the executive govern-

ment the power to certify? Our concern is 

that by allowing the executive government, 

through the minister, the power to certify 

that an individual piece of legislation is 

human rights compatible, you actually defeat 

the very purpose of the bill, the very purpose 

of the idea put to the Brennan committee on 

behalf of the opposition by myself, to locate 

at the heart of the legislative process human 

rights compliance. 

As we know, when parliamentary hearings 

are held it is very commonplace for public 

servants from the relevant departments to 

appear as the last witnesses before a hearing 

so that, if the department has views on these 

issues, in the ordinary course of events those 

views will be heard anyway. To allow the 

minister this in effect bootstrap power to 

self-certify human rights compliance 

relocates the power, or at least shares the 

power, between the legislative arm and the 

executive arm of government. It should lie 

exclusively within the province of the 

legislative branch of government to conduct 

this inquiry and make these determinations. 

In closing, we urge those opposite who 

piouslyðand, I am bound to concede, in 

some cases with sincerityðclaim to be 

supporters and champions of human rights to 

see the wisdom of our amendments, not to 

use this bill as in effect a trojan horse for an 

unlegislated, undemocratic bill of rights by 

default. Embrace the core principle of the 

billðthat is, to locate the scrutiny of 

legislation from a human rights point of view 

at the heart of the parliamentary processð

and by so doing elevate this parliament's 

capacity to give effect to human rights 

standards governed not by what other 

countries say but by what we, through our 

democratic processes, have recognised as the 

various sources of the rights we undoubtedly 

enjoy. 

Senator HANSON-YOUNG (South 

Australia) (12:49):  The Australian Greens 

are committed to Australia fully discharging 

its international human rights obligations at 

home and abroad. This means greater 

international respect for and protection of 

human rights and a stronger international 

machinery for the protection of human 

rights, such as the United Nations Human 

Rights Council and the United Nations treaty 

bodies. The Human Rights (Parliamentary 

Scrutiny) Bill 2010 and the Human Rights 

(Parliamentary Scrutiny) (Consequential 

Provisions) Bill 2010 are a welcome first 

step towards human rights protection, but I 

must also point out that it is disappointing 

that the government has fallen short of 

meeting community expectations by failing 

to introduce a human rights act. 

After months and months of consultation 

in relation to this issue, it was very clear that 

the majority of community feedback was 

indeed in support of a human rights act. This 

was an opportunity to extend to all 

Australians meaningful and practical 

protection. Unfortunately it has been missed 

by this piece of legislation; it is a missed 
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opportunity. Australia is the only Western 

democracy that does not guarantee the 

consideration of our human rights by the 

government, the parliament or the courts 

through an effective federal constitution or 

statutory mechanism such as a human rights 

act. 

More often than not, human rights are 

inextricably linked to human dignity. In the 

cases of refugees and their families, those 

experiencing mental illness and other health 

issues, the aged or Indigenous peoples, these 

rights cannot be removed from their basic 

human dignity. The implementation of a 

human rights act would substantially 

enhance our democracy and grant many 

Australians the human dignity expected in 

our liberal democracy. We note that the 

government has committed to reviewing 

Australia's human rights framework in 2014. 

We urge that the terms of reference of this 

review include consideration of a human 

rights act. 

Senator Brandis has just spoken about the 

coalition's concerns in relation to the 

definition of human rights outlined in clause 

3(1) of this bill. The Greens too have serious 

concerns in relation to how restrictive this 

definition is. It is unnecessarily narrow. The 

definition is restrictive, with rights being 

clearly limited to only those in the seven 

international instruments listed. This is a 

mistake. The definition should be more 

encompassing than the minimum obligations 

set out by our international commitments. It 

should take into consideration the purpose of 

these protections. 

Submissions to the inquiry into this 

legislation pointed out that there are multiple 

other international sources of rights which 

the bill could have been expanded to 

includeðfor example, but not limited to, the 

Convention Relating to the Status of 

Refugees; conventions of the International 

Labour Organisation, to which Australia is a 

party; and the UN Declaration on the 

Elimination of Intolerance and of Discrim-

ination Based on Religion and Belief. The 

UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous 

Peoples is not included in this bill's list, nor 

are the International Convention on the 

Protection of the Rights of All Migrant 

Workers and Members of Their Families, the 

International Convention for the Protection 

of All Persons from Enforced Disappear-

ance, which is not yet in force but something 

we are looking at, the optional protocol to 

the convention against tortureðthe list goes 

on. These are all conventions and treaties 

which have not been picked up by this 

legislation, and that is a mistake. 

I am particularly concerned, as many of 

you would not be surprised to hear, that the 

Convention Relating to the Status of 

Refugees has been deliberately left out of 

this list. It seems ludicrous, at a time when 

legislation in relation to people smugglers, 

asylum seekers or the idea of dumping 

vulnerable people offshoreðout of sight, out 

of mindðis coming before this place on a 

regular basis, that this legislation will not 

enable these issues to be considered through 

our obligations under the refugee 

convention. When the purpose of the 

proposed joint committee is to assess the 

human rights compatibility of legislation 

before it, excluding key international rights 

from its scope is not only inappropriate but 

also inconsistent with basic human rights 

principles. Expanding the list to include 

human rights treaties to which Australia is 

already a signatory would allow for 

consideration of a broader range of human 

rights issues when developing legislation. 

The Australian Greens disagreed with the 

majority committee report with regard to the 

definition of human rights. I spoke at various 

Senate hearings in relation to this and my 

report into this bill stands as a record. Given 
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the broad dissatisfaction with the definition 

amongst submissions, we do not believe the 

definition is an appropriate initial reference 

point. It is truly ironic that two years after 

this legislation was flagged the political 

climate is such that we have a government 

currently attempting to dismiss our 

obligations under protocols and conventions 

such as the refugee convention. While the 

Greens recognise that the passage of this 

legislation is extremely important and will 

therefore not be opposing it, we remain very 

concerned that the Convention Relating to 

the Status of Refugees and the Convention 

on the Rights of the Child are not explicitly 

listed. 

The role of this bill is to give some 

direction to the parliamentary joint 

committeeða broad mandate. In order for 

the proposed committee to be effective, the 

bill should provide some guidance in respect 

of non-absolute or derogable human rights. 

The Greens agree with the recommendation 

of the National Human Rights Consultation 

report that the same limitations with regard 

to derogable rights set out in the Victorian 

and ACT human rights statutes should apply 

federally. Section 7(2) of the Charter of 

Human Rights and Responsibilities Act 2006 

in Victoria states: 

A human right may be subject under law only to 

such reasonable limits as can be demonstrably 

justified in a free and democratic society based on 

human dignity, equality and freedom, and taking 

into account all relevant factors includingð 

(a) the nature of the right; and 

(b) the importance of the purpose of the 

limitation; and 

(c) the nature and extent of the limitation; and 

(d) the relationship between the limitation and its 

purpose; and 

(e) any less restrictive means reasonably available 

to achieve the purpose that the limitation seeks to 

achieve. 

In the absence of a federal human rights act, 

these limitations should be provided to the 

joint committee as guidance for their 

deliberations and reports. 

It is desirable for the Australian 

parliamentary joint committee to have 

powers comparable to the UK House of 

Lords and House of Commons Joint 

Committee on Human Rights. These include, 

but are not limited to, the power to initiate 

inquiries into issues raised in findings of 

United Nations treaty bodies and special 

procedures of the UN Human Rights 

Council, such as reports of special 

rapporteurs, working groups and findings 

under the universal periodic review process. 

If all this committee is going to do is look at 

legislation that the government deems 

appropriate then it is missing a big part of the 

role that it could be playing. In the absence 

of this government's commitment to intro-

ducing a human rights act, at least giving the 

committee an ability to expand its role is 

something that many of those who submitted 

to this long review and consultation process 

would be happy to see taken on board. 

I am pleased that the Attorney-General 

has agreed to consider, as part of the 2014 

review, the ability to grant additional powers 

of inquiry to the parliamentary joint 

committee. My point is that this could have 

been included in the bill before us today. 

Inquiring into and reporting on any matter 

relating to human rights referred by either 

house of parliament and inquiring into and 

reporting on any matter relating to human 

rights that it sees fit is something this 

committee should be doing. Let's not just see 

this committee as a rubber stamp for the 

government of the day. It will not achieve 

the objective of human rights being 

considered by our parliament in deciding and 

deliberating on the legislation that comes 

before it. 
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The effectiveness of the statements of 

compatibility will rely on their form and 

their timeliness. The Australian Greens 

understand and welcome the Attorney-

General's commitment to ensuring that all 

statements of compatibility are laid on the 

table around the same time as the EM. We 

understand the statements of compatibility 

would have the same weight in statutory 

interpretation as that currently granted to 

explanatory memoranda and will provide 

guidance to the judiciary about the 

parliament's intent. These statements should 

be drafted to a minimum standard to ensure 

they are effective. The Greens welcome the 

Attorney-General's response to some of the 

recommendations from the committee 

process. I would also of course like to hear 

the minister, or the minister representing the 

minister, in summing up the second reading 

debate, confirm the commitments that have 

been made. While we believe that this bill 

does not go far enough, we recognise the 

importance of finally implementing 

legislation following the long-awaited 

national consultation on human rights. 

The consultation panel received thousands 

and thousands of submissions and the 

majority expressed the belief that Australia 

should have a human rights act. This 

legislation goes nowhere near developing or 

initiating a human rights act. The work is not 

yet done and, I would argue, this is just one 

very small step. I urge the government not to 

think that they can tick this off their list and 

move on. At the next federal election, it 

would be wonderful to see more than just 

one party go to the electorate with a policy 

for a human rights act. 

Senator CROSSIN (Northern Territory) 

(13:01):  The Human Rights (Parliamentary 

Scrutiny) Bill 2010 and the Human Rights 

(Parliamentary Scrutiny) (Consequential 

Provisions) Bill 2010, which establish the 

Parliamentary Joint Committee on Human 

Rights, came before the Senate Legal and 

Constitutional Affairs Legislation 

Committee, which I chair. I will very briefly 

cover the background to and the two main 

issues in this legislation. 

As Senator Brandis outlined, this 

legislation arises out of the work of the 

Brennan committee, chaired by Father Frank 

Brennan AO. That committee looked at 

questions such as whether or not we should 

have a human rights act or a human rights 

charter in this country and how we should 

deal with legislationðhow we should go 

about assessing whether it does or does not 

comply with our human rights obligations. 

The Brennan committee undertook extensive 

consultations right around this country. They 

were tasked with seeking the views of 

Australians on three key questions: which 

human rights should be protected and 

promoted, whether those human rights are 

currently sufficiently protected and how we 

might better protect those human rights. 

To cut a long story short, the committee 

presented their report to the government in 

2009 and made 31 recommendations. There 

were three main things the committee said 

should be done. The first was that there 

should be a federal human rights act based 

on the dialogue model. The second was that 

legislation should be accompanied by 

statements of compatibility with Australia's 

human rights obligations. The third was that 

a joint committee on human rights should be 

established to review all bills and legislative 

instruments.  

What we have before us is not a human 

rights act. However, this legislation 

implements the other two main recom-

mendationsðthe introduction of statements 

of compatibility for bills and legislative 

instruments and the establishment of a new 

joint parliamentary committee. A fourth leg 

of the Brennan committee's recom-
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mendations was that the functions of the 

Human Rights Commission should be 

expanded to include the examination of bills 

at the request of the proposed joint 

committee on human rights. That is not 

included in the legislation before us today, 

but I think it will become part of the new 

committee's mandate to pursue that issue.  

This will be a new joint parliamentary 

committee. No doubt it will take some time 

to find its feet. During the inquiry there was 

a lot of discussion about, and in our 

recommendations we have examined a range 

of issues relating to, whether or not this 

committee should operate like the Senate 

Standing Committee for the Scrutiny of 

Bills. Should it have matters referred to it or 

should it be able to itself determine what it 

looks at? Should it just be restricted to 

legislation that comes before it? Should it 

have the ability to write to the minister and 

seek clarification or should it just look at 

legislation and compile a statement of 

compatibility and that is it? Should it report 

to both houses of parliament or to only one 

house of parliament or should it report only 

to the minister? All of those issues were 

discussed by the Senate committee. For those 

people who are interested, the committee's 

consideration of those issues is summarised 

in the committee's report, magnificently put 

together by the secretariat.  

My committee has made a number of 

recommendations about the way it believes 

the new joint parliamentary committee 

should operate. We do not see those recom-

mendations reflected in this legislation 

because I think that would be too binding on 

the new committee. I think the new human 

rights committee has to get itself established, 

work out exactly how it is going to operate, 

work out exactly what its role is and start to 

do the work. What we have suggested is that 

the committee should, after 12 months, have 

a look at how it is going and have a look at 

the definition of human rightsðessentially 

self-assess whether it is achieving what this 

legislation sets out to achieve. I do not think 

this legislation sets in stone what this 

committee should do for ever and a day. It is 

to be a new committee. We are going into 

uncharted waters. We are stepping outside 

the scrutiny of bills and making the terms of 

reference a lot broader. I think that this 

committee should be able toðand will, 

hopefully, if it is performing effectivelyð

undertake what is, in effect, an action 

research project on itself. It should 

continually self-assess and modify and 

improve what it is doing.  

There are two contentious issues here, as 

alluded to by Senator Brandis. I think that 

Senator Brandis personally does not want to 

go anywhere near a legislative instrument for 

human rights in this country and that perhaps 

his personal judgment has clouded the view 

of the opposition. There are two essential 

areas of disagreement that we are dealing 

with today. One is that this legislation covers 

seven core United Nations human rights 

treaties. There was a lot of debate in the 

committee about whether it should be seven, 

whether it should more than seven, as 

Senator Hanson-Young proposed, or whether 

it should be none at all. I have a lot of time 

for former senator Barney Cooney and 

former senator Michael Tate, who gave 

evidence before our committee. Former 

senator Barney Cooney was of the view that 

the committee should have a wide ambit like 

the Scrutiny of Bills Committee, which looks 

at reversal of the onus of proof, a Henry VIII 

clause, retrospectivity. Those are very black 

and white issues, but he still had the view 

that you instinctively know what a breach of 

human rights is and that perhaps senators and 

members on that committee should have no 

parameters, no paradigm, and should 

instinctively know whether or not legislation 

is right. He had the view that the Scrutiny of 
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Bills Committee has much more superiority 

and much more leniency than what was 

being prescribed for this committee. I think 

people would find his and former senator 

Michael Tate's comments, which are in the 

Hansard, interesting to read. 

The other key issue is the definition of 

human rights, whether it is too prescriptive, 

whether limiting this committee to the seven 

core treaties disregards the instincts of 

members of parliament about what is in 

breach of a human right and whether the 

proposed committee should combine with 

the Scrutiny of Bills Committee or remain 

separate. Essentially, the question is: what 

will this new Parliamentary Joint Committee 

on Human Rights actually do? 

The Legal and Constitutional Affairs 

Legislation Committee's view was that we 

welcomed the establishment of this 

committee, that it will provide a platform for 

Australian human rights discourse and that, 

at the end of the day, it should provide 

statements of compatibility. As I said, my 

committee was of the view that, because this 

is a new parliamentary committee, it should 

have the flexibility to develop and mature 

over the months and years and over the 

course of its review of legislation. We came 

to the view that those seven treaties were at 

least a way to start. 

While the establishment of this committee 

is not a charter or a human rights act, it is 

recognition of some of the issues and 

concerns that were raised during the 

dialogue. I fully understand that this matter 

has been a source of comprehensive debate 

in this country and that it polarises people. 

Do we have a human rights act or do we just 

set up a parliamentary committee or, some-

where in between, do we have a charter? 

This government has taken the view that a 

joint committee of this parliament will be 

established in the first instance. I hope that is 

not the end of the discussion and debate. I 

hope we can move towards at least having a 

charter of human rights in this country. But I 

am afraid that, unless we see some change of 

attitude in the opposition, any charter we 

establish may well be wound back, as we see 

the Liberals in coalition in Victoria are trying 

to do in that state at this time. 

I urge people to have a look at this report 

and the recommendations of our Senate 

committee, if they are interested in this 

dialogue. From my point of view I think this 

is a good place to start and I commend these 

two pieces of legislation to the parliament. 

Senator CASH (Western Australia) 

(13:11):  I too rise to speak on the Human 

Rights (Parliamentary Scrutiny) Bill 2010 

and the Human Rights (Parliamentary 

Scrutiny) (Consequential Provisions) Bill 

2010. I will commence my remarks on these 

two pieces of legislation by confirming what 

my colleague Senator Brandis has stated to 

this chamber. The Liberal Party is the party 

of human rights in Australia. We are the only 

political party represented in the Senate 

which was formed for the very purpose of 

protecting the rights and freedoms of 

individuals in this country. No other political 

party in this place can lay claim to that 

premise. In that regard, the Liberal Party has 

stated on the record that it agrees with the 

principal purpose of the legislation that is 

currently before this chamber, which is to 

create a parliamentary human rights com-

mittee. Indeed, much to the chagrin of the 

Labor Party, the proposal for such a 

parliamentary committee was the oppo-

sition's principal recommendation, as set out 

by shadow Attorney-General Senator George 

Brandis, to the National Human Rights 

Consultation which considered whether or 

not Australia should have a bill of rights. 

However, the legislation in its current 

form is completely unacceptable. We say 
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that it is unacceptable because it contains 

inappropriate material which would 

introduce into the consideration of Australian 

domestic law a variety of international 

instruments which the Australian parliament 

has itself not enacted. For the benefit of 

those people who are listening to today's 

broadcast, the Labor Party proposes by this 

legislation to define your human rights as an 

individual Australian as the rights and 

freedoms recognised or declared by seven 

core United Nations human rights treaties 

which, I reiterate, are not part of Australian 

domestic law and have not been enacted as 

such by the Australian parliament.  

For the benefit of those listening in, these 

are the treaties by which the Australian 

Labor Party says your human rights should 

be defined: the International Convention on 

the Elimination of All Forms of Racial 

Discrimination, the International Covenant 

on Civil and Political Rights, the 

International Covenant on Economic, Social 

and Cultural Rights, the Convention on the 

Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination 

against Women, the Convention against 

Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or 

Degrading Treatment or Punishment, the 

Convention on the Rights of the Child and 

the Convention on the Rights of Persons with 

Disabilities. That is it. Notwithstanding that 

the principal measure of this bill reflects the 

adoption of coalition policy, the coalition 

does not accept the definition of human 

rights in terms of the seven international 

instruments and the possible introduction by 

the back door of those instruments into 

Australian domestic law without the proper 

scrutiny of the Australian parliament. The 

government's proposed definition of human 

rights, in relying upon international 

instruments as a source of human rights law, 

overlooks completelyðas my colleague 

Senator George Brandis puts so eloquentlyð

the fact that the Australian Constitution, 

domestic statutes in this country and the 

common law in Australia are not only the 

true repositories of human rights in this 

country but also the rights routinely enforced 

by our courts. 

It is important that we understand the 

background of the bills we are currently 

debating. It is Labor Party policy, and it has 

been confirmed yet again by Senator 

Hanson-Young in her speech to this 

legislation that it is also the Greens' policy, 

to introduce a bill of rights in Australia. Both 

Labor and the Greens claim this is the best 

way to recognise and protect the human 

rights and freedoms enjoyed by all 

Australians. Senators will recall that in 2007 

the Labor Party committed to undertake 

public consultation on the issue as a 

precursor to introducing a bill of rights. 

Whilst this Labor Party policy was 

confirmed by the current Attorney-General 

in his speech on 3 October 2008, he changed 

the policy direction and gave the impression 

that he was watering it down by stating that 

this public consultation would focus on but 

not be limited to a statutory charter of human 

rights. 

The reason for this change in the policy 

direction of the Australian Labor Party and 

the impression of watering down the policy 

was in response to a significant number of 

ALP luminaries making it clear that a 

statutory bill of rights was a potential recipe 

for disaster and would weaken rather than 

strengthen human rights in Australia. I refer 

in particular to the former Premier of New 

South Wales the Hon. Bob Carr, who as long 

ago as 2001ð10 years agoðpublished an 

article in the winter 2001 issue of Policy, the 

journal of the Centre of Independent Studies, 

setting out his reasons for opposing a bill of 

rights. In 2008 Mr Carr was again out in the 

public domain warning the Labor Party of 

the folly of a statutory bill of rights or a 

charter of rights. Senators will also recall 
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that then New South Wales Labor Attorney-

General John Hatzistergos was vocal in his 

opposition to a bill of rights or a charter of 

rights, and was quoted in the Sydney 
Morning Herald in 2007 under the banner 

headline 'Attorney-General rejects charter of 

rights for NSW'. 

It is little wonder that the Australian 

Attorney-General, Mr McClelland, announ-

ced on 21 April 2010 that the Australian 

government would not introduce a charter of 

rights or a human rights act in the immediate 

term. However, it is important to recognise 

that the words 'in the immediate term' are 

and always will be Labor Party code for: 'We 

can't achieve a statutory bill of rights at the 

moment, so we will make some incremental 

progress by establishing a parliamentary 

joint committee on human rights. We will 

also incorporate our own Labor definitions 

on specific terms such as the meaning of 

human rights, notwithstanding that our 

proposed definition of human rights 

completely ignores the human rights that 

Australians currently enjoy under our 

domestic law. And then, having incorporated 

our own Labor definitions, we will tell the 

opposition that we are adopting their 

preferred policy option and we will not be 

pursuing a statutory bill of rights.' 

As senators will know, the Liberal Party 

has been opposed to a statutory bill of rights 

or a charter of rights for years. Again, the 

reasoning for our opposition can be found in 

the submission by the federal opposition to 

the National Human Rights Consultation in 

June 2009, which was authored by the 

shadow Attorney-General, Senator George 

Brandis SC. Senator Brandis, as our shadow 

Attorney-General, has spoken, and has also 

published a number of informative articles, 

on the folly of a statutory bill of rights. 

The debate to have or not to have a bill of 

rights enshrined in legislation has been the 

subject of considerable political, academic 

and community debate for a number of 

years. There are strongly held views on both 

sides of the debate and no consensus has 

appeared despite a wide-ranging debate over 

a very long period. I have indicated the 

views of two Labor luminaries who are 

opposed to a bill of rights being enshrined in 

legislation, and there are many more exam-

ples of prominent academics, politicians and 

community leaders who oppose the move. 

Given that the codification in legislation will 

have the effect of modifying our con-

stitutional rights in the area of human rights, 

the Australian community expects and has 

the right to expect that there be an alignment 

on the issues between the political parties. 

This has not occurred, and it would be 

divisive to impose such a significant change 

on the Australian community without 

political alignment on the issue. A statutory 

bill of rights will require the identification 

and codification of our existing rights in 

legislative form. Such codification will 

identify those rights to which we are 

presently entitled, but reducing them to 

legislative form will likely have a limiting 

effect on the application of those particular 

rights. 

There are many other facets of the 

argument to have or not to have a statutory 

bill of rights but, given the limited time 

available to me, it is sufficient to say that the 

Liberal Party, like so many in this country, 

opposes such a proposition. In respect of the 

legislation before the Senate, the opposition 

position is clear. We have said to the 

government that, given that we are opposed 

to a statutory bill of rights or a charter of 

rights, we are willing to acceptðand it is 

indeed our policy, as so eloquently stated by 

Senator Brandis, that we will acceptðthe 

current parliamentary committee. However, 

we will not accept the definition of 'human 

rights' as proposed by the Labor Party. We 
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have made it very clear that we do not accept 

the definition as drafted in part 1 and we will 

seek to amend the bill in committee to 

overcome these objections. In respect of part 

3 of the bill, we will seek to delete it from 

the bill. If the government rejects our 

amendments, we will be opposing the 

legislation in its present form. 

In the event that the bill does fail to 

achieve majority support before the Senate, I 

would argue that the Senate in any respect is 

still able to consider the issue of legislation 

and instruments adhering to human rights by 

relying on the terms of reference of the 

Senate Standing Committee for the Scrutiny 

of Bills. It should be obvious to senators that 

the terms of reference of the Senate Standing 

Committee for the Scrutiny of Bills provide a 

considerably wider scope of powers than the 

proposed powers of the Human Rights 

Subcommittee of the Joint Standing Com-

mittee on Foreign Affairs, Defence and 

Trade. I would argue that the scope of the 

terms of reference of the Senate Standing 

Committee for the Scrutiny of Bills as they 

apply to the issue of human rights enable the 

committee to traverse far wider considera-

tions than the proposed definition of human 

rights in clause 3 of the current bill. 

I would argue that the proposed definition 

of human rights in clause 3 directs the work 

of the Human Rights Subcommittee to a 

number of specific international instruments 

and fails to recognise that the source and 

substance of human rights law in Australia 

includes the Constitution, federal and state 

statute law, and the common law emanating 

from decisions of Australian courts. I would 

also suggest that the policy intent behind the 

current bill is based on a conscious decision 

by the Labor-Greens alliance to elevate UN 

treaties to the same status as Australian 

domestic laws, notwithstanding the fact that 

UN treaties are not the legislated law of any 

parliament of Australia and in most cases, as 

has been so eloquently put by Senator 

Brandis, have not been the subject of robust 

debate in this parliament. 

I would further argue that if this bill is 

agreed to in its present form it will require 

future legislation and instruments to be 

drafted having regard to the provisions of the 

seven UN treaties, as set out in clause 3, and 

further require the committee to ensure that 

future Australian legislation is aligned with 

the policy objectives and the provisions of 

those seven UN treaties. The intentional 

combining and fusing of UN treaties with 

Australian domestic law is sure to be fertile 

ground for pro-active human rights lawyers 

who will seek to exploit any gaps in the 

expanded area of human rights law which 

will undoubtedly occur as UN treaties and 

Australian domestic law are combined into 

one. 

Perhaps we will even see future appeals 

against ministerial decisions referred to a UN 

judicial body rather than the Australian High 

Court. I say that because many in this place 

will remember when the United Kingdom 

agreed to join the European Economic 

Community. It did so for what it believed 

were justifiable economic reasons. However, 

later, to the chagrin and alarm of some 

unsuspecting law-makers in the UK, they 

found out membership of the European 

Union brought with it a requirement to 

accept the supremacy of European law where 

there was a conflict between the laws of the 

member states and the European Union laws. 

The issue of potential supremacy of UN 

treaties over domestic law and the potential 

for appeals to be made to a foreign judicial 

authority is an area of law which should be 

of concern to all law-makers in Australia. 

It is also interesting to note that Labor 

senators on the Senate Legal and 

Constitutional Affairs Legislation Committee 

appeared to recognise that the definition of 
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human rights contained in the bill was so 

encompassing in its application and scope 

that they are leaning towards a review of the 

bill after a mere 12 months in operation. 

They also understand that there are flaws in 

relation to the way clause 3 of the bill is 

currently drafted. Those laws can only be 

amended by adopting the coalition's 

amendments in relation to the definition of 

human rights. 

The other area of concern for the coalition 

is part 3, which deals with statements of 

compatibility. Part 3 of the bill requires 

statements of compatibility to accompany 

proposed legislation. The coalition does not 

see the need for statements of compatibility. 

Their standing would be, at best, that of an 

explanatory memorandum or a second 

reading speech. There is also a risk that a 

declaration of compatibility, or incompati-

bility, by the minister might be regarded as 

conclusive when, in fact, it is merely the 

expression of the opinion of the executive 

government. The whole point of enhancing 

the parliament's ability to scrutinise the 

human rights impact of legislation is to 

empower the parliament rather than the 

executive; it is the opinion of the parliament, 

not the executive, that matters in deciding 

whether legislation is human rights 

compliant. It would also be more appropriate 

for the committee to inform itself of the 

opinion of the executive government than to 

create a procedure in which, in effect, the 

executive certifies a statute for compliance 

with human rights obligations and thereby 

pre-empts the deliberations of the parlia-

mentary committee itself. 

In closing, I reiterate that the Liberal Party 

is the party of human rights in Australia. We 

are the only political party represented in the 

Senate, as Senator Brandis has already 

stated, which was formed for the very 

purpose of protecting the rights and 

freedoms of individual Australians in this 

great country. No other party in this place 

can lay claim to that. 

The bill as it is currently drafted will not 

enhance the human rights of Australians. In 

fact, the bill overlooks the fact that the 

Constitution that Australians hold so dear, 

domestic statutes and common law are not 

only the true repositories of human rights in 

this country but also the rights that are 

routinely enforced by Australian courts. 

Human rights in Australia should not be 

measured in terms of international 

instruments being a source of human rights 

law, particularly when those international 

instruments have not been the source of 

robust debate in this parliament. For the 

reasons I have stated, if the coalition's 

agreements are not accepted we will not be 

supporting the bill. (Time expired)  

Senator PRATT  (Western Australia) 

(13:30):  I am pleased to speak on the 

Human Rights (Parliamentary Scrutiny) Bill 

2010 and related bill. The legislation is about 

a forum for greater parliamentary scrutiny of 

human rights and will establish a committee 

that will enable the early and ongoing 

consideration of human rights issues in 

policy and legislative development. 

The Labor government takes very 

seriously its obligation to human rights 

within this nation. On 21 April 2010, we 

launched Australia's Human Rights 

Framework and outlined many actions the 

government will take to protect and advance 

human rights. Personally, I support a human 

rights charter and I hope this is something 

we can look to in the future. While the 

framework does not include a human rights 

act or charter, the establishment of a new 

joint committee is a very significant step 

forward in protecting and promoting human 

rights in our nation. 

The human rights framework is based on 

five key principles: reaffirming a 
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commitment to Australia's human rights 

obligations; the significance of human rights 

education so that people can access their 

human rights; enhancing Australia's 

domestic and international engagement on 

human rights issues; improving human rights 

protections, including greater parliamentary 

scrutiny; and achieving greater respect for 

human rights principles within the 

community. 

Australians have a proud record on human 

rightsðbut it is a record that can and must 

be improved. We should recognise that not 

all people have the full enjoyment of the 

human rights that should be afforded to 

them. To advance human rights both here 

and abroad Australia is committed to a 

human rights framework. While the human 

rights of Australians are in part protected by 

the three principal sources of our lawðour 

Constitution, the common law and the 

statutes of both Commonwealth and state 

parliamentsðMr Nicholas Cowdery AM, 

QC of the Law Council of Australia says: 

Australia is the only Western democracy without 

an effective federal constitutional statutory mech-

anism to provide comprehensive parliamentary 

scrutiny of new and existing laws for compliance 

with human rights. The mechanisms proposed in 

these bills are, in our submission, an important 

step towards addressing this gap. 

Similarly, the Australian Human Rights 

Commission submitted that, in its view, the 

new joint committee 'will form an important 

mechanism at the parliamentary level to 

ensure that the human rights impact of 

legislation and delegated instruments [is] 

fully considered as part of the policy 

development process'. 

As someone who has been a participant in 

the Senate Standing Committee for the 

Scrutiny of Bills and indeed the inquiry 

carried out by the Senate Legal and 

Constitutional Affairs Legislation Com-

mittee, I do believe that the bill before us, in 

terms of access to international human rights 

instruments and debating human rights as 

opposed to just relying on the common law 

and law, is a great step forward. 

In addition to this important role of 

examining legislation, the Human Rights 

Subcommittee of the Joint Standing 

Committee on Foreign Affairs, Defence and 

Trade will advance participatory democracy 

through its ability to canvass public views 

and establish a dialogue between citizens and 

members of the committee on important 

human rights questions. I have been very 

pleased to participate in this through the 

Joint Standing Committee on Treaties, and I 

do think we can look to the work of that 

committee when considering how we might 

like our human rights parliamentary 

committee to work. The committee will work 

with reference to the rights and freedoms 

recognised or declared in seven core United 

Nations human rights treaties as they apply 

to Australia, and the new framework will 

require all bills to have a ministerial 

statement of human rights compatibility to 

ensure they comply with our international 

obligations. The committee will also be able 

to examine existing legislation and conduct 

broad inquiries into matters relating to 

human rights as referred to it by the 

Attorney-General. To my mind, broadly 

speaking, meeting human rights standards is 

not only an important moral imperative but a 

material one too. For many people in our 

nation failure to meet human rights standards 

prevents them from reaching their potential, 

accessing justice and making their full 

contribution to Australian society. This is a 

test of the way we treat the vulnerable in our 

community and of the laws that we have 

before our parliament. So I am pleased that 

this bill and the Human Rights Framework 

reaffirm our government's commitment to 

human rights and community engagement, 

with a particular focus on ensuring that laws 
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are consistent with Australia's international 

human rights obligations. I note that the 

opposition senators stated in their dissenting 

report on this bill: 

In our view, not only is it undesirable to 

recognize international instruments as the 

exclusive, or even the main, source of rights; it is 

fraught with danger to attempt to codify rights at 

all. 

In contrast, the Human Rights Council of 

Australia said:  

It is particularly pleasing that the rights to which 

the Parliamentary Joint Committee must have 

regard when performing its functions are all of 

the rights expressed and declared in the relevant 

international instruments listed in clause 3(1) of 

the Bill, as distinct from merely a selection of 

some of these rights. This will serve to remind the 

federal legislature that, at international law, 

Australia has an obligation to observe and respect 

all rights that are the subject of international 

treaties to which Australia is a party. 

Coalition senators have expressed the view 

that a more effective way for the bill to 

address these issues would be for it to avoid 

ruling in and ruling out particular rights, 

leaving it to members of the committee, 

informed no doubt by the submissions before 

them, to consider what are and what are not 

relevant human rights. 

I think that the coalition overstates its 

concerns. Essentially, we are talking here 

about a reporting process. Parliamentary 

committees are at liberty to make their own 

decisions about what they do with the 

information before them. It is one of the 

reasons I like the idea of a charter of rights. 

Parliamentary committees are not bound in 

the way a charter might bind a test of these 

rights. Like any other parliamentary 

committee, we would have the capacity to 

make our own decision based on information 

before us. Likewise, the Australian com-

munity will have the opportunity to judge the 

decisions of the committee against what is 

reported against international human rights 

instruments. 

It is appropriate to have a reference point 

for the committee, which will be the rights 

and freedoms recognised or declared by the 

seven core United Nations human rights 

treaties as they apply to Australia. Universal 

freedoms and human rights cannot be 

irrelevant one day and relevant the next. 

Indeed, many submissions to the committee 

proposed that the definition of human rights 

should be expanded to include a wider range 

of international instruments than the seven 

core UN conventions currently captured, in 

order to more accurately reflect Australia's 

international human rights obligations. 

While some provisions of treaties may 

exist in our national legislation, they do not 

form part of Australia's domestic law unless 

the treaties have been specifically incorpor-

ated into Australian law through legislation. I 

note that we are currently going through a 

process of combining a range of antidiscrim-

ination laws. I look forward to the outcome 

of those reforms. This principle reflects the 

fact that agreeing to be bound by a treaty is 

the responsibility of the executive in the 

exercise of its prerogative power, whereas 

law making is the responsibility of 

parliament. 

Finally, one of the really pleasing things 

about this legislation is that it establishes a 

dialogue between the executive, the 

parliament and, ultimately, the citizens of 

this nation on the issue of human rights in 

this country. It enables the active con-

sideration of human rights and the seven core 

United Nations human rights treaties in the 

process of law making and in consultation 

with the Australian people. I commend the 

bill to the Senate. 

Senator MASON (Queensland) (13:42):  

The Human Rights (Parliamentary Scrutiny) 

Bill 2010 is an important bill because human 
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rights are important. Senator Brandis said 

today that perhaps at times the coalition has 

been a bit reluctant in their prosecution. He 

might be right. We should never forget that 

the rights of individualsðthose rights 

against the state and against molestation by 

the stateðare what founded the Enlighten-

ment and modern liberal democracy. It is 

those rights and that revolution that changed 

the face of our world. We liberals and 

conservatives, sir, invented human rights; 

collectivists did not. In the battle between the 

individual and the state about where the 

prejudice should lie, liberals and 

conservatives always go with the individual. 

That lot opposite do not. If you ever need a 

better example of how important this battle 

is, the battle for human rights, to save 

individuals against the depravity of the state, 

one need go no further than look at the 

history of the 20th century. The 20th century 

was a slaughterhouse, with mechanised 

brutality, slaughter of individuals by the state 

and by governments. It was deliberate, it was 

intentional and it was disgusting. The 

greatest loss of life in human history 

happened last century, when everyone in this 

parliament was born. As the great English 

historian Paul Johnson said: 

We have learnt that the destructive capacity of the 

individual, however vicious, is small; of the state, 

however well intentioned, almost limitless. 

If anyone wonders why Senator Brandis and 

Senator Cash and liberals and conservatives 

take human rights seriously, it is because of 

that. We have seen with our own eyes, with 

the history of the 20th century, the depravity 

and the power of the state to destroy 

individuals on a scale never seen before in 

human history. That is why human rights are 

important. Of course, the Left have changed 

the conversation. We talk about rights 

against the stateðrights of nonmolestation, 

freedom of speech, freedom of association, 

freedom of conscience and freedom of 

religion, as well as property rights, due 

process and the rule of law. In effect, they 

are all rights against the state, but the Left 

now talks about entitlements. We take our 

heritage back to the Magna Carta at 

Runnymede and the Enlightenment. The 

Left, post-Second World War, talk about 

economic and social rightsðhealth, 

education and welfare. I am not saying that is 

not important, but in the battle of the 

individual versus the state I side with the 

barons on the meadow at Runnymede, the 

Enlightenment and liberal conservatism 

against the 20th century collectivists.  

One of the problems with the language of 

the Left is that they have debased rights. In 

the end, all rights are not equal. In the same 

way, political systems are not equal. I 

ultimately do not trust the Left with saving 

and protecting our human rights. Many of us 

would agree with many of the economic and 

social rights that the collectivists talk about. 

But, while the Left was busy promoting 

economic, social and cultural rights after 

World War II, it did not care too much that 

half the world did not enjoy civil and 

political rights. As a columnist recently said, 

and I urge the Senate to listen to these words: 

'Wherever there is a jack boot stomping on a 

human face, there is always someone to 

remind us that at least the face had free 

health and dental care.' You get this line in 

Cuba, you had it in the Soviet Union and you 

would have it in the People's Republic of 

China: 'We can slaughter people, we can 

mechanise the slaughter and, in fact, we can 

make it de rigueur for the state, but it is okay 

because there is free education.'  

When it comes to the battle between 

collectivists, social rights and individual 

human rights, we have got it right. All 

political systems and all rights are not equal, 

because in the 20th century the worst thing 

from the Left, particularly after World War 

II, was not the great economic failingsð
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though with enforcing socialism on much of 

the world they impoverished hundreds of 

millions of people, and that was disgraceful; 

that was a failure and it was disgustingðbut, 

far worse, that they believed and they 

prosecuted the case that all political systems 

and the rights they accord are equal. In a 

sentence, that says it all. This lot prosecuted 

the case that all political systems and the 

rights they accord are morally equal. As for 

liberal democracy they say, 'That was just 

one example of government and just one 

example of human rights.' But human rights 

differ. We might talk about right to trial, but 

what does that matter? Apparently, to the 

Left all rights are equal. They are not, and 

none of us on this side ever believed that. I 

do not agree with that. Rights, just like 

political systems, are not all equal.  

In the endðand perhaps I am showing my 

conservatismðlike Senator Cash and like 

Senator Brandis, I prefer John Locke and 

Thomas Jefferson to the 20th century 

collectivists. In the end, I prefer the 

parliament of Australia and our courts to the 

international bureaucrats. Hear this, Mr 

Acting Deputy President: in the end it is the 

liberals who are the greatest defenders of 

human rights, and they have been throughout 

Western history. (Time expired)  

Senator HANSON-YOUNG (South 

Australia) (13:50):  I seek leave to 

incorporate my speech on the Social Security 

Amendment (Student Income Support 

Reforms) Bill 2011. 

Leave not granted.  

The ACTING DEPUTY PRESIDENT 

(Senator Back):  The time allotted for the 

consideration of the Human Rights 

(Parliamentary Scrutiny) Bill 2010 and the 

Human Rights (Parliamentary Scrutiny) 

(Consequential Provisions) Bill 2010, the 

Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation and 

Other Legislation Amendment Bill 2011 and 

the Social Security Amendment (Student 

Income Support Reforms) Bill 2011 has 

expired. In respect of the Human Rights 

(Parliamentary Scrutiny) Bill 2010 and the 

Human Rights (Parliamentary Scrutiny) 

(Consequential Provisions) Bill 2011, the 

question is that these bills be now read a 

second time. 

Question agreed to. 

Bills read a second time. 

The ACTING DEPUTY PRESIDENT :   

The question is that amendments (1) to (3) 

on sheet 7139 in respect of the Human 

Rights (Parliamentary Scrutiny) Bill 2010 

and amendments (1) and (3) on sheet 7140 in 

respect of the Human Rights Parliamentary 

Scrutiny (Consequential Provisions) Bill 

2010, circulated by the opposition, be agreed 

to. 

Opposition's circulated amendmentsð 

HUMAN RIGHTS (PARLIAMENTARY 

SCRUTINY) BILL 2010 

(1) Clause 2, page 2 (table item 2, 2nd 

column), omit ", 3". 

(2) Clause 3, page 2 (line 14), omit "(1)". 

(3) Clause 3, page 2 (line 15) to page 3 (line 

15), omit the definition of human rights, 

substitute: 

human rights means the personal rights and 

liberties which exist under: 

 (a) the Constitution; and 

 (b) Acts of the Parliaments of the 

Commonwealth, States and Territories; and 

 (c) the common law; and 

 (d) relevant international instruments to 

which Australia is a party and which have 

domestic application by Australian law. 

HUMAN RIGHTS (PARLIAMENTARY 

SCRUTINY) (CONSEQUENTIAL 

AMENDMENTS) BILL 2010 

(1) Clause 2, page 2 (table item 2, 1st 

column), omit ", items 1, 2 and 3". 

(3) Schedule 1, page 3 (line 13), omit the 

heading. 
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The Senate divided.  [13:55] 

(The PresidentðSenator Hogg) 

Ayes.......................30 

Noes.......................34 

Majority .................4 

AYES 

Abetz, E Adams, J 

Back, CJ Bernardi, C 

Birmingham, SJ Boswell, RLD 

Boyce, SK Brandis, GH 

Bushby, DC (teller) Cash, MC 

Colbeck, R Edwards, S 

Eggleston, A Fawcett, DJ 

Fierravanti-Wells, C Fifield, MP 

Fisher, M Humphries, G 

Johnston, D Kroger, H 

Macdonald, ID Madigan, JJ 

Mason, B McKenzie, B 

Nash, F Parry, S 

Ronaldson, M Ryan, SM 

Williams, JR Xenophon, N 

 

NOES 

Arbib, MV Bilyk, CL 

Bishop, TM Brown, CL 

Brown, RJ Cameron, DN 

Conroy, SM Crossin, P 

Di Natale, R Evans, C 

Faulkner, J Feeney, D 

Furner, ML Gallacher, AM 

Hanson-Young, SC Hogg, JJ 

Ludlam, S Ludwig, JW 

Marshall, GM McEwen, A 

McLucas, J Milne, C 

Moore, CM Polley, H (teller) 

Pratt, LC Rhiannon, L 

Siewert, R Singh, LM 

Stephens, U Sterle, G 

Thistlethwaite, M Urquhart, AE 

Waters, LJ Wright, PL 

 

PAIRS 

Cormann, M Sherry, NJ 

Heffernan, W Collins, JMA 

Joyce, B Wong, P 

Payne, MA Farrell, D 

Scullion, NG Lundy, KA 

Sinodinos, A Carr, KJ 

Question negatived. 

The PRESIDENT:  The question is that 

subclause 3(2) and part 3 of the Human 

Rights (Parliamentary Scrutiny) Bill 2010 

and table item 3 in clause 2 and item 4 of 

schedule 1 of the Human Rights 

(Parliamentary Scrutiny) Consequential 

Provisions) Bill 2010 stand as printed. These 

are opposition amendments (4) and (5) on 

sheet 7139 and opposition amendments (2) 

and (4) on sheet 7140. 

Opposition's circulated amendmentsð 

HUMAN RIGHTS (PARLIAMENTARY 

SCRUTINY) BILL 2010 

(4) Clause 3, page 3 (lines 21 to 24), 

subclause (2) TO BE OPPOSED. 

(5) Part 3, clauses 8 and 9, page 6 (line 1) to 

page 7 (line 4),  Part TO BE OPPOSED. 

HUMAN RIGHTS (PARLIAMENTARY 

SCRUTINY) (CONSEQUENTIAL 

AMENDMENTS) BILL 2010 

(2) Clause 2, page 2 (table item 3), clause TO 

BE OPPOSED. 

(4) Schedule 1, item 4, page 3 (lines 14 to 19),  

item TO BE OPPOSED. 

Question agreed to. 

Third Reading 

The PRESIDENT:   The question is that 

the remaining stages of these bills be agreed 

to and the bills be now passed. 

Question agreed to. 

Bills read a third time. 

Safety, Rehabilitation and 

Compensation and Other Legislation 

Amendment Bill 2011 

Social Security Amendment (Student 

Income Support Reforms) Bill 2011 

Second Reading 

The PRESIDENT:  In respect of the 

Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation and 

Other Legislation Amendment Bill 2011, the 

question is that item 1 of schedule 2 stand as 
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printed. That is opposition amendment (1) on 

sheet 7086. 

Opposition's circulated amendmentð 

(1) Schedule 2, item 1, page 4 (lines 5 to 10), 

item TO BE OPPOSED. 

The Senate divided.  [14:01] 

(The PresidentðSenator Hogg) 

Ayes.......................36 

Noes.......................28 

Majority .................8 

AYES 

Arbib, MV Bilyk, CL 

Bishop, TM Brown, CL 

Brown, RJ Cameron, DN 

Conroy, SM Crossin, P 

Di Natale, R Evans, C 

Faulkner, J Feeney, D 

Furner, ML Gallacher, AM 

Hanson-Young, SC Hogg, JJ 

Ludlam, S Ludwig, JW 

Madigan, JJ Marshall, GM 

McEwen, A McLucas, J 

Milne, C Moore, CM 

Polley, H (teller) Pratt, LC 

Rhiannon, L Siewert, R 

Singh, LM Stephens, U 

Sterle, G Thistlethwaite, M 

Urquhart, AE Waters, LJ 

Wright, PL Xenophon, N 

 

NOES 

Abetz, E Adams, J 

Back, CJ Bernardi, C 

Birmingham, SJ Boswell, RLD 

Boyce, SK Brandis, GH 

Bushby, DC (teller) Cash, MC 

Colbeck, R Edwards, S 

Eggleston, A Fawcett, DJ 

Fierravanti-Wells, C Fifield, MP 

Fisher, M Humphries, G 

Johnston, D Kroger, H 

Macdonald, ID Mason, B 

McKenzie, B Nash, F 

Parry, S Ronaldson, M 

Ryan, SM Williams, JR 

 

PAIRS 

Carr, KJ Sinodinos, A 

PAIRS 

Collins, JMA Heffernan, W 

Farrell, D Payne, MA 

Lundy, KA Scullion, NG 

Sherry, NJ Cormann, M 

Wong, P Joyce, B 

Question agreed to. 

Senator Ian Macdonald:  Mr President, I 

raise a point of order. On the human rights 

bill, you said, 'These are Senator Brandis's 

amendments'ð 

The PRESIDENT:  Noð 

Senator Ian Macdonald:  'all in favour 

say aye,' and you called it for the ayes. 

The PRESIDENT:  I did not use any 

person's name at all in that. That was the 

question on opposition to clausesðand I 

called it for the ayes. That is the correct call. 

I do not use people'sð 

Senator Ian Macdonald:  If you didn't 

use 'Senator Brandis', you used 'these are the 

opposition amendments'. 

The PRESIDENT:  No, at the end I said 

they were opposition (4) and (5) on sheet 

7139 and opposition (2) and (4) on 7140. I 

read the sheet as it has been prepared and I 

did not digress from it. 

Senator Ian Macdonald:  But didn't you 

say, 'The ayes have it'? They were passed. 

The PRESIDENT:  Yesðthe 

amendments were passed? The question was 

that the clauses stand as printed. When the 

government vote in favour, the clause stands 

as printed, and the opposition amendments 

fail. That has been, since time immemorial, 

the way in which these questions have been 

put. 

Senator Ian Macdonald:  Mr President, 

could I ask you, then, to check with the Clerk 

on how you have recorded the vote on the 

bill itself once you dealt with the 

amendments? 
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The PRESIDENT:  The question on the 

bill, Senator Macdonald, was quite different. 

The question on the bill, once we had 

disposed of the amendments, was 'that the 

remaining stages of these bills be agreed to 

and the bills be now passed', so it was a 

completely different question. I put the 

question and I called it properly for the ayes. 

Senator Ian Macdonald:  Didn't it record 

that I voted against the bills on the failure of 

the amendments? 

Government senators interjectingð 

Senator Ian Macdonald:  Mr President, 

for this rabble over on the other side who 

have no idea about parliamentary 

procedures: there has been some confusionð 

The PRESIDENT:  Senator, can I advise 

you that the questions that have been put 

have been put in the same way as questions 

have been put to other meetings of the 

Senate where similar matters have been 

considered, since time immemorial. There is 

no change to the practice. I can assure you of 

that. 

Honourable senators interjectingð 

The PRESIDENT:  Order! Just excuse 

me, Senator Macdonald. I am entitled to hear 

Senator Macdonald. He is entitled to be 

heard in silence. 

Senator Ian Macdonald:  Can I ask you 

to review the video of these hearings 

becauseð 

Government senators interjectingð 

Senator Ian Macdonald:  You people 

have no interest in parliamentary democracy. 

At least you could shut up. Mr President, can 

I ask you to review that? As I heard you, I 

thought you said, 'Senator Brandis's 

amendment, all those in favour'. That is why 

I voted yes. I would have voted no had I 

understood the way you were calling it. 

The PRESIDENT:  Senator Macdonald, 

all I can say is you have not understood the 

way in which these matters have been put 

previously. I have been consistent with 

previous practice in this parliament, and I am 

getting nods on both sides of the chamber. I 

do not think there is any problem there. 

Third Reading 

The PRESIDENT:  The question now is 

that the remaining stages of the Safety, 

Rehabilitation and Compensation and Other 

Legislation Amendment and the Social 

Security Amendment (Student Income 

Support Reforms) Bill 2011 be agreed to and 

the bills be now passed. 

Question agreed to. 

Bills read a third time. 

Deterring People Smuggling Bill 2011 

Second Reading 

Debate resumed on the motion: 

That this bill be now read a second time. 

Senator BRANDIS (Queenslandð

Deputy Leader of the Opposition in the 

Senate) (14:09):  Can I indicate at the outset 

that the opposition supports these 

amendments. As a result of discussions 

between the Attorney-General and myself 

and an exchange of letters between the 

Attorney-General and the Leader of the 

Opposition, we have undertaken both to 

support the bill and to expedite its passage 

through the parliament. I will address it very 

briefly, although I do not propose to take 

very long to do so. 

Subdivision A of division 12 of the 

Migration Act 1958 contains certain 

prohibitions upon the entry into Australia of 

a noncitizen in circumstances where the 

noncitizen does not have a valid visa or is 

not otherwise entitled to enter into Australia. 

An issue has arisen in which, in certain 

proceedings in the Supreme Court of 

Victoria, as I understand, it is alleged that the 

claim of a right under the refugee convention 

and the refugee protocol is sufficient to take 
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a noncitizen beyond the prohibitions in 

subdivision A of division 12. Therefore, so it 

is said, on the proper interpretation of those 

provisions the mere claiming of status under 

the refugee convention or the refugee 

protocol is sufficient to enable the noncitizen 

to escape the operation of those provisions. 

That has never been the way in which that 

subdivision of the Migration Act has been 

understood. The purpose of these amend-

ments is really out of abundant caution to 

clarify that meaning. In particular, the 

proposed section 228B(2) provides that, to 

avoid doubt, a reference to a noncitizen 

includes a reference to a noncitizen seeking 

protection or asylum, however described, 

whether or not Australia has or may have 

protection obligations in respect of the 

noncitizen under the refugees convention as 

amended by the refugees protocol or for any 

other reason. 

We agree with the government that it is 

very important to maintain the integrity of 

the border protection regime. If it were the 

case that a claim of right under the refugee 

convention or the refugee protocol was all it 

took to circumvent the operation of the 

Migration Act, then it would be beyond the 

capacity of Australian migration authorities 

or, indeed, the Australian Federal Police or 

any domestic Australian authority to deal 

with the arrival of unauthorised noncitizens.  

The effect of these provisions will be to 

operate from the day on which they receive 

royal assent, which, I understand, will be 

sought urgently. They will apply forthwith to 

all proceedings, including the proceedings to 

which I have referred in the Supreme Court 

of Victoria. It has been said, and I anticipate 

it may be said by the Australian Greens, who 

I understand oppose these amendments, that 

they have a retrospective operation. That is 

not so. It would be a misuse of the term 

'retrospective' to say that provisions that 

apply prospectively but whose 

commencement applies to existing but yet to 

be determined proceedings is retrospective in 

character. In truth, these are clarifying 

amendments or essentially declaratory 

amendments which declare the meaning of 

an existing prohibition in the act to be as it 

has always been understood to be and, as I 

said at the start, out of abundant caution to 

express more fully the legal position to be as 

it has always been understood to be. 

The opposition, as I said, supports the 

amendments. 

Senator HANSON-YOUNG (South 

Australia) (14:15):  I rise to speak on the 

Deterring People Smuggling Bill 2011. I put 

it squarely on the record that this bill should 

not be debated today and should not be 

passing this parliament. It is a terrible piece 

of legislation and I want to give an 

illustration of why. I want to tell a story 

about a man I will call Wawan, which is not 

his real name. He is about 35 years old. He 

lived in a small village of around 50 families 

on the island of Sumbawa. He lived with his 

mother and was the sole provider for the 

home as his father died when he was a small 

child. He had survived a very impoverished 

upbringing in which he had worked from a 

young age to support his mother. As a result, 

his formal education finished before the end 

of primary school. The home he shared with 

his mother was a small oneða one-room 

bamboo hut with a dirt floor. There was no 

electricity and the only running water was 

outside in the village. 

Wawan was a fisherman who often 

travelled for work. His mother suggested that 

he go to Sumba to fish for octopus. In 

Sumba, on this occasion, he was sitting in a 

coffee shop when he was approached by a 

man called Mohammed, who asked if he 

would be interested in taking a boatload of 

passengers to go diving in Kupang. Wawan 
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agreed, thinking that this was a way to make 

money, more money than fishing for octopus 

would bring. When the passengers arrived, 

Wawan was surprised to see that none of 

them were Indonesian. However, he did not 

ask any questions as Mohammed was his 

boss and he knew to just do what he was 

told. 

When they set off there were about 40 

passengers on board the boat as well as 

another Indonesian man who had been 

recruited in a similar way. Mohammed 

followed in a larger boat and after two days 

he came aboard Wawan's boat and handed 

him a compass, telling him to continue to sail 

at 180 degrees. Mohammed then turned 

around his boat and headed back towards 

Indonesia. Wawan had never used a compass 

before; however, he still believed he was 

heading to Kupang, so he continued to 

follow Mohammed's instructions. Wawan 

and the other Indonesian man followed 

Mohammed's directions for another two days 

until they were intercepted by the Royal 

Australian Navy off the coast of Western 

Australia. This is an illustration of the 

experiences of people who are currently 

being held in Australian detention centres 

and Australian prisons awaiting their court 

cases because they have been accused of 

people smuggling. 

This bill is referred to as the Deterring 

People Smuggling Bill. The question is: who 

is this bill actually deterring? This bill is not 

about deterring people smuggling; this bill is 

all about the government's barefaced political 

strategy of looking tough on boat arrivals. 

The fact is this bill has been rushed into this 

place to make it look as though, on the last 

day of sitting in 2011, the government is 

actually doing something to stop the boats. It 

is going to be very difficult and very hard for 

the opposition not to agree with the 

government's strategy. 

The government has tried to tell the 

Australian people that this bill is simply 

about clarifying the crimes under the 

Migration Act that aim to break the people-

smuggling business model. This is nothing 

but hollow rhetoric. The reason this bill has 

been brought forward at all is that the 

Australian government is currently a party to 

a legal challenge in Victoria. Rather than 

allowing this legal challenge to go through 

its proper process, the government, a party to 

this legal challenge, has decided to bring a 

bill into the parliament to scuttle the court 

case. 

These are the types of activities that you 

expect of governments in other places in the 

world, not in a free, open, transparent 

democracy like Australia, which has built its 

reputation around the world because it has a 

clear division between the courts, the 

executive and the parliament. An important 

test case is currently before the Victorian 

Court of Appeal. By bringing forward this 

bill in this way the government, which is a 

party to these proceedings, has spectacularly 

breached the separation of powers and shows 

that the government is prepared to do 

absolutely anything, to go as low as it 

possibly can, when it comes to legislation to 

deal with asylum seekers and those who help 

them to arrive. 

It is an amazing coincidence that the 

government only decided to bring forward 

this bill to clarify this particular part of the 

Migration Act when the test case in Victoria 

was elevated to a superior court. In the 

Senate inquiry into this bill, which was a 

very short one, the Attorney-General's 

Department conceded that they had only 

been given drafting instructions for these 

amendments in October, right after the threat 

of the court case became clear. For a piece of 

legislation that experts say breaches our 

international human rights and refugee 

obligations as well as the separation of 
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powers and the rule of law, there has been 

woeful consideration of its merits through 

the parliamentary process. This bill should 

not be proceeding in this place and it 

certainly should not be passing without a 

proper review of its purpose. 

This bill talks about deterring people 

smugglers, yet it does absolutely nothing to 

achieve that. The government can provide 

absolutely no evidence to support its 

argument that the particular cases currently 

before the courts or the current status of the 

crimes under the Migration Act have done 

anything to deter people arriving by boat. 

Last year, in 2010, this place dealt with a 

piece of legislation that set down mandatory 

minimum sentences, and the government 

said: 'This will deter people. This will stop 

the boats.' Yet we have not seen any 

evidence that that has occurred. What we see 

are hundreds of crew who have been locked 

up, detained and charged for these crimes 

under the Migration Act. Their cases are 

very similar to the young man's case that I 

outlined at the beginning of my speech. This 

bill is all about punishing the small fry and 

allowing the big fish to escape. 

The inquiry, which I have already 

mentioned was quite short, showed that there 

is great concern and deep disapproval among 

the Australian community, particularly 

among human rights advocates and legal 

experts, about the amendments contained in 

this bill. One of the most devastating 

criticisms of the bill came from the Aust-

ralian legal community, who remain aghast 

at the retrospectivity of this amendment. 

Even the Senate's own Scrutiny of Bills 

Committee has condemned this piece of 

legislation, expressing great concern at the 

retrospective application of this amendment 

back to 1999. It notes: 

é liberal and democratic legal traditions have 

long expressed strong criticisms of retrospective 

laws that impose criminal guilt é persons should 

not be punished for acts that were not illegal at 

the time they acted. 

The prohibition on retrospective criminal 

laws is central to the rule of law. It is clearly 

prohibited by article 15 of the International 

Covenant on Civil and Political Rights. It is 

banned in many countries. In Australia, 

retrospective criminal legislation is used only 

in the most rare and exceptional 

circumstances. Such caution is applied to 

retrospective criminal legislation that it has 

been used by the Australian parliament only 

three times prior to this piece of legislation. 

There is no moral or legal justification for 

making this law retrospective. Along with 

the legal experts who appeared at the 

inquiry, the Senate's own Scrutiny of Bills 

Committee has criticised the retrospectivity 

of this bill. The Scrutiny of Bills Committee 

demands that the government describe 

exactly why there are exceptional circum-

stances for making this legislation retro-

spective. The truth is that there are no 

exceptional circumstances that justify the 

retrospective nature of this bill. It is political 

necessity rather than great moral need. Let's 

call that political necessity for what it is: the 

government do not want to see themselves 

losing another court case at the end of 2011, 

a year in which they have already introduced 

legislation and proposals that the courts have 

ruled unlawful. The government do not want 

another case on their hands. Rather than 

fighting their cause in the courts and 

allowing that process to continue, they have 

decided to bring forward this legislation and 

scuttle the legal process to which they are a 

party. 

Let me touch on what a farce this 

legislation is, right down to its title's claim of 

deterring people smuggling. It is notable that 

the title is the only part of the bill that says 

anything in relation to deterrence. The bill is 

not about deterring people. It does nothing to 

stop desperate people engaging people 
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smugglers. Any attempt by the government 

to pretend to the Australian people that this 

is going to make a difference is an attempt to 

pull the wool over the Australian public's 

eyes. Rather than spending precious parlia-

mentary time on a so-called clarification 

which is clearly in breach of the rule of law, 

we should be looking at ways to fix our anti-

people-smuggling policies so we are 

catching the big fish, the organisers, the 

kingpins and deterring them from misleading 

vulnerable asylum seekers and using and 

abusing boat crew in order to make a profit. 

The Minister for Immigration and 

Citizenship has been on television telling 

Australians that the changes to the Migration 

Act are being made to catch the people 

smugglers who are 'sitting around in 

nightclubs in Jakarta'. That could not be 

further from the truth. The lawyers who are 

working at the coalface of people-smuggling 

prosecutions have put clearly on the record 

that, of the 353 people currently facing 

people-smuggling charges in Australia, only 

six are actually accused of being organisers 

of the industry. Out of 353 people charged, 

only six are accused of actually organising 

this business! The government are not being 

effective at deterring people smugglers. The 

government are not being effective at 

charging the kingpins. They would like us all 

to believe that they are, but it is simply not 

the truth. The figures tell us that. The deputy 

commissioner for operations has said that, of 

the 493 individuals arrested between 2008 

and 2011, only 10 were accused of being 

organisers. 

Are we catching the kingpins? Clearly 

not. Are we locking up vulnerable, tricked, 

manipulated, impoverished Indonesian 

fishermen? Yes. Are they the scapegoats of 

the government's 'get tough on refugees and 

people smuggling' policy? Yes, they are. 

How many of those people are children? We 

know that there are at least 35 people whom 

the government jailed in adult facilities 

illegally, because they are children. Mr 

President, do not be fooled that this 

legislation is in any way enforcing the 

government's attempt to smash the people-

smuggling business model. Victoria Legal 

Aid, which is acting for 53 of the accused 

people smugglers, are running the test case 

the government is seeking to scuttle. They 

put it very clearly: 

The overwhelming majority of the people charged 

with people smuggling in Australia are 

impoverished Indonesian fisherman, the totality 

of whose involvement is to be recruited on to the 

boats to steer, crew or cook. They are as 

dispensable to the organisers of people smuggling 

as the boats that get burnt off the coast of 

Christmas Island and Ashmore Reef. 

The criminal charges which this bill seeks to 

amend are not deterring anyone. Desperate 

people will come to Australia to seek asylum 

as long as the prospect of life in Australia is 

not as bad as life under tyrannical and 

violent regimes such as the Taliban. As long 

as the Australian government refuses to 

increase our humanitarian intake and resettle 

more people directly, this is the only option 

many of them have. Yet rather than putting 

safer pathways in place, rather than catching 

the kingpins, the government finds it easier 

to use young, impoverished Indonesians as 

its scapegoats to try and prove it is doing 

something to stop people smugglers. 

Rather than bringing this bill forward to 

interfere with, to scuttle, the Victorian Court 

of Appeal's ability to hear this case, the 

government should be heeding the warnings 

of judges, magistrates and lawyers from 

around the country. In 2010 the government 

introduced mandatory minimum sentences 

and this is where the problem began. The 

government should be addressing those 

issues, ensuring that courts can weigh up the 

seriousness of these offences, rather than 

using these young Indonesians as its political 
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and legal scapegoats. The Australian public 

have a right to know exactly who is bearing 

the brunt of these five-year mandatory 

minimum sentences. How many have been 

children? How many have been adults? How 

many have been detained and charged? How 

many cases have fallen over because the 

government has not concentrated on the right 

areas or the right people?  

The story that I told at the beginning of 

my contribution highlights exactly how 

vulnerable these individuals are, how 

dispensable they are to the kingpins of the 

people-smuggling tradeðjust as dispensable 

as the asylum seekers or the boats 

themselves. It surprises me that the 

opposition is willing to push this bill through 

the parliament and allow the government a 

free kick and a free goal on something the 

opposition knows is not working. It surprises 

me that the opposition is prepared to simply 

say: 'We will give the government this cover. 

We will continue to lock up young 

Indonesian fishermen rather than tackle the 

real people smugglers.' 

But maybe I am not that surprised at all, 

because perhaps this is exactly the problem 

in this placeðthat neither the Labor Party 

nor the coalition is actually willing to face 

the realities of displaced people seeking 

protection and freedom in our region. It is all 

about the slogan of 'smashing the people 

smugglers' business model' versus the slogan 

of 'stop the boats'. They are as hollow as 

each other, as illegal as each other and as 

useless and ineffective as each other. 

Until we have some true leadership in this 

place, these issues are not going to go away. 

It is appalling that this piece of legislation 

has come forthðretrospective in nature, with 

no exceptional circumstances provisionsðto 

scuttle a legal challenge which the 

government is party to. It continues to punish 

the very same people who have been tricked 

and manipulated throughout this process 

simply in order to pretend to the Australian 

people that the government is doing 

something. It is a shameful piece of 

legislation and it should not proceed. 

Senator IAN MACDONALD  
(Queensland) (14:34):  I rise to say a few 

words in support of the Deterring People 

Smuggling Bill 2010 and the position 

Senator Brandis indicated. But before I do I 

will make some comments on the 

contribution by the previous speaker, Senator 

Hanson-Young. I remind the previous 

speaker and the people of Australia that, 

when Mr Howard was Prime Minister, there 

were at times a number of illegal entries to 

Australiaðboat people. Through a bit of trial 

and error, we eventually got a system in 

place where we had offshore processing in 

Nauruðand this actually did stop the boats. 

It worked. So for Senator Hanson-Young to 

suggest that this did not work, that nothing 

has worked, is simply incorrect and contrary 

to the facts. Under the Howard government, 

this didð 

Senator Hanson-Young:  Do you 

actually know anything at all about this 

legislation? This has nothing to do with the 

bill.  

Senator IAN MACDONALD:   I am 

answering you, Senator Hanson-Young. You 

were the one who went into this area. 

The PRESIDENT:  Senator Macdonald, 

address your comments through the chair. 

Senator Hanson-Young, you were heard in 

silence and Senator Macdonald should be as 

well. 

Senator IAN MACDONALD:   The 

previous speaker went into this area and is 

now interjecting and saying this is not part of 

the bill. I am simply responding to the 

arguments she made. If it is not part of the 

bill when I say it, it must not have been part 

of the bill when she was speaking.  
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The Howard government's approach 

actually worked. We did stop the boats. We 

were also able to turn boats around when it 

was safe to do so. Anyone who was at 

estimates a few weeks ago would have heard 

the Chief of Navyðwho is an expert on it 

because he was a more junior officer at the 

relevant timesðexplain how the boats were 

turned around and how this was done safely. 

He also explained how sometimes it was not 

possible to do that. Of course, the ABC and 

some other commentators gave huge prefer-

ence or exposure to the admiral talking about 

the one that failed and made no reference 

whatsoever to the admiral's original 

comments, where he went through in quite 

some detail how you could turn boats around 

safely and how you could make the policy 

Mr Abbott has enunciated workðthat is, 

turning boats around when it can be done 

safely and offshore processing at Nauru. 

The Labor government's border protection 

policies and migration policies are an 

absolute shambles. Hence, if this bill will do 

anything to stop people smugglers, even if in 

a very minor way, then I am in favour of it. 

Senator Brandis has indicated why the 

coalition is supporting this government bill 

and why we are facilitating its passage 

through the Senate this afternoon, the last 

day of sitting, after the Labor Party and the 

Greens have guillotined 20 pieces of 

legislation so far this week without so much 

as one word being spoken on them. We have 

been voting on bills all week that many 

people would have little idea about because 

we were not allowed to speak on them. 

In the previous week, 18 of the most 

complex bills that this parliament has dealt 

with in the last decade, relating to the carbon 

tax, were rammed through this parliament 

with only one or two of the bills in that 

package being dealt with. Already we have 

seen what a farce that carbon tax legislation 

has become. Australia will become, if it is 

not already, the laughing stock of the world 

for having a tax of $23 per tonne on carbon 

dioxide emissions. The rest of the world is 

standing aside and laughing, rubbing their 

economic hands together with glee as they 

think about what business and jobs they can 

pick up. We have already seen jobs go from 

Australia to China and India because of that 

package of bills, which went through 

because it did not have proper scrutiny by 

this parliament. 

Anything that will help border protection 

and stop people smugglers, as this bill will 

do in a way, is something we support, so we 

will facilitate its passage through the 

parliament. But before I sit down I want to 

again make the point to senators and to the 

people of Australia who might be listing to 

this debate that the reason why the coalition 

is so incensed at the Labor Party's inability to 

protect our borders and stop the boats is that 

for every person that comes in illegally by 

boat someone living in a squalid refugee 

camp somewhere in the world is put back 

another year. That seems to be okay as far as 

the Greens go. If you happen to be a wealthy 

person, and the Greens have shown quite 

often in the last few weeks that they are for 

the big end of town, for the wealthy people, 

the people who can make donations of $1.6 

millionð 

Senator Edwards:  How much? 

Senator IAN MACDONALD:   You 

don't make a donation to the Greens of $1.6 

million if you are not the big end of town, 

the wealthy end of town. Thank you for the 

interjection, Senator. You remind me that the 

biggest single donation ever in Australian 

politicalð 

Senator Hanson-Young:  Jealous! 

Senator IAN MACDONALD:   I'm 

jealous, am I? After two decades of listening 

to railing against private donations, 

somehow when I raise it I am jealous! I tell 
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you what, Senator: I am embarrassed for you 

peopleðand that is a generosity I do not 

often extend to the Greens. We are talking 

about $1.6 million, so don't talk to me about 

who is in the pay of the big end of town. 

That is quite clear. 

These people coming in by boat are not 

the penniless refugees who have been living 

in squalid camps around the world for 10 

years. They are people who can afford 

$10,000, $15,000, $20,000 a pop, to pay a 

people smuggler to bring them in, and that is 

only what it costs to get from Indonesia to 

Australia. What they have paid to get from 

wherever they come from to Indonesia we do 

not know. Senator Hanson-Young, they are 

not the poor, the disadvantaged. They are the 

big end of town, the wealthy end of town, 

that clearly the Greens support. 

What I am concerned about, and I will 

always make this point, is that Australia has 

a very proud humanitarian arrangement and 

we have been at the forefront on a per capita 

basis of taking genuine refugees for 50 years. 

We are proud of it, and so we should be, but 

we have a fixed number. As I have said 

before, perhaps the number is not right. I am 

prepared to debate that, as I have with the 

Refugee Council. We take about 14,000 

genuine refugees every year. Maybe it 

should be 20,000; I do not at this stage enter 

into that debate. But we do take a fixed 

number, and for every one of these people 

that come in, having paid $10,000 or more to 

get a boat from Indonesia to Christmas 

Island, someone who has been in an 

absolutely squalid camp, someone who is a 

genuine refugee and has been so determined 

by the UNHCR over many years, has to wait 

another year for their chance to get to 

Australia.  

That is the sort of policy that the Greens 

support: forget about those in the squalid 

refugee camps around the world who are 

waiting their turn, desperate to get into 

Australia within the limit of our intake of 

about 14,000 a year, but let's encourage these 

people who can pay $10,000 to the people 

smugglers to come in. You have to put in 

place an arrangement where those people 

who would pay the $10,000 see that they are 

not automatically going to come to Australia, 

that they are not automatically going to 

become part of the very generous Australian 

legal system where they can challenge 

decisions for years, right through to the High 

Court if needs be, or that once they get into 

Australia they will get social security 

benefits in one form or another from the 

Australian taxpayer that they would never 

get overseas. That is why the Gillard 

government, and the Rudd government 

before it, supported by the Greens, is simply 

a beacon, a green light, to the people 

smugglers who will bring these people here 

for money. 

The issue that disturbs me, and I get very 

angry about this, is that the Greens and the 

Labor Party seem to have no interest 

whatsoever in those genuine refugees living 

in squalid refugee camps around the world. 

They are all in favour of the wealthier ones 

who can pay the $10,000 and who know they 

will get the support of the Greens political 

party and the Greens parliamentarians 

wandering around waving placards at every 

demonstration they can. It is important for 

senators and for the people of Australia to 

understand that, for every refugee who 

comes illegally into the country and remains 

here, one genuine refugee from someone else 

in the world misses out on their chance to 

come to the very lucky country. 

Having said that, I support the reasons that 

Senator Brandis has given for the coalition's 

support and, in spite of the Labor 

government's complete mismanagement and 

inability to allow debate and the appropriate 

passage of bills in this chamber over the last 



9688 SENATE Friday, 25 November 2011 

 

 

CHAMBER 

few weeks, we on this side will facilitate the 

debate so that this bill can be voted upon. I 

note that the Greens say that this should not 

be dealt with today. If they had not voted 

with the Labor Party to cancel Monday, 

Tuesday and Wednesday's sitting next week 

we could have debated it more fully then. If 

they think they have a point, why did they 

not take the next three days to argue it in the 

Senate to try to convince us that they are 

right and we are wrong? But no, they want to 

head off to Durban, so they will do anything. 

Then they have the hide to get up here and 

complain about not having enough time to 

debate this. The hypocrisy of the Greens 

knows no ends. I support this bill. 

Senator HUMPHRIES (Australian 

Capital Territory) (14:47):  As Senator 

Macdonald and Senator Brandis have 

indicated, the coalition supports the 

Deterring People Smuggling Bill 2011. We 

support it because we believe it is one of 

those rare circumstances where retro-

spectivity can and should be applied in an act 

of parliament. We believe there is an 

urgency to passing this legislation because in 

the subproceedings in a court in Victoria an 

attempt is being made to represent the will of 

parliament through earlier legislation as 

being different from that which it actually is; 

therefore, clarifying what the parliament 

intended when it passed earlier legislation in 

2010 is an appropriate clarifying exercise in 

retrospectivity in this context. 

I think it is also true to say that this 

legislation illustrates a number of things 

which are wrong about the way that this 

government works. Firstly, this legislation 

has an Orwellian title. This is not a Deterring 

People Smuggling Bill at all. This is not a 

bill that makes any bold new step towards 

preventing people from coming to this 

country as refugees. This legislation simply 

clarifies the intent of a piece of legislation 

passed last year. Last year the parliament 

passed the Anti-People Smuggling and Other 

Measures Bill 2010, and this current 

legislation simply says, 'What we meant to 

say in that legislation we actually did say.' It 

simply makes clear what had already been 

determined by the parliament and, therefore, 

there is nothing about this legislation which 

changes the landscape at all with respect to 

actions to deter people smugglers coming to 

this country. I accept that that is necessary 

and therefore, notwithstanding its Orwellian 

title, it is appropriate to pass the bill. 

Secondly, the process around the bill 

illustrates the ineptness which is so 

characteristic of this government. The reason 

parliament needs to consider retrospectivity 

is that, at least on one argument, the parlia-

ment appears not to have comprehensively 

explained in last year's legislation, and 

potentially in earlier legislation in 1999, that 

a person who smuggles people to Aust-

raliaða people smugglerðis not exonerated 

from their actions if the person they attempt 

to smuggle to Australia turns out to be a 

genuine refugee. It has arguably always been 

the intention of parliament, and certainly was 

as late as the legislation last year, that a 

people smuggler commits an offence even if 

the person they are smuggling to Australia 

turns out to be a genuine refugee. If you 

think about it, it is quite logical: you cannot 

let the crime be determined by the ultimate 

status of the person being smuggled. You 

cannot say a boatload of people being 

smuggled by a people smuggler somehow 

ends up not being an illegal act because, say, 

one or two people on the boat turned out to 

be genuine refugees. It simply does not 

work. The legislation quite appropriately 

should say that any attempt to bring people 

without a valid visa to Australia is an offence 

and should be punishable. 

Retrospectivity in that application to 

affirm what the parliament has already 

decided is, in my opinion and in the opinion 
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of the opposition, an acceptable use of 

retrospectivity. It does not change the law as 

it is understood to be in this nation at the 

moment. In the course of the Senate 

Standing Committee on Legal and 

Constitutional Affairs inquiry this was 

compared with legislation which some years 

ago criminalised the behaviour of Nazi 

operatives during World War II and created 

retrospective war crimes. It was suggested 

that, for the reasons that it was contested in 

the High Court, this ought to be considered 

an inappropriate use of the Commonwealth's 

power. But, with respect, that was a 

misconceived argument because clearly, in 

the case of the war crimes legislation, the 

parliament wasðadmittedly for very good 

reasonsðcreating new offences after the 

offences had been committed. I characterise 

some things done by certain people during 

the Second World War as crimes, even 

though they were possibly not crimes at the 

time that they were committed. That is 

generally understood to be an appropriate 

case where retrospectivity might be used. We 

can debate that another day. But this is not 

such a case. This legislation is not about 

retrospectivity that changes the 

characterisation of behaviour after the 

behaviour has occurred. This is about 

affirming that behaviour which the 

parliament has intended for at least 12 

months and arguably for more than 10 years 

should be illegal remains illegal, 

notwithstanding the attempt by parties before 

a court in Victoria to turn that on its head. 

When it came to the officers of the 

government clearly slotting this legislation 

under one of those acceptable headings for 

retrospective legislation, the linkage being 

made by officers was less than impressive. 

There is a document that the government 

publishes called the Guide to framing Com-
monwealth offences, infringement notices 

and enforcement powers which sets out the 

circumstances where, among other things, 

retrospective legislation can be considered. 

Officers were asked to link headings or 

opportunities within that guide to the present 

circumstances. They were, with great 

respect, unable to do that in a very 

convincing way. They pointed to a provision 

which says that the guide refers to 

retrospectivity as being justified where the 

'moral culpability of those involved means 

there is no substantive injustice in 

retrospectivity'. 

I have to sayðand I, to some extent, agree 

with Senator Hanson-Young hereðthat is 

not a very good basis on which to argue for 

retrospectivity, because there is some 

evidence that some of the people involved in 

people smuggling are not particularly aware 

of the nature of the offences that they are 

committing. They are probably small 

operatives in a process in which they are not 

fully aware of the implications of what they 

are doing and the moral culpability might not 

be very evident for what they are being 

punished for. I would argue quite separately 

that we nonetheless need to criminalise such 

behaviour, but that is an argument for 

another day. 

The lack of an ability to clearly 

characterise the case for retrospectivity by 

officers of the Attorney-General's Depart-

ment was, quite frankly, troubling. I hope 

that the government fixes this problem. The 

committee has recommended that the 

government go back and examine both the 

legislation handbook of the Department of 

the Prime Minister and Cabinet and the 

Attorney-General's Department's Guide to 
framing Commonwealth offences, infringe-

ment notices and enforcement powers to 

ensure that the articulation of policy is clear 

in relation to the introduction of 

retrospective legislation and legislation 

relevant to ongoing legal proceedings, with 

an emphasis on ensuring that the principles 
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of the rule of law and of the separation of 

powers are respected. Frankly, that is not 

evident from the documents at the present 

time. As I say, I think there is a good case for 

retrospectivity here, but I am not sure the 

case is being well made by officers of the 

department that is handling this legislation. 

Having settled that, I have to also take 

issue with some of the arguments that 

Senator Hanson-Young has run here this 

afternoon. Senator Hanson-Young will be 

well aware that the Greens argued strongly 

and passionately against the Anti-People 

Smuggling and Other Measures Act when it 

was before the parliament last year. They 

said at the time that it was wrong because it 

would create offences where offences should 

not exist. Those offences included where 

people smuggle people to Australia who turn 

out to be refugees. They argued that the 

smuggling of people to Australia who turn 

out to be refugees should not be a criminal 

offence. They argued that very consistently 

and cogently before the parliament. 

But today they are arguing that it is open 

to a court in Victoria to find that, in fact, that 

is not what the parliament intended at all and 

that the parliament intended that maybe 

people who smuggled to Australia people 

who turned out to be refugees were people 

for whom there should be no moral 

culpability with respect to the people 

smuggling and that we should forgive and 

exonerate people who smuggle people in 

those circumstances. 

Senator Hanson-Young:  It's 

international law. 

Senator HUMPHRIES:  Whether it is 

international law or not, with great respect, 

Senator Hanson-Young, is irrelevant. You 

argued that the parliament was doing a 

certain thing by passing the legislation last 

year. You are now arguing that it is perfectly 

possible for people to characterise the 

parliament's actions in a quite different way. 

You are having your cake and eating it as 

well, with great respect. 

I do not want to delay the Senate any 

longer. I want to reaffirm that we on this side 

of the chamber believe that the parliament 

has decided that people smuggling should be 

a criminal activity and that that criminality 

should not be in any way tempered or 

watered down by virtue of the fact that some 

of those people being smuggled may 

transpire to be genuine refugees. It is 

important for the parliament's will in this 

respect to be clear because there are 

presently proceedings before the courts of 

Australia where that issue is being tested. 

There should be no doubt that those who 

smuggle people should be subject to 

prosecution and, if the facts are found to 

support the case, convicted of those offences. 

That is what the parliament ensures by 

passing this legislation today. But some of 

the arguments being used both in support of 

the legislation and in opposition to it are, 

with the greatest respect, spurious in the 

extreme. 

Senator BACK (Western Australia) 

(14:58):   I rise to speak to the Deterring 

People Smuggling Bill 2011 and to support 

the comments by our deputy leader in this 

place and shadow Attorney-General, Senator 

Brandis, and comment that the coalition has 

shown a good deal more courtesy to the 

government this week than has been shown 

to the coalition in the legislative process, to 

which I intend to return. What is so obvious 

in this whole exercise with the legislation 

before us, once again, is the failure of the 

Labor government, the Prime Minister, the 

current Minister for Immigration and 

Citizenship and the leader of the government 

in this place, the previous minister. 

This is a circumstance in which, had the 

Labor government continued the policies of 
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the Howard governmentðpolicies that 

actually protected those who would 

otherwise have got on to leaking boats; 

policies which had effectively cut the 

people-smuggling industry outðwe would 

not be standing here today debating this issue 

and, more to the point, we would not have 

seen the tragic outcomes that have been the 

case over the last three or four years. I want 

everybody to be very clear in their 

understanding of that. 

Why is the coalition supporting this 

legislation? Because there can be no more 

reprehensible industry or trade than the 

smuggling of people and the trading of 

human misery that we see on a day-to-day 

basis. Anything at all within the law that will 

put a halt to this trade must be supported. It 

is regrettable and reprehensible that the 

coalition has to support a situation which 

should never have materialised in the first 

place. 

As a Western Australian senator I do want 

to draw the attention of the Senate to where 

the costs of most of this people-smuggling 

fallðand that is in our state of Western 

Australia. The vast majority of those either 

found guilty and serving sentences or 

awaiting trial are in jails in Western 

Australia. I do not want to comment in this 

presentation on those associated with the 

under-age issue, but I have a lot of sympathy 

for the argument that we need to be able to 

more accurately determine the age of people 

who are caught up in this trade. If we can 

address this issue with a greater degree of 

clarity, fairness and equity for minors, I 

would be very keen to pursue that. But that is 

not a topic for this discussion. 

It costs the Western Australian taxpayer 

$130,000 per year for every people smuggler 

accused or people smuggler found guilty in 

our jails. This is an unfair impost on both the 

judicial system in our state and Western 

Australian taxpayers. For those who would 

say there is some equalisation in the annual 

tradition of GST funds and therefore that 

figure is picked up on behalf of Western 

Australia, I need only remind the Senate of 

the very low proportion of GST funding that 

returns to Western Australians each year as a 

result of the inequitable distribution by the 

Grants Commission. That figure of course is 

a mere 70c in the dollar, as opposed to a 

figure in excess of 90c in the states of 

Queensland, New South Wales and Victoria 

and well and truly over the dollar per dollar 

rate in the Northern Territory and South 

Australia. I do not want this point to be lost. 

The cost is not equally distributed around the 

nation. 

We are discussing this legislation because 

of the government's demonstrable failure on 

border protection. It has been a sad litany, 

for then Prime Minister Rudd, Prime 

Minister Gillard and the various immigration 

ministers who have attempted to solve these 

issues but have failed miserably. East Timor 

was never a solutionðanybody would just 

have to visit East Timor to realise that the 

infrastructure is not in place and that there is 

not yet stability. We all look forward to the 

elections in East Timor in March of next 

year. I applaud the role being played by the 

Australian Defence Force in trying to 

stabilise East Timor and assist in the 

democratic process. But anybody with any 

sense who visited East Timor would know 

that they are by no means ready to accept 

some form of botched and cooked up 

asylum-seeker solution. 

We then had the failed Malaysia solution. 

Questions from my colleague Senator Cash 

have been miserably unanswered by Minister 

Carr. Malaysia was never going to be a 

solution to this problem. That is evidenced 

by the fact that originally we were 

considering 800 asylum seekers being 

resettled in Malaysia in return for some 
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4,000 approved refugees coming to this 

country. We have already vastly exceeded 

the 800 and so we know it was never going 

to be a long-term solution. History records 

that the Malaysia solution did go to the High 

Court of Australia, and the High Court 

adjudicated that it was unlawful. Not only 

was the solution never going to work; 

Malaysia is not a signatory to the UNHCR 

and therefore, even had the 800 been 

approved to go, it was only ever going to be 

a band-aid solution. 

The Prime Minister chose to deliver a 

vitriolic attack on the High Court judges, and 

particularly Chief Justice Robert French. I 

was also on one occasion affected by an 

adverse judgment by the High Court of 

Australia, in about 1992-93. I remember 

being told by Crown Law in Western 

Australia two thingsðthe first was that I had 

lost and the second was that I was not to 

criticise the High Court judges. It is totally 

irrelevant to this debate that the platform 

upon which that High Court judgment was 

made in that case has now been completely 

dissembled. In the words of the then 

Governor of Western Australia, a past Chief 

Justice of the Supreme Court of Western 

Australia, that particular judgment will go 

down in history as probably the worst ever in 

the history of the High Court. Nevertheless, I 

took the advice of Crown Lawðadvice 

which the Prime Minister either did not take 

or was not givenðand did not criticise the 

Chief Justice. 

It is well-known that through our leader, 

Mr Tony Abbott, we made the offer to the 

government that we would support their 

legislation in consideration of the 

government agreeing that any asylum 

seekers should be repatriated to countries 

which were signatories of the UN 

Convention on the Status of Refugees. Of 

course Malaysia is not one of those 

countries, but if my memory serves me 

correctly I think some 148 countries are 

signatories. It is obviously a case of pride on 

the part of the Prime Minister that she chose 

to not do that. Of course we know from 

leaked cabinet discussionsðand we know 

that governments of any persuasion are not 

performing well when cabinet leaksðthat 

clearly it was the solution desired by several 

in the cabinet, including the poor fellow who 

actually has to take responsibility for this, 

and that is Immigration Minister Bowen. I 

believe that that offer from our leadership 

still remains. Mr Abbott has invited the 

Prime Minister to come on board. Every 

other area has been rejected by the Labor 

Party, with the exception of this one. They 

have had to reluctantly accept this and of 

course it is the last option. It is so gracious of 

the coalition to support this bill as presented 

by the Labor government. We do so partially 

to get the government out of the miserable 

situation into which it has descended, but 

more importantly to try to put an end to the 

despicable trade that is people smuggling. 

Those of you who have any knowledge of or 

links with Asia would possibly know of the 

delight in the people-smuggling world that 

accompanied the High Court decision and 

the encouragement which, as we all know, 

has translated into an increase in the number 

of boats and people. It was only on Monday 

or Tuesday, I think, that questions were 

asked of Minister Carr. At that time, I think 

13 boats had arrived since the most recent 

High Court decision. Of course, that number 

must now be increased to 16. I remind you 

that we are now towards the end of 

November. Anyone who has any knowledge 

of the geography of the north-west of 

Australia will know that we are moving 

quickly into the cyclone season. We are 

moving quickly to a time of year when it is 

ridiculously unsafe to be putting to sea in 

any sort of craft, especially those of the type 

that we see being used by asylum seekers. 
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I contrast the courtesy shown by the 

coalition to the government with that shown 

by the government and the Australian Greens 

in this place this week. It would be 

reasonable to reiterate what has been put to 

me by some of my constituents. They have 

said that democracy has gone very close to 

its death this week. I do not want to talk 

about what has gone on in the other place, 

simply because we are not involved in it. 

Nevertheless, it is an indication of the failure 

of this grasping government. I will comment 

on what has gone on in this place this week. I 

for one am extremely disappointed to have 

been in the process, part of the process and 

objecting to a process in which we will have 

seen more than 20 bills rammed through this 

place this week without proper debate, 

without proper scrutiny, without proper 

consideration of amendments and without 

the capacity to do what senators are sent to 

this place to do. 

At the start of the week, the Manager of 

Government Business in the Senate, Senator 

Ludwig, used the term 'time management'. I 

am relieved to learn that it was the President 

who, late yesterday afternoon, used the term 

that was meant: the guillotine. Legislation 

that should have been the subject of intense 

scrutiny and that will have a profound effect 

on enormous numbers of Australians was 

guillotined. Contrast those bills with the one 

on which, yesterday, we had the pleasure of 

demonstrating the activities of the Senate at 

its bestðat the level that the community 

would expect. That was the Safety, 

Rehabilitation and Compensation Amend-

ment (Fair Protection for Firefighters) Bill, 

which passed through this chamber with 

unanimous support and with comments by 

the chair of the Education, Employment and 

Workplace Relations Legislation Committee, 

Senator Marshall, myself, the Greens and the 

National Party. That to me was the height of 

this week. I will tell you what the depth, or 

the trough, of this week was. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT:  Senator 

Back, I draw your attention to the question 

before the chair. You have been mostly 

relevant, but you have strayed in the last 

minute or so. 

Senator BACK:  I will, nevertheless, 

with your concurrence, Deputy President, 

concludeðfrom going to the height to the 

trough. The trough of course was the 

curtailment of the debate on the Family Law 

Legislation Amendment (Family Violence 

and Other Measures) Bill. That debate 

started out robustly. The contributions from 

all sides were fantastic on an issue of 

tremendous importance to Australian 

families, particularly to children affected in 

the circumstances of the break-up of a 

marriage. To see that debate guillotined and 

to see what may well have been very good 

amendments moved by Senator Wright, 

whose area of professional expertise this was 

before she came into the Senate, will stand 

for me for a long time as the low point in the 

democratic process of this place. I will 

conclude by supporting my own deputy 

leader, the shadow Attorney-General, 

Senator Brandis, in supporting the Deterring 

People Smuggling Bill 2011 and by hoping 

that the government sees sense, accepts the 

advice of our leadership and gets on with a 

proper long-term solution to the people-

smuggling and asylum-seeker problem. 

Senator LUDWIG (Queenslandð

Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and 

Forestry, Manager of Government Business 

in the Senate and Minister Assisting the 

Attorney-General on Queensland Floods 

Recovery) (15:12):  I thank senators for their 

contributions and I commend the bill to the 

Senate. Question put:  

That this bill be now read a second time.  
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The Senate divided. [15:17] 

(The PresidentðSenator Hogg] 

Ayes.......................46 

Noes.......................9 

Majority .................37 

AYES 

Abetz, E Adams, J 

Back, CJ Bernardi, C 

Bilyk, CL Birmingham, SJ 

Bishop, TM Boyce, SK 

Brandis, GH Brown, CL (teller) 

Cameron, DN Cash, MC 

Colbeck, R Crossin, P 

Edwards, S Eggleston, A 

Evans, C Faulkner, J 

Fawcett, DJ Fierravanti-Wells, C 

Fifield, MP Fisher, M 

Furner, ML Gallacher, AM 

Hogg, JJ Humphries, G 

Kroger, H Ludwig, JW 

Lundy, KA Macdonald, ID 

Madigan, JJ Marshall, GM 

Mason, B McEwen, A 

McKenzie, B McLucas, J 

Moore, CM Nash, F 

Parry, S Ronaldson, M 

Sherry, NJ Stephens, U 

Sterle, G Urquhart, AE 

Williams, JR Xenophon, N 

 

NOES 

Brown, RJ Di Natale, R 

Hanson-Young, SC Ludlam, S 

Milne, C Rhiannon, L 

Siewert, R (teller) Waters, LJ 

Wright, PL  

 

Question agreed to.  

Bill read a second time.  

Senator LUDWIG (Queenslandð

Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and 

Forestry, Manager of Government Business 

in the Senate and Minister Assisting the 

Attorney-General on Queensland Floods 

Recovery) (15:22):  I table a replacement 

explanatory memorandum relating to the 

Deterring People Smuggling Bill 2011. The 

memorandum takes account of 

recommendations made by the Senate Legal 

and Constitutional Affairs Legislation 

Committee. 

In Committee 

Billðby leaveðtaken as a whole. 

Senator HANSON-YOUNG (South 

Australia) (15:22):  I have some questions to 

the government in relation to the bill. 

Obviously I outlined the opposition of the 

Greens to this piece of legislation in my 

contribution to the second reading debate. I 

ask the minister how the government 

justifies the breach of the separation of 

powers in that this legislation is being 

introduced to change the current act while 

this question is before the courts in Victoria. 

Senator LUDWIG (Queenslandð

Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and 

Forestry, Manager of Government Business 

in the Senate and Minister Assisting the 

Attorney-General on Queensland Floods 

Recovery) (15:22):  The question is in error. 

This is a general power to undertake this act. 

There is no breach of the separation. 

Senator HANSON-YOUNG (South 

Australia) (15:23):  The question for the 

government in relation to these issues is, I 

believe, a constitutional one. During the 

Senate inquiry into this piece of legislation a 

number of individuals before the committee 

raised the issue of bringing forward further 

litigation if indeed this legislation passed. 

Has the government looked at this 

possibility? If so, what type of resources 

would need to be spent on any further 

litigation as a result of this legislation 

passing? 

Senator LUDWIG (Queenslandð

Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and 

Forestry, Manager of Government Business 

in the Senate and Minister Assisting the 

Attorney-General on Queensland Floods 

Recovery) (15:24):  There are two things. 
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Firstly, it would not be appropriate to discuss 

cases currently before the courts. Secondly, 

in relation to matters that may be sought into 

the future, it would be a hypothetical 

question. Obviously people are able to bring 

challenges to legislation, depending on the 

nature of the facts and circumstances as the 

cases arise. 

Senator BOB BROWN (Tasmaniað

Leader of the Australian Greens) (15:24):  Is 

it therefore the case that this legislation has 

no relationship whatever to matters before 

the Australian courts or to the recent High 

Court decision? 

Senator LUDWIG (Queenslandð

Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and 

Forestry, Manager of Government Business 

in the Senate and Minister Assisting the 

Attorney-General on Queensland Floods 

Recovery) (15:24):  The reason these amend-

ments are necessary is that the words 'no 

unlawful right to come to Australia' form 

part of the elements of the people-smuggling 

offences in section 233A and 233C of the 

Migration Act 1958 that are not currently 

defined. The amendments in the bill are 

necessary to clarify beyond doubt the exist-

ing understanding of the laws. The 

amendments will also ensure that convictions 

for people-smuggling offences that have 

already been made, as well as prosecutions 

underway, are not invalidated. 

Senator BOB BROWN (Tasmaniað

Leader of the Australian Greens) (15:25):  Is 

it not the case that a parliament, particularly 

ministersðwho evolve laws for the good 

running of the countryðhave to have the 

foresight to anticipate circumstances so that 

the prosecution and practice of the law can 

proceed? But in this situation the 

government, being found by the High Court 

not to be able to prosecute certain persons 

being held on people-smuggling charges, has 

decided to retrospectively apply a law that 

may well prove them to be guiltyðnot in 

relation to a law that stood when they were 

arrested but a law that, consequent to cases 

dealing with their proper judicial handling, 

has been altered by the passage of the 

legislation we now have before us in the 

Senate. 

Senator LUDWIG  (Queenslandð

Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and 

Forestry, Manager of Government Business 

in the Senate and Minister Assisting the 

Attorney-General on Queensland Floods 

Recovery) (15:26):  The short answer is no. 

The law is as it currently stands. There is no 

court ruling that offends the provision. As I 

indicated, this is a matter that, regardless of 

the outcome, provides for the need to clarify 

beyond doubt the existing understanding of 

the laws. 

Senator BOB BROWN (Tasmaniað

Leader of the Australian Greens) (15:27):  

Let me be direct. I asked the minister 

whether this law and this interpretation that 

is now being presented to the Senateðwhich 

did not exist before thatðhas retrospective 

application to existing cases before the 

Australian courts. 

Senator LUDWIG (Queenslandð

Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and 

Forestry, Manager of Government Business 

in the Senate and Minister Assisting the 

Attorney-General on Queensland Floods 

Recovery) (15:27):  The amendments would 

apply retrospectively from December 1999, 

when the words 'lawful right to come to 

Australia' were first inserted into the people-

smuggling offences in the Migration Act. 

Retrospective application is necessary to 

avoid uncertainty about the validity of 

previous convictions and maintain current 

prosecutions. 

Senator BOB BROWN (Tasmaniað

Leader of the Australian Greens) (15:27):  It 

took some time, but there we have it. Senator 



9696 SENATE Friday, 25 November 2011 

 

 

CHAMBER 

Hanson-Young is right. What we are dealing 

with here is a parliamentðat the behest of 

the government, which is prosecuting 

individuals held in Australian jailsðpassing 

a law so that that case can be altered in 

favour of the government and against the 

people who are under charges. As Senator 

Hanson-Young put it so clearly during the 

second reading debate, this is outrageous. It 

is appalling. We are a country that believes 

in the rule of law. But here we effectively 

have the government saying: 'Our case 

before the courts is not strong enough. We 

want to go to the parliament and get it 

strengthened to have retrospective applica-

tion.' When you are dealing with the rights of 

people to be treated properly before the law, 

that is outrageous. I am surprised that we 

have people on both sides of this parliament 

with legal training who are supporting this 

legislation and that it was not stopped in the 

House of Representatives. Sure, let the 

government, in the wake of a High Court 

decision, have an amendment to the law 

which applies in future cases so that people 

tempted to break a law of the Common-

wealth of Australia know there is a new law 

there. But to retrospectively apply a law like 

this, which effectively is going to mean that 

people who are unjailable under existing law 

may be jailed is very close to a perversion of 

justice. It certainly goes against natural 

fairness and it breaches the principle that 

people should be treated as the law stands. 

What would happen, might we ask, if 

defendants were able to come into this place 

and persuade the parliament that the law 

should be changed so that they had a better 

go? There would be pandemonium. But 

because it is the government doing it the 

opposition thinks that is okay. I join Senator 

Hanson-Young in saying to the opposition 

that there is a very, very important prudential 

matter being subverted here; that is, you do 

not have one side or the other of a series of 

court matters being able to alter the rules 

after the prosecution gets underway and the 

defence gets underway. It is, at best, very 

poor behaviour but, at worstðbecause it is a 

serious matterðit breaches the principle of a 

fair go and natural justice. 

Senator BERNARDI (South Australia) 

(15:13):  After listening to that contribution 

just then from Senator Brown and the one 

earlier from Senator Hanson-Young, I am 

distressed by the level of hypocrisy that is 

being displayed in this chamber. In respect 

of this bill, it is a serious issueðand we 

know thatðbut this chamber has been 

debating serious bills all weekðor, in fact, I 

should say it has not been debating serious 

bills because we have not been allowed to 

even have a word of discussion about them! 

Why is that? Because the Greens have 

continually supported the guillotine or the 

gagging of debate on important bills. 

I raise this because I want the people of 

Australia to know, and I want this chamber 

to know, about the hypocritical behaviour 

that is being displayed by the Greens. Earlier 

today, when a genuine inquiry was made as 

to how long this committee stage on this bill 

was going to take, the answer from Senator 

Hanson-Young was 'until you gag us'. What 

a shameful display by these appendages to 

the government who have stifled debate all 

week on important bills and yet they are 

insisting upon making spurious points off the 

minister until they are gagged. This is their 

attempt to reclaim the high moral ground 

from which they fell many, many moons 

ago. The people of Australia need to know 

this and the government needs to know this 

as well, that we have been played off a break 

by a manipulative and deceptive group of 

people who are seeking to twist and contort 

things, in their disgraceful application of 

double standards, in a manner by which to 

make a complete mockery of democracy in 

this chamber. 
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I would say to you, Mr Chairman, and to 

my colleagues here that we have to make a 

decision about what is applicable in these 

circumstances. We have a circumstance 

whereby a party has stopped us from having 

debate next week in order to suit themselves, 

we have a circumstance where a party have 

gagged debate on important bills because 

they wanted to get out of here to go to 

Durban and now we have a circumstance 

where a genuine filibuster is taking place. 

There is no merit to this, and I know there is 

no merit to it because I was told earlier that 

they are going to stay here until we gag 

them. That is a filibuster. It does not 

contribute to the debate. It is once again a 

demonstration of the rank hypocrisy that is 

so evident on so many occasions by the party 

to my left. It is a travesty. We expect others 

to abide by the rules. 

I do not like seeing the gagging of 

debateðI have to tell you thatðbut there are 

other issues about time management which 

we have to work through. I said earlier today 

that we had three sitting days next week to 

explore this, which the Greens did not want 

because they wanted to take their first-class 

flights to Durbanðand that is the guts of it. 

It interfered with their travel plans, so they 

wanted to stop the parliament from having its 

scheduled days, and now, after a week of 

being exposed to the despicable actions that 

have taken place at their behest and their 

insistence, we now have their attempt to 

claim the high moral ground by making 

others gag them. Let me tell you that, as 

unfortunate as I find it, it is time for these 

people to be exposed for what they are. It is 

time to let the Australian people, many of 

whom are interested in these proceedings, 

know, so that they can find this out, that the 

party which purports to represent the 

interests of parts of Australia and which 

purports to represent the interests of the 

environment is only interested in themselves. 

It is a party that has self-interest at its very 

heart and after a week of stopping others 

from speaking they now want to talk to their 

heart's content. 

This is a travesty. This offers an exposure 

that needs great ventilation right across this 

great land because the Greens are now 

manipulating our democracy and they are 

silently stifling dissentðanything that they 

do not agree with. Quite frankly, I agree with 

this bill. I think this bill is a very important 

bill that needs to be passed as soon as 

possible so that the government can get on 

with their actions. We have unequivocally 

given our endorsement to this bill. So that is 

the point that I want to raise: it is the will of 

this chamber to pass this bill and there is no-

one more open to free speech than me for 

other people to explore the issues, but not 

when they are taking advantage of the 

Australian people. 

The Greens are a party that apply to 

themselves rules that are different from the 

rules that they apply to other people. They 

apply to themselves standards that are diff-

erent from those that they apply to others. To 

her credit, I will say that Senator Rhiannon 

does not want corporate fundraising, but the 

rest of the Greens Party apply different rules 

as to fundraising perspectives than for 

themselves. We know that and we know that 

Senator Bob Brown has already been 

referred to Privileges, but we also know that 

he sought to raise money to alleviate some 

legal bills under some sort of spurious 

circumstances, but of course that goes 

aboveð 

Senator Bob Brown:  Mr Chairman, I 

rise on a point of order. The comment that I 

sought to raise money under spurious 

circumstances is similar to the earlier 

comments about fraudulence and it should be 

withdrawn. 
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The CHAIRMAN:   Senator Bernardi, it 

would assist if you withdrew that remark. 

Senator BERNARDI:  I withdraw that 

remark, Mr Chairman. But for the sake of the 

record, let me demonstrate that there was a 

suggestion that legal bills needed to be paid 

by Senator Brown and that there was a threat 

of bankruptcy attached if they were not paid. 

Now, according to my recordsð 

Senator Ludwig:  Mr Chairman, I rise on 

a point of order. I do not think he can accept 

the rule of the chair and then decide to state 

it another way. I did not rise before, but it is 

also inappropriate to mention the issue 

around privilege. Privilege is a very 

important principle in this place. I would 

remind senators that people do have a 

presumption of innocence when these issues 

are raised. It applies to all of us in this place. 

And it is appropriate that the procedures in 

this place are followed. They have been 

followed, and we as senators should be 

cognisant of that and not say anything further 

until the Privileges Committee has decided 

what they want to do and we can read the 

Privileges Committee report. 

Senator Ian Macdonald:  On the point of 

order, Mr Chairman, I support Senator 

Ludwig's contention on the matter of 

privilege, but, in relation to his other point of 

order, the first one he made, Senator 

Bernardi withdrew the adjectives and he is 

now relating a set of facts. You can hardly 

say that that is contrary to your ruling and 

you can hardly say that that is casting 

aspersions on Senator Bob Brown. He is 

simply relatingð 

The CHAIRMAN:   Thank you, Senator 

Macdonald. There is no further point of 

order. Senator Ludwig has made some 

important remarks in relation to privileges, 

and I would ask all senators to consider those 

remarks. Senator Bernardi, could I ask that 

you remember the question before the chair. 

Senator BERNARDI:   Indeed, I do. I 

thank you for that suggestion. As a point of 

clarification, to you, Mr Chairman, the 

matter I was talking about and the facts 

attached to that are not a product of 

privileges; they are not before a privileges 

inquiry now. It goes towards Senator Bob 

Brown's fundraising to pay his legal bills. He 

raised well in excess of that, and by many 

anonymous donations, and yet he rails 

against honest donationsð 

The CHAIRMAN:   Senator Bernardi, 

could I suggest that you come back to the 

question before the chair. 

Senator BERNARDI:  and it brings me 

back to the question, which is one of 

hypocrisy. All week we have had the 

gagging of debate on a number of 

contentious and important bills and yet, 

despite the importance of that earlier debate, 

we now know from the Greens that we are 

going to have a filibuster, because I was told 

as much. I was told that they were going to 

stay there and keep talking until they had a 

filibuster. I want the Australian people to 

know about the true nature of the Greens 

party. They are very dangerous. They are 

dangerous to our democracy, because they 

want to stop us from debating things in this 

chamber unless it suits them. I say that is the 

wrong approach. 

We have already had three days 

withdrawn because of the Greens, and they 

do not want to wear the consequences of it. 

So I would say to you, Mr Chairman, that 

this bill should be passed as soon as possible, 

and I would like the minister to facilitate that 

as early as he possibly can, because it is very 

important that this is enacted so that the 

Australian border protection system can be 

stronger than it currently is. 

Senator HANSON-YOUNG (South 

Australia) (15:40):  I have some questions 

for the minister in relation to the issues that I 
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raised in my speech in the second reading 

about the mandatory minimum sentences. 

We know that this is the primary reason that 

the Victorian court case has been brought 

forward; because of the complications that 

that is creatingðnot catching the kingpins 

and the big fish but, instead, using the small 

fry, the Indonesian fishermen who have been 

tricked onto these boats, as the scapegoats 

for the government's 'smashing the people 

smugglers' business model' approach. 

What is the government going to do in 

relation to these genuine concerns raised 

around the mandatory minimum sentences? 

It was acknowledged in the Senate inquiry 

that this was a problem. This bill is being put 

through the parliament today, with the 

support of the oppositionðthis is one issue 

where 'Dr No' says yes and lines up shoulder 

to shoulder with the government. What is the 

government going to do in relation to the 

mandatory sentencing issues raised sincerely 

by legal experts as to why they have even 

brought this case forward in the first place? 

Senator LUDWIG (Queenslandð

Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and 

Forestry, Manager of Government Business 

in the Senate and Minister Assisting the 

Attorney-General on Queensland Floods 

Recovery) (15:42):  As I indicated earlier, 

the reason for bringing this legislation 

forward was to put beyond doubt the legal 

position. I will not reiterate that. I said it 

earlier. In terms of the offences, they apply 

equally to everyone. 

Senator HANSON-YOUNG (South 

Australia) (15:44):  I will ask the question 

again: is the government going to consider 

amendments to the mandatory sentencing 

regime? 

Senator LUDWIG (Queenslandð

Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and 

Forestry, Manager of Government Business 

in the Senate and Minister Assisting the 

Attorney-General on Queensland Floods 

Recovery) (15:44):  I have no current 

indication. 

Senator HANSON-YOUNG (South 

Australia) (15:44):  Here we have it. The 

government is not serious about this issue. 

They are not doing anything that actually 

addresses this issue, because the whole point 

of the case before the Victorian courts is the 

farce of the mandatory sentencing regime. 

Until the government can see that and moves 

to address it, these issues are not going to go 

away. This bill does nothing to address those 

issues. This bill does nothing to deter people 

smuggling. This is all so that the government 

can get out of here today and say, 'We did 

something to smash the people-smuggling 

business model', when you have actually 

done nothing at all. 

What about the children who are being 

held in Australian jails? What is the minister 

and the government doing to address that 

issue? Again, we know that these young 

people are being held in Australian detention 

facilities, Australian jails, despite the facts 

that they are not 18 years old and there is no 

conclusive evidence that the government is 

able to even charge them. At the end of the 

day, the courts are going to find that they are 

not adults and send them home. How much 

money out of the public purse is being spent 

because the government will not tackle these 

issues properly because they are all about 

spin, they are all about smokescreens, they 

are all about slogans and they are nothing 

about substance? What is the minister doing 

to address the issue of children being 

detained in Australian jails? 

Senator LUDWIG (Queenslandð

Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and 

Forestry, Manager of Government Business 

in the Senate and Minister Assisting the 

Attorney-General on Queensland Floods 

Recovery) (15:44):  With respect, Senator 
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Hanson-Young, you are incorrect. It is the 

policy that we do not prosecute minors. We 

return them as soon as possible. 

Senator HANSON-YOUNG (South 

Australia) (15:44):  I would like to give the 

minister an opportunity again to put on the 

record exactly what evidence the government 

has that the current legislation has indeed 

deterred anybody from participating in 

people smuggling. 

Senator LUDWIG (Queenslandð

Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and 

Forestry, Manager of Government Business 

in the Senate and Minister Assisting the 

Attorney-General on Queensland Floods 

Recovery) (15:45):  Can I put it simply in 

this way: having an effective offences 

regime is a deterrent. 

Senator HANSON-YOUNG (South 

Australia) (15:45):  I would like to make it 

very clear for the sake of Hansard, and to 

anybody listening, that the government have 

consistently failed to show that there is 

anything in the current legislation that has 

acted as a deterrent. This bill is named the 

Deterring People Smuggling Bill, yet the 

government cannot provide any evidence 

that the current act and criminal charges 

within the Migration Act have deterred 

anybody, because the figures have not gone 

down since 2010. In fact they have 

increased. No-one has been deterred under 

this legislation because it does not target the 

right people. The people it targets are the 

scapegoats for this government's getting 

tough on people smugglers. It is an absolute 

farce. The government want the Australian 

people to believe they are doing something, 

but they are doing absolutely nothing except 

punishing vulnerable, impoverished 

Indonesian fishermen and children. Where is 

the Labor Party's moral compass on this 

issue? 

The reason the opposition are voting for 

this legislation is that this is the type of 

legislation Tony Abbott is proud of. That is 

why they are voting for it; not because they 

are doing the right thing and not because 

they are doing anything that tackles the 

issue. If Tony Abbott had thought of it, he 

would have. 

I can see that I am not going to get 

anywhere with getting responses to the 

genuine questions I have. The whole point of 

this legislation is not to deliver any substance 

in relation to the issues being dealt withð

and why the court case in Victoria is 

currently happening; it is all about scuttling 

the case. It absolutely is a breach of the 

separation of powers. It will open up the case 

for further litigation at the cost of Australian 

taxpayers, and it is all for show and spin. It is 

so that this government can go home tonight 

and say, 'Yep, we fought off at least one 

court case this year.' 

I do not have any other questions for the 

minister because I do not think he has any 

answers. The government have no idea what 

they were doing with this bill, except 

pushing it through so that they do not have to 

fight their case in the courts. It is an absolute 

disgrace to be abusing our court system in 

that way. 

Senator RONALDSON (Victoria) 

(15:48):  I would like to point out on the 

public record that there was no response 

from Senator Hanson-Young in relation to 

the matters raised by Senator Bernardi. 

Clearly those comments were made. 

Can the minister confirm that the total 

number of people arriving since August 2008 

is 12,848; that the total number of boats 

since August 2008 is 250; that the total 

number of arrivals since polling day at the 

last election is 95 boats and 5,499 people; 

and that the total number of arrivals since the 

Prime Minister knifed the foreign minister, 
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on 24 June last year, is 109 boats and 6,296 

people? 

Can the minister also confirm that in the 

year 2002-03 there were no boats; in 2003-

04 there were 82 people and one boat; in 

2004-05 there were no arrivals; in 2005-06 

there were 61 arrivals on eight boats; in 

2006-07 there were 133 on four boats; and in 

2007-08 there were 25 people on three 

boats? 

Senator LUDWIG (Queenslandð

Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and 

Forestry, Manager of Government Business 

in the Senate and Minister Assisting the 

Attorney-General on Queensland Floods 

Recovery) (15:50):  In answer to the first 

part of your question, I generally would 

indicate that I would not take your figures as 

given. I would seek to ensure that I had my 

own figures. Seeing that you already seem to 

have the figures, though, I will still maintain 

that position and take it on notice to confirm 

whether those figures are in fact correct. 

In relation to the second part of your 

question I simply reject it. This government 

has addressed people smuggling 

comprehensively. It is a failure on your part 

that you have not sought to support the 

legislation we have put forward. 

Bill agreed to. 

Bill reported without amendments; report 

adopted. 

Third Reading 

Senator LUDWIG:   I move: 

That the bill be now read a third time. 

Question put. 

The Senate divided. [15:56] 

(The PresidentðSenator Hogg) 

Ayes.......................53 

Noes.......................9 

Majority .................44 

AYES 

Abetz, E Adams, J 

Back, CJ Bernardi, C 

Bilyk, CL Birmingham, SJ 

Bishop, TM Boswell, RLD 

Boyce, SK Brandis, GH 

Brown, CL Bushby, DC 

Cameron, DN Cash, MC 

Colbeck, R Crossin, P 

Edwards, S Eggleston, A 

Evans, C Faulkner, J 

Fawcett, DJ Feeney, D 

Fifield, MP Fisher, M 

Furner, ML Gallacher, AM 

Hogg, JJ Johnston, D 

Kroger, H Ludwig, JW 

Lundy, KA Macdonald, ID 

Madigan, JJ Marshall, GM 

Mason, B McEwen, A (teller) 

McKenzie, B McLucas, J 

Moore, CM Nash, F 

Payne, MA Polley, H 

Pratt, LC Ronaldson, M 

Ryan, SM Sherry, NJ 

Singh, LM Stephens, U 

Sterle, G Thistlethwaite, M 

Urquhart, AE Williams, JR 

Xenophon, N  

 

NOES 

Brown, RJ Di Natale, R 

Hanson-Young, SC Ludlam, S 

Milne, C Rhiannon, L 

Siewert, R (teller) Waters, LJ 

Wright, PL  

 

Question agreed to. 

Bill read a third time. 

PRIVILEGE  

The PRESIDENT (15:58):  By letter 

dated 24 November, Senator Bob Brown has 

raised a matter of privilege: a possible 

improper relationship between Senator 

Boswell and Metcash, a listed company in 

the grocery marketing and distribution 

business, and the influence of political 

donations by Metcash on Senator Boswell's 

instigation of a parliamentary inquiry into 
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the ACCC's decision to block the expansion 

of Metcash. Under standing order 81(2) I am 

required to: 

... determine, as soon as practicable, whether a 

motion relating to the matter should have 

precedence of other business, having regard to the 

criteria set out in any relevant resolution of the 

Senate.  

The relevant criteria are in Privilege 

resolution 4 as follows:  

(a) the principle that the Senateôs power to 

adjudge and deal with contempts should be used 

only where it is necessary to provide reasonable 

protection for the Senate and its committees and 

for senators against improper acts tending 

substantially to obstruct them in the performance 

of their functions, and should not be used in 

respect of matters which appear to be of a trivial 

nature or unworthy of the attention of the Senate; 

and 

(b) the existence of any remedy other than that 

power for any act which may be held to be a 

contempt. 

Paragraph (a) 'the need to provide reasonable 

protection for the Senate and its committees 

against improper acts tending substantially to 

obstruct them in the performance of their 

functions' emphasises the purpose of the law 

of parliamentary privilege as a means of 

protecting the integrity of the institution and 

correcting the impact of any improper 

attempts to interfere with the ability of the 

institution or one of its members to get on 

with their work.  

The Parliamentary Privileges Act 1987 

provides in section 4 that the essential 

element of a contempt is that it involves: 

an improper interference with the free exercise by 

a House or committee of its authority or 

functions, or with the free performance by a 

member of the member's duties as a member.  

Correction of any improper interference can 

be sufficient to remove the essential element 

of the offence. For example, if a witness is 

suspected of giving false or misleading 

evidence to a committee and on being 

confronted by the committee with the 

allegation clarifies and corrects his evidence 

then the potential improper interference with 

the committee that could ensue from its 

deliberating and drawing conclusions on a 

false basis is addressed and the potential 

harm is avoided. The protective or corrective 

rationale of parliamentary privilege means 

that, for the most part, matters of privilege 

will relate to current matters.  

Although I am satisfied that the matter 

raised by Senator Bob Brown addresses 

criterion (a) on the basis that the need for 

senators to be seen to be free of any 

improper external influence is of funda-

mental importance to the ability of the 

Senate to carry out its functions, I am 

mindful that the inquiry instigated by 

Senator Boswell is 12 months old and was 

completed in February this year. The com-

mittee, in effect, determined not to 

investigate the matter further after legal 

proceedings were instituted. Furthermore, as 

is evident from the material provided by 

Senator Bob Brown, Senator Boswell made a 

personal explanation to the Senate on 26 

November 2010 in which he clarified 

allegations about the relationship between 

political donations and the reference to the 

committee.  

In these circumstances, it is difficult to 

identify what, if any, other remedy could be 

provided by invoking the contempt 

jurisdiction and, in the circumstances, 

whether the threshold requirement for 

improper interference continues to be 

sufficiently apparent. The committee's 

conclusion and the explanation to the Senate 

by Senator Boswell both indicate that 

remedial action has occurred. I therefore 

determine that I should not give precedence 

to a motion to refer this matter to the 

Privileges Committee.  
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Senator Bob Brown also wrote to me 

about the presence of journalists in the 

gallery when I made my statement on a 

matter of privilege on Wednesday. I do not 

know if, or why, there were journalists in the 

gallery and, in any case, there is no question 

of privilege involved. At most, it is a 

question of courtesy to the Senate or lack 

thereof. In accordance with the usual 

practice, I table the correspondence from and 

with Senator Bob Brown.  

Senator BOB BROWN (Tasmaniað

Leader of the Australian Greens) (16:04):  

Mr President, I dissent from your ruling.  

The PRESIDENT:  If you are moving a 

dissent from my ruling, it needs to be in 

writing.  

Senator Abetz interjectingð 

Senator BOB BROWN:  You are not the 

President, Senator Abetz, and I will take no 

direction from you. Furthermoreð 

The PRESIDENT:   It needs to be given 

to an attendant to be brought up, Senator 

Brown. We will get an attendant there.  

Senator BOB BROWN:   I seek leave to 

give notice of a motion.  

Honourable senators interjectingð 

The PRESIDENT:  Order! Senator 

Brown, your mike is not working because of 

the interference. We need to see the motion 

of dissent. We need the attendant to bring 

that forward. That is the first thing. Standing 

order 198(2) says:  

Debate on that motion shall be adjourned to 

the next sitting day, unless the Senate decides on 

motion, without debate, that the question requires 

immediate determination. 

That is the process to be followed.  

Senator BOB BROWN:  I am mindful of 

the hour and will have the matter brought 

forward on the next day of sitting, Mr 

President. But I wish to comment on both 

your ruling and to give notice of a motion.  

The PRESIDENT:  Senator Brown, I 

have read the standing order. The standing 

order says quite clearly:  

Debate on that motion shall be adjourned to 

the next sitting day, unless the Senate decides on 

motion, without debate, that the question requires 

immediate determination. 

You can give notice of a motion if it is a 

reference to a committee.  

COMMITTEES  

Privileges Committee 

Reference 

Senator BOB BROWN (Tasmaniað

Leader of the Australian Greens) (16:06):  I 

give notice that, on the next day of sitting, I 

shall move: 

That the following matter be referred to the 

Standing Committee of Privileges for inquiry and 

report: 

Having regard to Senator Boswell's acceptance 

of a $30 000 donation from Metcash, and other 

such donations in previous years and his 

subsequent request, on 23 November 2010, for a 

parliamentary inquiry into the Australian Com-

petition and Consumer Commission's decision to 

block the expansion of Metcash: 

 (a) whether any person, by the offer or 

promise of an inducement or benefit, or by other 

improper means, attempted to influence a senator 

in the senator's conduct as a senator, and whether 

any contempt was committed in that regard; and 

 (b) whether Senator Boswell received any 

benefit for himself or another person on the 

understanding that he would be influenced in the 

discharge of his duties as a senator, or enter into 

any contract, understanding or arrangement 

having the effect, or which may have the effect, 

of controlling or limiting the senator's indepen-

dence or freedom of action as a senator, or 

pursuant to which the senator is in any way to act 

as the representative of any outside body in the 

discharge of the senator's duties. 

Mr President, that motionð 

The PRESIDENT:  No, there is no right 

to speak toð 




